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MAYOR’S REPORT  
 
Welcome to the Coorong District Council’s 2009/10 Annual report. 
 
The 2009/10 financial year has seen continual discussions regarding one of 
the region’s biggest issues – water.   

 
Whilst the district has had improved seasonal conditions, which has seen 
some improvements in the water levels in the Lower Lakes, there still 
continues to be works in progress for the planning of the revegetation of the 
exposed lake beds and continued assessment on the river bank slumping 
issues is a priority. 
 
Council has seen changes in the organisational structure with Michael Boyd 
being appointed in January 2010 as Council’s Chief Executive Officer, 
following the farewell of Tim Drew.   
 
There were also changes in the Elected Member structure of Council, with the 
sudden passing of Councillor Ted Freak in December 2009.  Council and the 
community were shocked and saddened at Ted’s passing, and formally 
recognised Ted for his friendly personality and dedication to Council and the 
community.   A supplementary election was held in April, with Neville Jaensch 
being elected.  
 
Council has been involved in some wonderful events within the community 
with the Mayoral Christmas Party at Meningie; five Australia Day events all 
attended by our Australia Day Ambassador Jan Stirling; and Councils 
Volunteers recognition and celebration event in Tintinara catered for by the 
local Tintinara Area School Hospitality Students all supported by the 
community.  In addition to the community events, council has also facilitated 
community forums.  These forums have been held following the conclusion of 
Council meetings and have given the community an opportunity to interact 
with the Council and raise issues for open discussion.  Council will continue to 
schedule these forums in the 2010/11 year.  
 
This Annual Report will provide readers with an overview of the 2009/2010 
year.  I commend this report to you. 
 
 
 

 
CR, MAYOR ROGER STROTHER 
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT  
 
 
 

Welcome to The Coorong District Councils 2009-10 Annual Report.  
 
Having commenced my employment with the Council in January 2010, I am 
pleased to acknowledge the obvious hard work undertaken by the Mayor, Cr. 
Roger Strother, Deputy Mayor Paul Simmons, the Councillors, and staff of the 
Coorong District Council prior to and following my commencement of duties. 
 
Specific details of their achievements are contained within the various 
departmental reports and I believe the community is, and has been, well 
served by the personal commitment by past and present councillors and staff. 
It would also be remiss of me not to acknowledge the personal and dedicated 
contribution of my predecessor, Tim Drew, during his tenure as Chief 
Executive Officer. 
 
Sadly, Councillor Ted Freak passed away in 2009. Ted was a dedicated 
elected member who was respected and admired by all staff, elected 
members and the community. Councillor Neville Jaensch, a former Mayor and 
Councillor, was successful in the supplementary election held to fulfil the 
remainder of Cr. Freak’s term of office. 
 
The Council saw the continued positive transformation of the organisation 
during 2009-10 whilst it also dealt with the ongoing effects of drought and 
water shortages on its communities. 
 
Council’s staff had another successful year implementing an array of projects 
and initiatives on behalf of the community. The Council implemented a new 
initiative of recognising excellent achievement of its staff through commencing 
an outdoor and indoor Employee of the Year Award. The inaugural winners of 
these awards were Rick Schultz (Outdoor Employee of the Year) and Chris 
Hartmann (Indoor Employee of the Year). The recognition of staff in this way 
complements our culture of continuous improvement and striving for 
excellence in all facets of our organisation. This was also recognised by 
Council being the state winner of the Local Government Association Mutual 
Liability Scheme Risk Management Award for its proactive and consultative 
approach in dealing with the serious issue of riverbank slumping and cracking. 
Furthermore, Council’s Human Services Co-ordinator, Desma Fraser was 
recognised at the Local Government Managers Association Awards Dinner in 
April 2010, being awarded joint 2010 Risk Manager of the Year. Additionally, 
Jim Quinn, Council’s Environmental Health Officer, was recognised with a 
Public and Environmental Health Award for excellence in the Council’s 
proactive and holistic approach in the area of environmental health. 
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We also celebrated the magnificent achievement of Ron Downs who achieved 
40 years service to the Council in 2010. Ron’s dedication, leadership, loyalty 
and commitment to Council is a fantastic example for us all - Ron is held in 
the highest regard by all staff, elected members and the community.  
 
Other achievements during the year which will bring significant benefits to our 
communities included: 

•  completion of the reconstruction of Poltalloch Road, 

•  completion of new Public Toilets at Lions Park Meningie, 

•  commencing construction of new Wastewater Treatment Plants at 
Tailem Bend, Meningie and Tintinara, 

•  commencing the Rural Property Addressing Project, and 

•  completing a Better Development Plan Conversion of Council’s 
Development Plan.  

 
Financially, Council experienced a satisfactory year, recording an operating 
surplus of $330,000.  
 
The Council adopted an Infrastructure and Asset Management Plan in 
November 2009. This is a significant achievement for Council however this is 
just the beginning of Council’s focus on Asset Management and Financial 
Sustainability. It is anticipated that Council will undergo further work in this 
area in 2010-11 in order to ensure improved asset management which is 
crucial to Councils long term financial sustainability. 
 
 

MICHAEL BOYD 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER  
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GENERAL INFORMATION  
 

Far enough away from bustling city life to keep its natural beauty and solitude, 
The Coorong District Council area is home to spectacular beaches, 
picturesque river-side locations and isolated bushland, making it an unspoilt 
and uniquely different place to live or holiday. 
 
Formed in May 1997 following the amalgamation of the District Councils of 
Peake, Coonalpyn and Meningie, The Coorong District Council is divided into 
three Wards - Lakes, Mallee and Parks. 
 
With a total area of 8836 km². The Coorong District Council is home to 
approximately 6000 people. More than 1880 km of roads exist in the district, 
of which 1563 km are unsealed. 
 
A diverse range of primary production industries operate within the District, 
including cropping, livestock (sheep, cattle, pigs), dairying, commercial fishing, 
aquaculture, horticulture and mining. Much of the district is serviced by major 
trunk freight routes, including the Dukes, Mallee and Princes Highways and 
the Adelaide to Melbourne rail line. 

Towns and  Localities:  

Albert Hill, Ashville, Bedford, Buccleuch, Bunbury, Campbell Park, 
Carcuma, Colebatch, Cooke Plains, Coomandook, Coombe, 
Coonalpyn, Coorong, Culburra, Elwomple, Field, Grasslands, Jabuk, 
Jack's Point, Ki-Ki, Malinong, Marmon Jabuk, McGrath Flat,Meningie, 
Meningie West, Meningie East, Messent, Moorlands, Narrung, Naturi, 
Netherton, Ngarkat, Parnka Point, Peake, Policemans Point, Poltalloch, 
Raukkan, Rupari, Salt Creek,Sherlock, Stony Well, Tailem Bend, 
Tintinara, Waltowa, WellingtonEast, Woods Well, Yalkuri, Yumali 
 

State Electorate: Hammond, MacKillop  

Federal Electorate: Barker 

Key features: 
 

• 8,836 square kilometres of mainly rural land. 

• Main towns of Tailem Bend, Meningie, Tintinara and Coonalpyn plus 
other smaller settlements (Tailem Bend very accessible from Adelaide). 

• Dukes Highway, Mallee Highway  and the Princess Highway are key 
transport corridors  

• Large area of coastline and the environmentally renowned Coorong. 

• Adjoins lower reaches of River Murray and encompasses Lake Albert 
and part of Lake Alexandrina. 

• Strong diversified primary industry base.  

• Council offices maintained at Tailem Bend, Meningie, and Tintinara.  
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Selected Council indicators  
 
Population     5,724 
Rateable Properties   3,761 
Roads Sealed   321 km  
Roads Unsealed   1,563 km 
Full time staff (FTE’s)   57.6  (as of 30 June 2010) 
Non Current Assets   $104m (as at 30 June 2010) 
Operating Expenses  $9.482m (as at 30 June 2010) 
Operating Revenue    $9.812m (as at 30 June 2010) 
 
Coorong Population Projections 
 
The population projections have been extracted from Statistical Division 
population projections used by State Government agencies. 
 
The projections are based on population estimates from the 2001 ABS 
Census of Population and Housing and other relevant data.  
 

Year Projected Population 

2001 5917 
2006 5721 
2011 5587 
2016 5425 
2121 5248 

 

Coorong District Map 
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ELECTED MEMBER AND COUNCIL DETAILS  

 
The Coorong District Council has 9 Elected Members, who each represent an 
average of 437 residents.  Council’s area is divided into three wards.  Lakes 
Ward, Mallee Ward and Parks Ward. 
 

Lakes Ward Representation 
 
Mayor, Councillor Roger Strother 
Telephone : (08) 8575 4254 
 

Councillor Sharon Bland  
Telephone : (08) 8575 1251 
 

Deputy Mayor, Councillor Paul Simmons 
Telephone : (08) 8573 3100 

 
Mallee Ward Representation 

 
Councillor Edward (Ted) Freak 

Passed away December 2009 

 
Councillor Jeff Klitscher 
Telephone : (08) 8571 1063 

Councillor Peter Wright  
Telephone : (08) 8598 3670 
 

Councillor Alison Jaensch 
Telephone (08) 8572 3670  

Councillor Neville Jaensch 
Telephone (08) 8572 3670  
As a result of a supplementary election in 
April  2010 was elected  

 
Parks Ward Representation  

 
Councillor Denise Richardson 
Telephone : (08) 8757 2353 

Councillor Richard Harkness 
Telephone : (08) 8575 8028 

Council Contact Details 

Postal Address   
PO Box 28, 
Meningie  SA  5264 
 
Or email : council@coorong.sa.gov.au  
 
Website : www.coorong.sa.gov.au  
 

Meningie Office 
 
Ph : (08) 8575 1008 
Fax : (08) 8575 1516 

Tailem Bend Office 
 
Ph : (08) 8572 3611 
Fax : (08) 8572 3822 

Tintinara Office 
  
Ph : (08) 8757 2100  
Fax :(08) 8757 2222  

 
Street Address:  
49 Princes Highway 

 
Street Address :  
95 Railway Terrace 

 
Street Address :  
37 Becker Terrace 
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STRATEGIC MANAGEMENT PLAN  
 
Council continued to demonstrate compliance with Section 122 of the Local 
Government Act 1999 through its Strategic Management Plan.  The Coorong 
District Council Strategic Management Plan 2008 – 2012 was adopted in May 
2008. 
 
 
 
Council’s Strategic Plan objectives are as follows :  
 
Objective 1.  Environmental Objective - Sustainability  
 

Responsibility manage the natural and built environment and to 
ensure its sustainability and diversity to the community. 
 
 

 
Objective 2  Economic Objective – Prosperity 
 

Facilitate economic prosperity and sustainable growth for the 
district. 
 
 

 
Objective 3  Social Objective – Wellbeing  
 

Enhance the quality of life for our community by encouraging 
health, wellbeing and safety. 
 
 

 
Objective 4   Governance Objective – Leadership  
 

Provide leadership for the community and ensuring efficient and 
effective management of the community’s resources. 
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Strategic Performance   
In accordance with Section 122 of the Local Government Act 1999 Council’s are required to have Strategic Management Plans, 
which are essentially like road maps.  Plans outline where Council’s are, where Council wants to go and, how Council will measure 
its progress. 
 
The following achievements of the Annual Business Plan 2009/2010 are set out as required by legislation; copies of this document 
are available from Council’s website or Council’s offices during business hours. 
 
Environmental Objective – Sustainability 
 

GOAL  STRATEGY ACTION STATUS MEASURE 

1.3 GOAL – To responsibly 
manage the natural environment 
to ensure its sustainability and 
to implement natural resource 
management principles. 

1.3.1 To establish and 
maintain policies and 
procedures to adequately 
protect and conserve our 
natural environment 

1.3.1.1 Complete the Coorong 
  Sustainability Plan 
 
 
 

Completed 
 

Adopted at February 2010 Council meeting. 

 
Economic Objective – Prosperity 
 

GOAL  STRATEGY ACTION STATUS MEASURE 

2.1 GOAL – To attract new and 
support existing economic, 
industrial and commercial  
development opportunities to 
ensure the on going prosperity 
of the Coorong District Council 
district. 

2.1.2 To develop and 
implement initiatives that 
will enhance the district’s 
investment, commerce 
and investment potential. 
 

2.1.2.2 Develop an Economic 
 Development Policy 
 (EDP) 
 
 
 

Completed 
 
 
 
 
 

Adopted at March 2010 Council meeting. 
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Social Objective – Well being  
 

GOAL  STRATEGY ACTION STATUS MEASURE 

3.1 GOAL – Enhancing the 
quality of life of the community 
by encouraging health, well 
being and safety. 

3.1.3 To ensure Council’s 
Environmental Health 
responsibilities are being 
met in a sustainable, 
efficient and appropriate 
manner. 

3.1.3.4 Complete a Coorong 
 Response Emergency 
 Management (CERM) 
 Plan 

Council is in a joint 
grant application to 
the Commonwealth 
National Disaster 

Resilience 
Program to secure 
funding for Council 
and Zone CERM 

Plans. 

The process to create the CERM Plan has 
commenced.  
Council Minute Action item 067/10 states: 
 
The Coorong District Council will:  
1. Form a Community Emergency Risk 
Management Committee, managed by 
Council’s Manager Asset Services;  
2. Apply to the Natural Disaster Resilience 
Grant Scheme for funding to plan and 
implement a Community Emergency Risk 
Management Plan for the Council;  
3. Participate in a joint funding application 
by the Murray and Mallee Zone Emergency 
Management Committee to the Natural 
Disaster Resilience Grant Scheme to plan 
and implement a Zone Community 
Emergency Risk Management Plan.  
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Governance Objective – Leadership  
 

GOAL  STRATEGY ACTION STATUS MEASURE 

4.1 GOAL – Establish a ‘best 
practice’ governance framework. 

4.1.1 Improve Council’s 
governance 
performance & develop 
relevant policies and 
codes. 

4.1.1.1  Nominate to participate 
 in the LGA Good 
 Governance 
 Assessment Program 

Completed 
 
 
 
 
 

Council participation will occur in 2013 as 
per the LGA timeframe. 
 
 
 

4.6 GOAL – To manage the 
business of Council through the 
responsible and efficient 
administration of finances to 
provide financial stability and 
the ongoing appropriate delivery 
of services for the community. 

4.6.1 Improve Council’s 
financial management 
practices 

4.6.1.5 Improve the 
management of debtors by 
implementing the bad debt 
module in Council’s business 
system. 
 

Completed Module has been implemented and regular 
batching of debtors in accordance with Debt 
Management Policy are being processed. 

4.8 GOAL – To develop and 
promote Council as an ‘employer 
of choice’, facilitating the 
attraction and retention of staff 
and promoting the principles of 
work life balance for employees.  

4.8.1 Develop and 
implement human 
resource systems and 
processes to provide 
contemporary 
management of people 
and performance. 

4.8.1.2 Develop an employee 
induction handbook for new 
employees. 

Completed. 
 
 
 
 

Induction handbook has been implemented. 
 

4.9 GOAL – To minimise 
Council’s exposure to risk and 
liability through creation and 
implementation of appropriate 
policies, procedures and 
actions. 

4.9.2 Identify, review 
and develop systems 
and processes to 
manage risk. 

4.9.2.2 Implement a risk 
management database. 
 
 
 

Completed 
 
 
 

Significant work has been done by Council 
with regard to risk management and 
implementing a new One System OHS policy 
regime. 
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STRATEGIC MANAGEMENT PLAN ACHIEVEMENTS  
 
In 2009/10 the following objectives were achieved :  
 

o Commenced the replacement of ageing wastewater treatment lagoons 
with new wastewater treatment plants at Meningie, Tailem Bend and 
Tintinara with technology to use recycled wastewater to drought proof 
public ovals, parks, gardens and golf courses. 

o Replaced Meningie Lions Park Public Toilets. 
o Complete sealing of the final section of Poltalloch Road towards the 

Narrung Ferry. 
o Sealing of sections of Westbrook and Placid Estate Roads. 
o Over 30 Regional and Local Community Infrastructure projects. 
o Establishment of dog off-leash park in Tintinara. 
o Meningie and Tintinara airfield upgrades. 
o Develop an Urban Design Strategy Plan for the Meningie main street. 
o Implementation of several Landcare Projects. 
o Development of Strategic Land Use Plans. 
o System and process improvements, including new telephone system, 

and commenced project to implement a new electronic data 
management system. 

o Significant community grant and sponsorship allocation.  
o Ongoing road re-sheeting program. 
 

 

STRATEGIC PLANNING OBJECTIVES PLANNED FOR 2010/11 
 
Council’s strategic targets for 2010/11 are indentified in The Coorong District 
Council Strategic Management Plan 2008 -2012.  The following Major Capital 
Works Projects include : 
 

o Information technology, including a new intranet and computer 
equipment replacement - $80k . 

o Office equipment including replacement of printers and new data 
projector - $34k. 

o Records management, implementing of a new electronic data 
management system- $27k. 

o Sealed Road Construction and Reconstruction - $1.115m. 
o Unsealed Road Resheeting – proposal to resheet 40.8 kilometers - 

$1.000m.  
o Plant and Machinery - $615k.  
o Sanitary and Garbage – including a proposed new cell at Tailem Bend 

Landfill - $599k. 
o Vehicles - $1.124m. 
o RLCIP community projects - $136k.  
o Minor Plant - $135k.  
o Footpaths - $134k.  
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Council Objectives for 2010/11 include :  
 

o Implementation of Council’s Asset and Infrastructure Management Plan 
and Long Term Financial Plan and enacting other recommendations as 
a result of the Financial Sustainability inquiry. 

o Improving Council’s Development Plan. 
o Community “Needs Analysis” with regard to Community Services and 

Community Development. 
o Conduct an audit of governance procedures and practices.  
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GOVERNANCE AND STATUTORY INFORMATION  
 

Elected Member and Elector Representation  
 
Representation quota/review  
 
The Coorong District Council has 9 Elected Members including a Mayor, who 
represent an average of 623 residents. 
 
The following chart compares The Coorong District Council’s representation 
quota with that of other Councils of a similar size and type.  The quota is 
derived by dividing the total number of electors for each Council by the number 
of Elected Members.   
 

COUNCIL ELECTORS TOTAL  
MEMBERS 

REPESENTATION 
QUOTA 

Clare and Gilbert 
Valleys 

6239 10 623 

Coorong 3940  9 437 

Grant 5618  10 561 

Mallala 5386 11 489 

Mid Murray 5941 12 495 

Naracoorte 
Lucindale 

5788 11 526 

Northern Areas 3360 9 373 

Renmark Paringa 6261 9 695 

Tatiara 4552 10 455 

Wakefield Regional 4616 12 419 

 
*Derived from information provide by the Electoral Commission of SA, current as at last close of 
roll (27/2/10). 

 
The process for Elector Representation Reviews  
 
Section 12 of the Local Government Act 1999 sets out the process that 
Councils need to follow when undertaking a review.  Electors must have the 
opportunity to make submissions to the review. 
 
The Local Government Act 1999 requires councils to carry out a review of its 
Elector representation at least once in every 8 years to ascertain governance 
arrangements that are adequate and provide fair representation for electors,   
 
The commencement of the review is triggered by the release of an Options 
Paper which outlines the representation structures available under the Local 
Government Act.  A public notice must be placed in a newspaper circulating 
generally throughout the sate with a copy of the notice published in a 
newspaper circulating within the Council area inviting written submissions.  At 
lease six weeks must be allowed for public submissions.  People who provide 
written submissions in response to the notice must be given the opportunity to 
be heard in respect to that submission, either personally or by representative 
before the Council or a Council Committee.  
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On completion of the review, the Council must prepare a report on the public 
consultation undertaken and any proposal that the Council considers should 
be carried into effect.  A second public notice must be made advising of the 
report, inviting written submissions and allowing at lease three weeks for public 
submissions.  People who provide written submissions in response to the 
report must be given the opportunity to be heard in respect to their submission, 
either personally or by representative before the Council or committee. 
 
A final report is compiled, including a summary of amendments resulting from 
any considerations from the consultation process and submitted to the 
Electoral Commission for certification.  The Electoral Commissioner must 
determine whether the requirements have been satisfied.  In the event that the 
Electoral Commissioner is of the opinion that the requirements have not been 
satisfied the matter is referred back to the Council.  If this occurs, Council must 
take appropriate action before sending the report back to the Electoral 
Commissioner.  
 
The prescribed process (commonly known as a Representation Review) 
enables Councils to examine whether a change in elector representation 
arrangements is appropriate, and must include a review of ward boundaries 
and the composition of Council. 
 
Periodic Review of Elector Representation  
 
In accordance with the provisions in Section 12 of the Local Government Act 
1999, the Coorong District Council is required to carry out a review to 
determine whether a change of arrangements in respect to elector 
representation, including ward boundaries and the composition of Council, will 
result in the electors of the area being more adequately and fairly represented.  
The Act requires that a Council must do a review at least once in every eight 
years.  
 
Council’s most recent Representation Review was certified by the State 
Electoral Commissioner on August 2005 and applied for the 2006 Local 
Government general election.  Council’s next Representation Review pursuant 
to Chapter 3 Part 1 Division 2 of the Local Government Act 1999 is due for 
completion in 2013 and is anticipated to commence in early 2012. 
 
Local Government Elections  
 
Elected Members are elected by the local community.  To become an Elected 
Member, interested and eligible members of the community need to nominate 
and run a campaign (when there are more nominations than positions). 
 
The Local Government (Elections) Act 1999 sets out the requirements for 
Local Government Elections, how they are to be conducted, who can 
nominate, who can vote and how the votes are to be counted. 
 
Local Government Elections will be conducted in November 2010.  
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The Local Government Association produces a booklet called, “So you want to 
be a Councillor”, and provides further information abut elections on its website 
www.lga.sa.gov.au   
 
Supplementary Election – Mallee Ward  
 
The Local Government (Elections) Act 1999 provides supplementary elections 
to be held to fill mid-term casual vacancies subject to certain conditions.  
 
Following the sudden death of Councillor Ted Freak, in December 2009,  the 
Electoral Commission of South Australia (ECSA) was engaged to manage the 
election process.  
 
With nominations opening on 25 February 2010, and closing on 11 March 
2010, Council received only one nomination. Following the conclusion Neville 
Ross Jaensch was declared elected ‘unopposed’. 
 
Neville Jaensch took the declaration of office on the 16th March 2010.  
 
 
Full Council  
 
Full Council, consisting of 9 elected members, one of whom is chosen by the 
members as the Presiding Member (Mayor),  is the decision making body on 
all policy and strategy matters.   
 
Ordinary meetings of the full Council were held during the 2009/10 period, 
with  one meeting per month.  Council in November 2008 resolved to change 
the Council meeting days to the 3rd Tuesday of the month, commencing at 
5.00 pm.  This was a change from the 2nd Tuesday of the month, commencing 
at 3 pm.   
 
Council also scheduled community forums several times in  2009/10 and held 
these following Council meetings in Tintinara in October 2009, Tailem Bend in 
December 2009,  and  Meningie in January 2010.   
 
Under the Local Government Act 1999, the Council sitting as an elected body 
is “to act as a representative, informed and responsible decision  maker in the 
interests of its community”.   
 
In order to fulfil this responsibility, Council receives reports from management 
and staff and on occasions seeks information from external consultants. 
 
Committees have been formed to streamline Council business.  These 
Committees meet regularly and make recommendations to Council. 
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Elected Member Personal Development 
 
Council has adopted a Training and Development for Council Members 
Policy.  
 
During 2009 – 2010 Council provided ongoing training and development to 
the group of 9 elected members, which was delivered regularly and generally 
in the form of departmental briefing sessions where members are provided 
with information on the services that Council delivers. 
 
In addition to this program there were a number of local government wide 
conferences, seminars and joint regional training sessions that were offered to 
elected members and some members took the opportunity to expand their 
knowledge on industry wide issues.  These included:  

 

• Local Government Association General Meeting and Showcase  

• Murray Darling Association AGM and conference 

• National General Assembly of Local Government 

• National Local Roads and Transport Congress 

• Audit Committee Training 

• Australian Local Government Women’s Association Conference  

• Rating Policy Review  

• Regional Local Government Training  
o Roles and responsibilities of Elected Members and Council staff 

o  Conflict of interest 

o  Confidentiality 

o  Code of conduct 
 
 
Allowances paid to Elected Members  
 
Elected Members received an annual allowance paid monthly in advance.  
These allowances as at 30 June 2010 were : 
 

• Mayor   $32,000 

• Deputy Mayor $10,000 

• Councillor  $  8,000 
 
The Mayor has been provided with a fully maintained motor vehicle for 
Council business use only, and mobile phone to assist carry out the duties 
and responsibilities as Mayor of the Coorong District Council.   
 
Council also reimburses Elected Members for expenses incurred in travelling 
within the Council area on council business at a rate determined by 
legislation.  Council also reimburses Elected Members for a range of 
additional expense, for example, approved travel outside the Council area, 
attendance at conferences and the provision of telephone/facsimile machines 
for Council business.  
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Allowances paid to Chairs of Standing  Committees  
 
Council resolved in November 2009 to provide the following allowances: 
 

o Chair of Standing Committees   $10,000 
 
Allowances paid to Audit Committee Independent Members 
 
Council resolved to provide the following allowance to the Independent Chair 
and member of the Audit Committee : 
 

o Independent Chair and member of the Audit Committee $1,500 
 
Committees of Council 
 
In accordance with the provisions of the Local Government Act 1999, Council 
has established various committees pursuant to Section 41 of the Act. 
Committees have been formed to streamline Council business.  These 
committees meet regularly and make recommendations to full Council.  
Committee meetings are open to the public.  The Committees are: 
 
Standing Committees of Council  
 
All Committees report directly to Council and their minutes are included within 
the Council agenda and minutes: 
 

• Audit Committee 

• Strategic Asset Management Committee 
 
Other Committees of Council  
 
A number of committees comprising Elected Members and community 
representatives have been established to investigate and manage particular 
issues.  All report directly to Council and their minutes are included within the 
Council agenda and minutes:  
 

• Coorong Bushfire Prevention Committee 

• Coorong Local Action Plan Committee  

• Lower Lakes and Coorong Infrastructure Committee 

• Tailem Bend Town Hall Committee 

• Chief Executive Officer’s Performance Review Committee 

• Long Term Office Accommodation Committee  

• Australia Day Committee  
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Community Committees of Council  
 
These committees mainly comprise community members and may have an 
Elected Member  Council delegated to the Committee.  These committees are 
primarily established to manage a range of Council properties.   
The Committees are listed below: 
 

• Coonalpyn Community Hall Committee 

• Coonalpyn Soldiers Memorial Swimming Pool and Caravan Park 
Committee 

• Meningie Cemetery Committee 

• Moorlands Hall Committee 

• Pangarinda Arboretum Committee 

• Tailem Bend Cemetery Committee 

• Tailem Rail Committee 

• Tintinara Airfield Committee 

• Tintinara Development Group 

• Tintinara Health & Recreation Centre Committee 

• Tintinara Homes Committee 

• Tintinara War Memorial Hall Committee  
 
 
The Coorong District Development Assessment Panel 
 

The Coorong District Development Assessment Panel is not a committee of 
Council, but is formed by Council under the Development Act 1993 Section 
56A to make decisions in relation to development applications not otherwise 
delegated to Council Officers. 
 
 

Information Statement 
 

An Information Statement is available as a separate document in accordance 
with legislative requirements, however the contents are included in this Annual 
Report. 

 

Access to Council Documents 
 

The following documents, policies and registers are available for public 
inspection at Council offices free of charge. Some items are available on 
Council’s website www.coorong.sa.gov.au  Members of the public may 
purchase copies of documents for a fee in accordance with Council’s fees and 
charges register. 
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Council Registers, Codes, Policies and Administrative Documents 
 
The following documents are required to be kept under the Local Government 
Act 1999 or the Local Government (Elections) Act. 
 
List of Registers required to be kept 
 
Register of Allowance and Benefits 
Register of By-laws and certified copies 
The Coorong District Council has the following By-laws: 

• No 1 Permits and Penalties 

• No 2 Roads 

• No 3 Government Land 

• No 4 Dogs 

• No 5 Moveable Signs 

• Register of Community Land 
Register of Delegations 
Register of Interests (Member of Council) 
Register of Interest (Senior Staff) 
Register of Public Roads 
Register of Remuneration, Salaries and Benefits 
 
List of Codes required to be kept 
 
Code of Conduct (Member of Council) 
Code of Conduct (Staff) 
Code of Practice – Access to Council Meetings and Documents 
Code of Practice for Council and Committee Meeting Procedures 
 
Other Documents available  
 

• Annual Business Plan and Budget  

• Annual Financial Statements  

• Annual Report 

• Assessment Record  

• Building Application Register  

• Campaign donation returns for candidates 

• Council Meeting Agenda and Minutes 

• Committee Meeting Agenda and Minutes  

• Disability Action Plan  

• Population and Economic Profile 

• Roadside Vegetation Management Plan 

• Committees of Council and representation on 

• Community Land Register 

• Complaints and Compliments Register 

• Coorong Local Action Plan  

• Council Bylaws 

• Development Act 1993 – Statement of Representation  
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• Environmental Health Management Plan 2008 – 2012 
 
 
 

• HACC Action Plan 2008 – 212 

• Human Resource Manual 

• Internal Control Manual  

• Management Plans for Community Land 

• Development Application Register  

• Register of Fees and Charges levied by Council 

• Coorong Sustainability Plan 

• Strategic Management Plan 2008 – 2012  
 

• Policy Documents 
 

• Asset Management Policy  

• Authorisations and permits for Local Government Land for all Road 
reserves and unmade Roads 

• Building Inspection Policy 

• Civic Function Expenditure Guidelines 

• Community Events Grants and Donation Policy 

• Community Group Loan Policy  

• Competitive Tendering, Contracting, Purchasing Sale of Land and 
Other Assets Policy  

• Customer Compliment and Complaint Policy 

• Customer Service Standards 

• Customer Service Charter 

• Debt Recovery Policy 

• Elected Members Allowances and Support Policy 

• Election Caretaker Policy (Section 91A of the Local Government 
Elections Act 1999)  

• Elected Members Training and Development Policy  

• Election signs in public places 

• Home  Modification and Maintenance Service Policy 

• Information Security Policy  

• Individual Sport and Cultural Grants Policy 

• Internal Control Policy 

• Lease Licence and Authorisation Provisions for Local Government 

• Motor Vehicle Policy  

• Order Making Policy 

• Revegetation of Council Road Reserves 

• Risk Management Policy 

• Road Opening and Restoration Policy 

• Rural Road Classification Policy  

• Road Naming Policy 

• Safe Environment Policy 

• Street Trees Policy  
 



    

Governance Department  
21 

The Coorong District Council  
2009/2010 Annual Report 

 

• Unmade Road and road reserves adjacent made Roads 

• Volunteer Management Policy 
 

Other information requests 
 
Requests for other information not included in the above documents are 
considered in accordance with the Freedom of Information Act 1991. 

Under this legislation, an application fee and a search fee must be forwarded 
with the completed request form as provided for under the Act, unless the 
applicant is granted an exemption in accordance with the Act. 

Should the applicant require copies of any document inspected pursuant to a 
Freedom of Information request, charges as set will apply. 

Freedom of Information request forms should be addressed to: 
 

Chief Executive Officer 
The Coorong District Council 
PO Box 28 
MENINGIE  SA  5264 
 

Applications will be responded to as soon as possible within the statutory 30 
days of Council receiving the properly completed Freedom of Information 
form, together with the application and search fees. 

No requests for other information were received by Council in accordance with 
the Freedom of Information Act 1991 in the 12 months ended 30 June 2010. 
 
Tendering and Supply 
 
In July 2000, Council adopted a competitive tendering, contracting and sale of 
land and other assets policy. Through this policy, the Council is committed to 
ensuring a fair, transparent and accountable process for the provision of 
services, purchasing of goods and services and in the disposal of land and 
other assets. 

Council aims to ensure that its methods of service provision, including the 
carrying out of works, purchasing goods and the sale of land and other assets 
are cost effective and meet the needs of the community and legislative 
requirements and represent best value for money, while taking into account 
the need to support the local economy. 

Generally, Council will purchase goods through adoption of the following 
approaches: 

• Direct purchase from a particular supplier. 

• Obtaining quotations to select a supplier. 

• Requesting tenders from a selected range of suppliers. 

• Calling open tenders. 

• Contract for service where rate is pre-determined by Council. 
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In identifying the circumstances in which to apply these options, Council will 
consider a number of issues, for example: 

• The number of known suppliers of the goods or services. 

• The existence of local suppliers of the goods or services and the impact 
on the local economy if the goods or services were purchased from 
outside the Council area.  

• The total estimated value of the purchase. 

• Organisational capacity and attitude to elected Council/staff roles and 
responsibilities in purchasing. 

• Delegation limits taking into consideration accountability, responsibility, 
operational efficiency and urgency of supply. 

• Previous experience with suppliers. 

• Compliance with statutory obligations. 
 
The following list contains some of the functions for which Council utilises 
contractors to carry out services: 
 

• Cartage of road building material 

• Waste management 

• Food premises inspections 

• Road line marking 

• Engineering services 

• Information services 
 
Competition Principles 
 
Council does not conduct any significant business activity.  
 
All By-laws have been reviewed and found not to have an effect on 
competition. 
 
No complaints have been received by Council about the application of 
competitive neutrality. 
 
Amendment of Council Records 
 
A member of the public may gain access to Council documents to make 
amendments concerning their personal affairs by making a request under the 
Freedom of Information Act.  A member of the public may then request a 
correction to any information about themselves that is incomplete, incorrect, 
misleading or out of date. 

To gain access to these Council records, a member of the public must 
complete a Freedom of Information request form as indicated above, outlining 
the records that he/she wishes to inspect. 
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Senior Executive Officers 
 
The Chief Executive Officer and three Managers are not paid overtime but 
receive, as a part of their total salary package, the benefit of the private use of 
a fully maintained motor vehicle subject to fuel costs being generally paid by 
the officer when on leave.  
 
Confidentiality  
 
Council and Council Committees may have discussions in camera (excluding 
the public).   The provisions of the Local Government Act 1999, Section 90 
sets out the circumstances when this may occur and the following is a 
summary of the number of occasions that the provisions listing in Section 90 
(excluding the public during debate) or section 91 (documents to be kept 
confidential for a period of time) were utilised during the 2009/10 financial 
year. 

 
2009/10 Confidentiality Schedule  
 
Council may have discussions in camera (excluding the public).  The 
provisions of the Local Government Act 1999, Section 90 sets out the 
circumstances when this may occur and the following is a summary of the 
number of occasions that the provisions listed in section 90 (excluding any 
public debate) or Section 91 (documents to be kept confidential for a period of 
time) were utlised during the 2009/10 financial year.  
 
32 times in confidence  
 
Of the 32 times – 32 times a motion or motions were made. 
 
Of the 32 times there was a motion or motions – 24 times the information has 
subsequently been made publicly available, 8 times the information has  not 
been made publicly available. 
 
 
Personal affairs of any person   6  times (a) 
Commercial issues             16 times  (b) 
Commercial issues   2 times  (d) 
Litigation/personal/professional    2 times  (i) 
Tender/supply of goods    6 times  (k)  
TOTAL   32  times 
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Governance Programs and Events 
 
Whilst the Governance area of Council is ultimately responsible for Statutory 
and Legislative areas and policy and decision making, during 2009/10 the 
Governance Department have been involved in staging some very successful 
events and programs. 
 
Australia Day 
 
Council and community Australia Day Award ceremonies were held 
throughout the district on 26 January 2010.  Council was involved in 
supporting five Australia Day events, these were held in Tintinara, Meningie, 
Tailem Bend, Coonalpyn and Coomandook.   Council was pleased to be 
involved in the Australia Day Ambassador Program, and  Jan Stirling  AM, 
elite basketball coach and player attended and presented at each event.. 
 
Mayor’s “Christmas Party in the Park” 

Mayor Roger Strother on behalf of Council hosted the second Mayor’s 
“Christmas in the Park” in Meningie Lions Park in December 2009.  
Community groups were involved in the facilitation of a complimentary 
barbeque, and the children received a special treat from Father Christmas.  
John Lawrie delivered a Christmas message and entertainment was provided 
by Meningie District Band.  Council were supported by the following 
organisations in the facilitation of the event;  Meningie Lions Club, Meningie 
Progress Association ,SA Water, Kevin Busbridge, Cadbury, Local Suppliers 
Meningie Bakery, M and J Meats, Caltex Meningie, and Hilton's IGA Everyday 
Meningie . 

Volunteers Recognition Event 
 
Mayor Roger Strother on behalf of Council hosted the Coorong District 
Council “Volunteers Recognition and Celebration” event, on Monday event, 
10th May 2010 in the Tintinara Town Hall. 
 
This event was to celebrate and recognise our communities’ volunteers during 
National Volunteer Week 2010 – May 11th to May 15th.    
 
Approximately 250 volunteers attended, and were provided with a “Moroccan” 
influenced meal, prepared, cooked and served by Hospitality Students of the 
Tintinara Area School.  Council provided two “volunteer express” coaches, 
and volunteers from Meningie and Tailem Bend on route to Tintintara travelled 
in style.   Council were overwhelmed by the support of volunteers in attending 
this function.  
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Entertainment was provided by Ryan Cornish, local Tintinara identity.  
Volunteers from various community groups presented on their experiences as 
volunteers.  The Tintinara Drama Group paid tribute to long time serving 
volunteer Barb Keller with a “skit”.  
 
Council paid tribute to Cr Ted Freak, who passed suddenly in December 
2009, by way of presentation to Mrs Beryl Freak and family on the night.  
 
The events as noted give a snapshot of the involvement of Council within the 
community. 
 
Coonalpyn Show 
 
Council continued to have a presence in the community outside of the 
“normal” business proceedings.   Council Staff and Elected members attended 
the Coonalpyn Show in October 2009, and showcased Councils business.  
Council has received very favourable response in regard to attendance and 
the provision of information on Council’s services and business provision. 
 
Community Infrastructure Program (CIP) 
 
Council hosted the launch of the Community Infrastructure Program (CIP) on 
4 November 2009 at the Coomandook Area School. 
 
The purpose of the event was to conduct an official launch of the projects 
funded under the Regional and Local Community Infrastructure Program.     
 
In  2008 the Federal Government announced that under the Regional and 
Local Community Infrastructure Program (RLCIP), a one-off funding of $250 
million would be provided in 2008/2009 to local Councils to stimulate 
additional growth and economic activity in Australia as part of the Federal 
Government’s contribution to address the global economic crisis. 
 
These funds were available for additional ready-to-proceed community 
infrastructure projects and for additional stages of projects that were currently 
underway. 
 
In consulting with its community Council received a total of 72 applications, 58 
of those being external community applications.  The total costing associated 
with the 72 applications amounted to $2,701,134.41.  (Two million seven 
hundred thousand dollars, bearing in mind Council had been allocated 
$383,000 in funds), a shortfall of some $2.4 million dollars. 
 
The launch was attended by community groups and organisations to celebrate 
the completion of projects and view the visual presentation of all projects.   
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CORPORATE SERVICES  

Council continued its commitment to improving the quality of Council’s services and 
the Corporate Service portfolio has a central and integral role to play, with key focal 
areas being financial management, occupational health & safety, risk management, 
human resource management, records management, information technology and 
customer service.  Whilst not officially recognised as a key departmental function, 
community support by way of the provision of funding opportunities for community 
groups is also a key result area for this busy department. 
 
Council adopted several new policies to further underpin its commitment to providing 
leadership in a transparent manner; Information Security, Debt Recovery, Motor 
Vehicle, Employee Recognition and Safe Environment were key policies developed, 
adopted and implemented in the Corporate Services department in 2009/10. 
 
The past year has been one of excitement, challenge and highly celebrated 
achievements, with focus being on the implementation of a new Rate Policy, and in 
the closing months of the year, the introduction of a Customer Service Centre at the 
former Willow Street Precinct in Tailem Bend.  The year has seen many other 
achievements, particularly in the risk management area and these are highlighted in 
this Annual Report.  The positive yet change driven results for 2009/10 could not 
have been achieved without a team of dedicated and co-operative staff and I 
commend and thank them for a highly successful year. 
 

Finance 

Financial Summary 
 
In 2009/10 the Coorong District Council continued its commitment to the provision of 
strong financial leadership and stewardship of its finances. Over the past financial 
year further works have continued in regards to better reporting and processes 
which assisted Council in meeting its financial legislative requirements in a timely 
basis. 
 
For the 2009/10 financial year Council recorded an operating surplus of $330,000, 
(in 2008/09 the Surplus was $1,150,000). The decrease in the Surplus from 2008/09 
to 2009/10 can be largely attributed to a decrease in the operating grants received 
by Council of $349,000; and an increase of $416,000 in Councils materials, 
consultants and other expenses.  
 
Figures 1.1 & 1.2 provide further details and comparisons of the changes in and 
proportions of the operating revenues and operating expenses for the past two 
financial years. As per 2008/09 Council once again received an advance payment of 
Grants Commission funding of $660,000 (in 2008/09 the advance payment was 
$645,524). Other significant movements in revenue and expenses include: 
 

• Increase in rates revenue of $171,000 as per the annual business plan 
2009/10. 



 
 

Corporate Services  
2 

The Coorong District Council  
2009/10 Annual Report   
  

• Decrease in investment income of $67,000 due to a decrease in the holdings 
of cash on hand in investment accounts. 

• Increase in other income of $133,000. Council received a number of one off 
payments such as developer contributions for installation of infrastructure on 
sub divisions and an award payment for OHS practices. 

• Increase in reimbursements of $86,000 for various purposes, such as 
insurance reimbursement and private works. 

• Increase in employee costs of $92,000 due largely to the enterprise 
bargaining agreement annual increase. 

• Decrease in depreciation of $152,000. An analysis of Councils buildings and 
structure assets was undertaken and the useful lives of the assets were 
adjusted accordingly and some assets that Council were not responsible for 
were delisted through this process.  
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Figure 1.1 
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Figure 1.2 
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The departmental allocation of the operating expenses and revenues are expressed 
in Figure 1.3. As per previous years the majority of revenue raised (rates revenue 
etc) is allocated to the corporate services area and the major expender of funds is 
the assets services department who utilise the funds to maintain asset infrastructure, 
parks and gardens and depot operations. 
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Figure 1.3 
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Over the past five years Local Government has had a strong focus on Financial 
Sustainability and this will continue to be a strong focus going forward. The Coorong 
District Council is committed to strong financial management that underpins good 
decision making. The Council this year endorsed a change to its Treasury 
Management practices with a stronger focus now on utilising borrowed funds in the 
way of Cash Advanced Debentures on 24 hour call at variable rates. Any surplus 
cash that Council may hold throughout the year is utilised promptly to minimise loan 
drawdown amounts.  
 
As a consequence of the application of the new treasury management process 
Council has decreased its cash holdings significantly from $1,685,000 (2008/09) to 
$48,000 (2009/10). On the positive side Council has saved significantly on interest 
payments in the first year and it has not required the draw down of a cash advanced 
debenture for $1.4 million dollars. Figure 1.4 details the decline in cash held by 
Council and outlines the current amount of borrowings. Figure 1.5 provides details of 
the split between fixed interest and variable interest borrowings. Council will 
continue to utilise fixed interest borrowings in the future, as a good balance is 
required between fixed and variable interest loans to minimise any potential Interest 
Rate Risks. 
 
 



 
 

Corporate Services  
5 

The Coorong District Council  
2009/10 Annual Report   
  

 
Figure 1.4     Figure 1.5 
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Council undertook a revaluation of the various asset categories including Buildings, 
Structures,  Land and Stormwater; this has resulted in a large jump in asset 
valuations from 2008/09 to 2009/10, the carrying values of the assets have 
increased from $63 Million to $84 Million. Further asset revaluations are expected in 
2010/11. 
 
Council has a number of ratios that are utilised to measure performance. Table 1 
outlines the ratios and compares them to the performance of the previous two years. 
Those target measures marked green have been achieved and are within the target 
measures set by Council. Those that are marked red are target measures that are 
outside target goals. In 2009/10 five out of the seven key target measures have 
been achieved, the remaining two targets that were not achieved are only just 
outside the acceptable target ranges. 
 
Table 1 
 2009/10 2008/09 2007/08 
Operating 
Surplus 

$330,000 $1,150,000 $997,000 

Operating 
Surplus Ratio 

7% 26% 23% 

Net Financial 
Liabilities 

$1,513,000 -$601,000 -$1,165,000 

Net Financial 
Liabilities Ratio 

15.5% -0.5% -12% 

Interest Cover 
Ratio 

.05% -0.73% -1.26% 

Asset 
Sustainability 
Ratio 

68.25% 125.46% 127.13% 

Asset 
Consumption 
Ratio 

71% 81% 84% 
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Rates and Valuations 
 
Council adopted a capital valuation of properties in its area totalling $1,328,389,700 
which was a 0.60% decrease amounting to $7,997,480 from the previous year.  This 
was a direct contrast from the 10.21% increase in 2008/09 and was brought about 
by the deleterious effects of water and drought in the river, lakes and Coorong.  The 
most significant decrease was experienced on the Narrung Peninsula, where 
valuations dropped by 11%. 
 
Council reviewed its Rating Policy during 2008/09. As a result of the review, Council 
introduced differential rating based on land use as determined by the Valuer General 
and defined in the Local Government Act 1999 which replaced the previous practice 
of differential rating based on the broadly defined urban or rural location of the land. 
The nine land use codes are defined as: 
 

1. Residential    6. Industrial – Other 
2. Commercial – Shop   7. Primary Production 
3. Commercial – Office   8. Vacant Land 
4. Commercial – Other   9. Other 
5. Industrial – Light 

 
For ease of practical application, Council grouped the land use codes as follows: 

o Residential (1) and Other (9) 
o Commercial/Industrial (2 to 6) 
o Primary Production (7) 
o Vacant Land (8) 

 
Council set the relativity of the differential rates between the various land use groups 
as follows: 

o Residential and other land at 1.00 (being the base rate). 
o Commercial/Industrial land at 1.00 (being the same as the residential 

rate). 
o Primary production land at 0.85 (being a discounted rate). 
o Vacant land at 1.15 (being an amount higher than the base rate). 

 
The fixed charge remained at $295 per rateable property. 
 
The rate in the dollar for the differential rating categories outlined above was; 

o Residential and other land – 0.002900 
o Commercial/Industrial land – 0.002900 
o Primary production land – 0.002465 
o Vacant land – 0.003335. 

 
The percentage of revenue raised from each land use was; 

o Residential and other land – 34.2% 
o Commercial/Industrial land – 3.8% 
o Primary production land – 56.4% 
o Vacant land – 5.5% 
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Occupational Health, Safety & Welfare 

The Coorong District Council is a member of the Local Government Association 
(LGA), a body which was granted a self insurance licence by the State Government 
in 1986. The OHS&W Committee monitors progress on corrective actions to ensure 
they are effective and to demonstrate evaluation of these actions on an ongoing 
basis. Council’s Leadership Team also monitors progress on corrective actions to 
ensure they are completed and evaluated for effectiveness.  The 2009/10 year 
provided many challenges to the OHS & W Committee, particularly the continued 
commitment to the implementation of “One System” OHS & W Policies and 
Procedures.  One System will effectively replace all Councils current OHS policies 
and procedures with more specific documents and processes to ensure compliance 
with WorkCover SA Code of Conduct for Self Insured Employers. 
 
A brief overview of the Code of Conduct for Self Insurers and how the Standard will 
be met is outlined below; 

Code of Conduct for Self Insurers 
Standard Description One System Policy 
Standard 1 – Policy A peak policy that sets 

the tone for the 
organisation and meets 
requirements 

OSP-1 OHS & Injury Management Policy 

Standard 2 – Planning A planning procedure 
that includes program 
development, reviews 
activities, document 
control, document 
development, 
communication & 
consultation 

OSP-2 Administration of the OHS Management 
System Policy 
OPS-3 Communication & Consultation Policy 

Standard 3 – 
Implementation 

Hazard management, 
Confined space, 
Remote work, LOTO, 
Hazardous substances 
and Dangerous Goods, 
Electrical safety, 
Prevention of falls, , 
Emergency 
management, Control 
of contractors, WZTM, 
Plant procedure, 
Inclement weather, Hot 
work, First aid, 
Induction and Training, 
Manual handling and 
Excavation and 
trenching 

 

 
OPS-4 Emergency Management Policy 
 
OPS-5 Hazard Management System Policy 
 
OPS-6 Hazardous Work Policy 
 
OHS-26 Contractor Management Policy 
 

Standard 4 – 
Monitoring 

Workplace inspection, 
CAPA, Acc/Incident 
Reporting & 
Investigation 

OPS-5 Hazard Management Policy 
OPS-2 Administration of the OHS Management 
System Policy 

Standard 5 – System 
Review  

Auditing, planning 
including reviews 

OPS-2 Administration of the OHS Management 
System. 
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Lost Time Injuries (LTI) 

The LGA provides Council with monthly injury statistics and six-monthly performance 
reports.  As shown below, Council achieved a reasonable result with 3 claims during 
2009/10, a decrease from 4 claims the previous year.  However lost time injury days 
(ie the duration of the injury and subsequent recovery) has increased quite 
dramatically which indicates that while the number of incidents has decreased, the 
severity of the injuries occurring has become much greater.  This is being addressed 
by ongoing commitment to preventative training and educational initiatives. 
 

Year No. of 
Claims 

No. 
of 

LTIs 

LTI 
Days 

Frequency 
Rate 

Duration 
Rate 

Incident 
Rate 

5 Day 
No. 

1 Year 
No. 

2004/05 3 1 1 8.5 1.0 1.7 0 0 
2005/06 2 1 2 7.7 2.0 1.5 0 0 
2006/07 7 2 10 15.6 5.0 3.1 1 0 
2007/08 1 0 0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0 0 
2008/09 4 1 4 7.9 4.0 1.6 0 0 
2009/10 3 2 23 24.4 11.5 4.9 1 0 

 

Note: all data is derived from the June 2010 CATS (Claims Analysis Tracking System) 
statistics – each year is subject to development due to ongoing long-term claims. 

An analysis of significant injuries for 2009/10 compared to 2008/09 shows that there 
has been a muscular stress while lifting and carrying remains the cause of the 
majority of claims, however there is also a slight increase in claims resulting in falls 
from a height.  It should be noted that persons in excess of 45 years of age have 
made all claims.  This trend appears to support the industry standard that as the 
‘outside’ workforce ages, injuries of a physical nature will have a greater impact on 
Councils through lost time and associated costs. 

 
Nature of Injury No in 

08/09 
No in 
09/10 

Sprains, strains of joints and adjacent 
muscles 

2 2 

Poisoning, Toxic effects of substances 1  

Disorders of Muscle, tendons & soft 
tissue 

1  

Fall from height 0 1 
Total 4 3 

 

 

OHS training has once again been a strong focus during the year and courses 
conducted or attended included:- Health & Safety Representative Training, OHS & 
Risk Management, Workers Compensation Claims Management, OHS Contractor 
Management, OHS Construction Induction (White Card), Chemical Handling, Injury 
Management for Supervisors, Accident & Incident Investigation, and Hazard & Risk 
Management.   

Council again proved it’s commitment to the health and wellbeing of employees with 
the provision of additional health services, including skin cancer screening, hearing 
tests and immunisations to staff. 
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In 2010, the Local Government Association Workers Compensation Scheme 
launched Fitness2live, a free program for Council employees and their families, 
providing information about health issues including online diet and fitness programs.  
A number of Council employees have taken advantage of the initiative and are given 
regular updated information on a fortnightly basis. 
 
Volunteer Management 
During 2009/10, a concerted effort has been made to identify volunteers of Council, 
and to commence OHS & W and Risk Management Inductions of volunteers to meet 
legislative requirements.  A new, more comprehensive induction kit and integrated 
volunteer register were formulated, with induction sessions being conducted with the 
Coonalpyn Swimming Pool Committee, Pangarinda Arboretum and other individual 
volunteers.   
 
Contractor Management 
The issue of contractor management continued to challenge Council in 2009/10.  
Advances have been made by the integration of an Approved Contractors Register, 
and formulation of a comprehensive OHS & W & Risk Management Induction.  
Three induction sessions were held with local contractors, however the tyranny of 
distance continues to be an issue, with many of Councils major works contractors 
located in Adelaide and beyond.  A draft ‘online’ induction was trialled, with positive 
results.  It is envisaged that the online induction will be available to contractors by 
the end of 2010.  This will encourage contractors to participate in an induction 
without the need to disrupt daily functions to travel to a ‘face to face’ session.  It is 
expected that this will result in a higher rate of contractor OHS & W & Risk 
Management compliance. 
 

Risk Management 

Council’s risk review is conducted annually in May by the Regional Risk Coordinator 
for the Local Government Association’s Mutual Liability Scheme. 

The risk management review covers most areas of Council’s operations and 
specifically targets those areas that have high levels of civil liability exposures or 
areas that require a formal risk management approach to prevent potential civil 
liability claims.  Focus is given to compliance with Local Government Act 1999 and 
the Development Act 1993, the key legislation administered by local government. 
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Risk Review Summary 
 

Section 
Council 

Percentage 
Regional 
Average 

Local 
Government 

Average 

1. Risk & emergency management / professional 
indemnity 

78.1% 68.7% 73.5% 

2. Committee & non employment management 81.0% 77.2% 81.9% 

3. Contract management 95.5% 90.9% 92.0% 

4. Legislative requirements – land 100.0% 91.6% 93.2% 

5. Asset management programmes & systems – land 89.3% 83.3% 86.0% 

6. Land use (lease/licence/permit activities) 93.8% 93.1% 94.2% 

7. Legislative requirements – roads 92.9% 91.3% 92.2% 

8. Road management programmes & systems 77.8% 86.0% 88.4% 
Total 87.4% 83.5% 86.2% 

 

These results show that Council’s risk management practices are above the average 
in comparison with regional percentages. Last year’s risk review result was 88.5% 
compared to this year’s result of 87.4%. While these results are an improvement, it 
should be noted that the review process is dynamic, and questions/scoring is 
reviewed and updated each year.  Accordingly, Councils may not be able to 
accurately compare their performance in the Review on a year by year basis.  

Major advances have been made in Risk Management, particularly in the area of 
volunteer and contractor management.  This is despite the stronger focus on OHS & 
W this year. 

Council was the state winner of the Local Government Association Mutual Liability 
Scheme Risk Management Award in recognition of the proactive and consultative 
approach it took in dealing with the serious issue of riverbank slumping and 
cracking.  The approach taken by staff involved in the project meant that Council and 
the community were well-informed of all riverbank slumping and cracking issues and 
were able to take appropriate measures to reduce the risk to Council and most 
importantly, members of the public. 

This was a significant achievement for all staff involved and high profile recognition 
for Council as a leader in the risk management field.  The prize awarded was 
$20,000.  As a result of the award, Desma Fraser and Council’s former Manager, 
Asset Services Stephen Yam were asked to present to the Local Government 
Association Showcase and General Meeting at the Adelaide Convention Centre on 
23rd of April 2010.  Under the banner of “Emergency Management”, the presentation 
outlined risk management processes undertaken to address recent riverbank 
slumping and collapses, and what other councils could learn from Coorong’s 
experiences. 
 
The issue of riverbank slumping and collapse continues to be closely monitored by 
Infrastructure & Assets staff, with monthly inspections being carried out, and any 
deterioration swiftly reported and addressed. 

To cap off a successful year, Council’s Human Services Co-ordinator, Desma Fraser 
was recognised at the Local Government Managers Association Awards Dinner in 
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April 2010, being awarded joint 2010 Risk Manager of the Year. The annual awards 
are the pinnacle of local government success and are highly sought after and 
competitive.  Desma is the first Council nominee to be recognised by the LGMA. 

Human Resource Management 

Recruiting and retaining potential staff is one of the important processes to ensure 
that the organisation has right number of staff, right kind of staff, at the right time and 
place with the right skills doing what is economically important for the organisation. 
 

Council’s ability to provide services to the community and to deliver on Strategic 
Management Plan Objectives is compromised when it is unable to fill key positions 
or when staff members in similar positions leave Council’s employment to take up 
roles offering a higher level of remuneration.  
 
Research from AHRI (Australian Human Resource Institute) indicates that the 
natural attrition rate is 18.5%, which is the gradual reduction in the number of 
employees by natural means, for example, by retirement, resignation or death. 
 
Council’s annual turnover rate for the last five financial years (as below) averages at 
14.732%, which is below the national average. 

CDC Staff Turnover Rate Analysis
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However, while Council’s turnover average rate is below the average, the cost to 
Council to continually recruit, induct, and train a new employee to the standard of the 
departing employee is considerable.  The Coorong District Council’s proximity to 
Adelaide and other larger regional areas, coupled with the salaries on offer from 
both the private and public sector is placing increasing pressure on Council’s 
recruitment practices.  Perversely it is also difficult to recruit quality staff to more 
remote areas, where services and opportunities can be viewed as limited.  To 
minimise the financial impact to Council and psychological impact to the department, 
it is necessary to employ strategies that will encourage employees to remain with 
Council and develop their career with the organisation. 
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Council was challenged during 2009/2010 by the resignation of key Council 
employees however, Council continued to recruit appropriate staff to complement 
and enhance its current workforce.  This is made possible by offering the following:-  
 

• More competitive remuneration  

• Family friendly working arrangements 

• Effective staff induction program 

• Access of enterprise agreement study clauses for the purposes of 
professional development. 

• Provision of growth opportunities by the promotion of suitable internal staff 
both on a permanent and acting capacity. 

• Reward employees who are high performers and value creators  

• Effective performance management 

Employee Recognition – Service and Achievements Policy 
Council has in its Strategic Management Plan Goal 4.8 “To develop and promote 
Council as an ‘employer of choice’, facilitating the attraction and retention of staff 
and promoting the principles of work life balance for employees”.  A specific action of 
that plan is to develop an attracting and retaining staff policy and program.  The 
Employee Recognition – Service and Achievements policy was written in association 
with this program and to formalise an employee service and achievement process 
which is clearly defined.  Council currently gives a service certificate and two etched 
glasses for every employee leaving Council’s service; this could be for any 
employee and for any period of service. 

 
The policy gives clear direction on a service scale as to the appropriate course of 
action to take when an employee resigns, retires or reaches a specific service 
milestone.  Further, it encourages recognition by Manager, CEO or Council for 
individual, team or other significant employee achievements.  The policy was 
particularly effective during 2009/10, when a Council employee reached the 
milestone of 40 years of service to Council.  The policy formed the mechanism for a 
very successful and appropriate celebration to recognise this unprecedented loyal 
service to Council. 
 
Training & Work Experience 

Council continued to support both work experience and Work for the Dole 
placements. 
 
During 2009/10, a number of training sessions in a classroom environment have 
been undertaken, particularly 

 

• Rating policy changes 

• Business & Report writing 

• 2009 Emerging Leaders Program 

• Equal Opportunity Training 

• Records Management Awareness 

• Website Training 

• Stress Awareness 

• Community Engagement 
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• Grant Writing 

• Mandatory Reporting 

• Freedom of Information 
 

Murraylands Careers Expo 
Council continued it’s commitment to the Murraylands Careers Expo as a platinum 
sponsor.  The event is held annually in May, this year at the bigger venue of the 
Murray Bridge Racecourse.  Council hosted an extensive exhibition at the Expo, 
promoting itself as an “employer of choice” and highlighting career opportunities 
within local government.  This year Council conducted two competitions for school 
students, being “How Many Jellybeans In The Jar” and “Find the Answers to the 
Quiz in the Display”. 
 
The winner of the first competition (for which 168 entries were submitted) was a 
student from Unity College.  Her guess was 445 jellybeans, with the actual amount 
being 444.  Particularly pleasing was that the winner was a Meningie resident. 

The winner of the second competition was a student from Murray Bridge High 
School.  The winning student answered all 12 questions in the quiz correctly and her 
entry was drawn from the 124 other entries in the competition.  The prize awarded 
was a voucher to a retailer of the winners choice to the value of $150 which was 
presented at the school by the Human Services Co-ordinator. 

 

Human Resource Management – Statistical Results 

It evident from the statistics below that attraction and retention initiatives have 
resulted in a more stable workforce. 
 

Employee Statistics 30 June 2010 30 June 2009 30 June 2008 

Total Employees 77 79.0 76.0 

Full Time Equivalents 57.6 57.0 56.5 

Total Males 47 49.0 46.0 

Total Females 30 30.0 30.0 

Employee Turnover 19% 12% 21% 

Employee Absenteeism 
(hrs/employee) 

32.03 26.08 41.74 

 
30 June 2010 30 June 2009 Employees by Gender & 

Employment Status Male Female Male Female 

Total employees 47 30 49 30 

Full time permanent 38 11 39 13 

Part time permanent 3 7 2 5 

Casual 6 12 8 12 

Trainees 0 0 0 0 
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Records Management 

Council is continuing with the ongoing cataloguing and sentencing of its older 
records prior to amalgamation of the three councils in 1997, with the transfer of 
consignments to State Records for storage in their Gepps Cross Repository. These 
records will be kept in a climate controlled environment, ensuring the preservation 
for future generations. 
 
For the 2009/10 financial year approval from State Records was given for the 
destruction of 101 linear metres of records; these records were listed and approved 
prior to destruction.  Council has also catalogued and listed approximately 50 linear 
metres of records which still leaves in excess of 500 linear metres of records to be 
catalogued and sentenced in accordance with State Records legislative 
requirements. Approximately 50% of the records still to be catalogued are records 
from the 3 Councils prior to amalgamation. 
 
Council’s 2009/10 Annual Business Plan contained a strategy to develop and 
implement systems and processes to improve the management of Councils records 
and to meet legislative requirements.  A cross departmental project team was 
formed to undertake this strategy and a major milestone was achieved with the 
selection of a preferred electronic document records management system (EDRMS).  
The solution TRIM is approved by State Records and is therefore a legislatively 
compliant system.  Further, TRIM is the preferred solution by Council’s corporate 
business system Authority, which is supplied by Civica. 
 
The purchase of TRIM was made in 2009/10 in accordance with the budget 
allocation, and its implementation and development of policies and procedures will 
continue to be a major project into 2010/11. 

Information Technology 

Council’s corporate business system is Authority, which is supplied by Civica.  
Council has operated in a managed service environment since March 2009 and this 
continues to provide business continuity and a robust disaster recovery environment. 
 
Council’s website project team has continued its ongoing pro-active approach in 
improving the site, notably on the home page.  A popular addition has been a link to 
SA Council Maps. This is a public mapping system that displays information on 
properties such as development zoning, ward, electorate, closest Council office, 
road networks, libraries, property size information and allotment details. As the 
information on this site uses the same as Council for its systems,  this will enable the 
public to locate their own properties and see the information that is publicly 
accessible. 
 
During 2009/10 Council’s website continued to be an increasingly popular resource 
for ratepayers, community members and visitors, recording an average of 12,695 
visits per month, which is an increase from both 2007/08 and 2008/09.  The site has 
been strategically designed for the convenience of all users, enabling visitors full 
access to an ever increasing suite of corporate documents and other Council and 
community information.   
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The following detailed summary clearly demonstrates that community members are 
taking the opportunity to access Council related documents, amounting to 20.8% of 
total pages visited in 2009/10. 
 

Facts & Figures - Council Website     

Site Description 2009/10  2008/09  

 No. Visits % of 
Total 
Visits 

2008/09 % of 
Total 
Visits 

Corporate Plans, Documents, Policies 17767 11.7% 9811 6.9% 

Advertisements, Newsletters etc 13907 9.1% 15177 10.6% 

Council Services 13475 8.8% 9642 6.7% 

Council Committees 11372 7.5% 9411 6.6% 

Environment Related 11148 7.3% 6411 4.5% 

Community Information 9999 6.6% 9127 6.4% 

Coming Events 7605 5.0% 12473 8.7% 

Career 7044 4.6% 5509 3.9% 

Cemeteries 6999 4.6% 12866 9.0% 

Other 6627 4.4% 8241 5.8% 

Health & Welfare 6475 4.3% 6226 4.4% 

Minutes 5602 3.7% 2617 1.8% 

Building, Planning, Development 5498 3.6% 4236 3.0% 

Contacting Your Council 5244 3.4% 4023 2.8% 

Council Staff 4489 2.9% 4546 3.2% 

General Inspectorial 4481 2.9% 4025 2.8% 

Tourism Related 3946 2.6% 4202 2.9% 

Agendas 3196 2.1% 1676 1.2% 

Mayor & Elected Members 2969 1.9% 2393 1.7% 

Council Meetings & Information 2562 1.7% 2718 1.9% 

Starting a Business 1933 1.3% 7607 5.3% 

Total 152338 100.0% 142937 100.0% 

 

Customer Service 

In recognition of the over-crowding and unsuitable office accommodation at the 
Tailem Bend Town Hall, including the occupation of ATCO huts at the rear of the 
Hall, Council accepted the offer of a lease at the former Dynamic Project Delivery 
(Willow Street Precinct) in 2009/10.  Governance and Corporate Services staff have 
occupied the building since May 2010 and the Tailem Bend Town Hall was closed to 
the public. 

Other than the establishment of a new Customer Service Centre (CSC) the most 
notable change was the diversion of incoming calls to the Meningie and Tintinara 
offices to a new operator console at Tailem Bend.   Further, all Tailem Bend and 
Meningie incoming faxes have been internally diverted to the CSC which converts 
them electronically to an email which is in preparation for the Records Management 
Project.  

Council’s Long Term Office Accommodation Working Party will continue to resolve 
the issues remaining for an acceptable long term office accommodation solution. 
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Community Group Funding Support 

Council continued its excellent work in providing financial support in accordance with 
its Community Event, Grant and Donation Policy, which was reviewed in 2009/10.  
This Policy, along with the Community Group Loan Policy, forms the cornerstone of 
Council’s commitment to assist community groups in achieving projects and the 
provision of activities that focus on the development of local communities, 
encourages groups to take a more active and visible role in the life of the community 
and creates opportunities for wider community participation.  The following table 
details the groups and projects which benefited from Council’s community grant 
program in 2009/10; 
 

Community Organisation Project Description Amount 

Tintinara Tennis Club Re-roof & replace guttering on clubhouse  $  5,000  

Meningie Aero Club Purchase rainwater tank to maintain grounds  $  2,850  

Tailem Bend & Districts Development Program Tailem Bend Christmas Pageant  $  1,845  

Meningie Pony Club Development of ongoing Pony Club meets  $  4,126  

Coorong Cottage Industries Provide for community meetings & workshops  $  4,500  

Salt Creek Emergency Response Team Provision of a Dr attendance once per month  $  3,228  

Meningie Progress Association Tshirts for Volunteers at community events  $     578  

Coonalpyn Communication Network Purchase and installation of a stove  $  1,500  

Tintinara Pony Club Purchase equipment to host equine events  $  5,000  

Meningie Cheese Factory Museum Inc Construct secure housing for audio collection  $     500  

Peake Community Centre Inc Recondition Hall Floor  $  3,000  

Lilkafest Camping & Musical Festival 2010 "Open Air" Camping & Music Event  $  2,500  

Tailem Bend Primary School Library Board Tailem Bend Primary School 100 Year Celebration  $  2,500  

Tailem Bend Christmas Parade Committee Tailem Bend Christmas Pageant  $  1,000  

Coonalpyn Tennis Club Pave area between courts and clubhouse  $  2,137  

Meningie Football Club Replacement of lights around Meningie Oval  $  2,500  

Ki Ki Pastime Club Inc Replace ceilings in hall & provide hot water  $  5,000  

Sherlock Community Centre Inc Upgrade of kitchen/supper room  $  3,000  

Meningie Netball Club Provision of rainwater tank  $  2,000  

TOTAL    $52,764  

 
Council also assisted with significant financial support by taking out new loans from 
the Local Government Finance Authority (LGFA) for considerable capital 
development at sporting facilities.  Loans undertaken in 2009/10 were for the 
Tintinara and Tailem Bend Bowling Clubs and Lake Albert Golf Club, which is in 
addition to the loan taken out on behalf of the Meningie Bowling Club in 2008/09. 
 
This provides sporting clubs within the Council area an opportunity to access is 
flexible denture based grants at considerably less interest rates than that available to 
them by commercial lenders.  As at 30 June 2010, loan balances (including minor no 
interest loans funded from Councils own cash reserves) were as follows; 
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Community Organisation Amount 

Tailem Bend Football Club  $    6,000 

Tintinara Football Club  $    4,000 

Meningie Bowling Club  $    2,640 

Malinong Hall Inc  $    9,600 

Meningie Bowling Club  $  25,000 

Lake Albert Golf Club $  70,000 

Tintinara Bowling Club $  60,000 

Tailem Bend Bowling Club $100,000 

TOTAL $277,240 

 
Council will continue to monitor the success of these loans and ensure compliance 
with the provisions of the Community Loan Policy in relation to repayment 
requirements. 
 
 
 
Nat Traeger 
MANAGER CORPORATE SERVICES 
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ASSET SERVICES 
 

The Asset Services Department is responsible for a wide range of services 
associated with the strategic development, operational maintenance and 
construction of community infrastructure assets including roads, kerbing, 
footpaths, stormwater drainage, waste and wastewater management services, 
buildings and depots, Coonalpyn Swimming Pool, Coonalpyn Caravan Park, 
parks, gardens, ovals and reserves. 
 
During 2009-10, Council continued its commitment to long term strategic 
objectives relating to road maintenance and construction, waste management 
and footpaths. However, particular emphasis was directed to waste 
management issues and to the upgrading of its Community Wastewater 
Management Schemes to accommodate wastewater reuse. 
 
These activities will be extended into 2010-11 and following years in 
accordance with Council’s Strategic Plan, available resources and 
government funding. 
 
Asset Management 
 
At Council’s meeting in November 2009,  the Council resolved to adopt a 
Roads and Transport Infrastructure and Asset Management Plan (IAMP). The 
IAMP aims to ensure that current assets are managed efficiently and 
effectively and that decisions regarding the acquisition of new assets and the 
sale and maintenance of current assets are undertaken in an appropriate 
manner and aligns with Council’s Long Term Financial Plan. The IAMP has 
met Councils legislative responsibilities however much more work will be 
required on the IAMP in the next few years to ensure it contains thorough and 
up to date data and includes other assets such as buildings and stormwater 
infrastructure. Council is committed to continual improvement in its asset 
management and long term financial planning.    
  
Roads 
 
Council has continued its annual commitment to major maintenance of the 
Council road system by: 

• Resheeting of unsealed (open surfaced) roads including: 
Bunbury Road, Gypsum Road, Long Point Road, Field Road, Lake 
Albert Road, Moonie Hill Road, Pelican Point Road, Yarindale Road, 
Blacketts Road, Ferme Road, Frost Road, Gypsum Road, Ware Road, 
Bunbury Road, Culburra-Woodswell Road, Keith-Woodswell Road, 
Cooke Plains Road, Coombe Road and Richardson Road.  

• Resealing sections of the Old Dukes Highway. 

• Sealed road construction projects at Washpool/Placid Estate Road and 
Westbrook Road. 

• Performing regular maintenance activities on roads, footpaths, reserves 
and other Council infrastructure. 
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Other major projects have included the following: 

Asset Name Description of Works 

Princes Highway 
(Meningie) 

Completed the relocation of power lines from 
overhead structures to underground trenches. 

Willow Street 
Streetscape Project 
(Tailem Bend) 

Commenced the streetscape improvements for 
Willow Street between Railway Terrace and Murray 
Street. 

The proposed works will include creating a town 
square, landscaping and public lighting. 

Lions Park Public 
Toilet Replacement 
(Meningie) 

Completed the construction of the new public toilets 
to replace the ageing toilets at the Lions Park in 
Meningie. 

 

Poltalloch Road Completed the reconstruction of Poltalloch Road 
including 5.5 kilometres of sealing which completed 
the sealing of the total length of Poltalloch Road 
which is 17.50 km from the Princes Highway to the 
ferry. 

 
Open Space 
 
The Coorong District Council has maintained a diligent approach to monitoring 
riverbank slumping. As the water levels of the River Murray continued to 
decrease, river slumping has occurred at several Council reserves. The 
Council has taken a pro-active approach in working with relevant government 
departments and ensuring affected areas are inspected and monitored 
regularly. 
 
Community Wastewater Management Schemes 
 
After a review of the Tailem Bend, Meningie and Tintinara Community 
Wastewater Management Schemes in 2007-08, reports were completed in 
2008-09 which led to Council proceeding with proposed upgrades to 
accommodate future developments and to allow for the reuse of the treated 
effluent for use on parks, sports ovals and golf courses. This will allow Council 
to rely less on water supply from the River Murray for the irrigation of its open 
space facilities. 
 
The construction of the new Wastewater Treatment Plants for the Tailem 
Bend, Meningie and Tintinara Community Wastewater Management Schemes 
commenced  in 2009-10 with completion expected in 2010-11. 
 
 
 



 

Asset Services  

 

3 

The Coorong District Council  
Annual Report 2009/10  

 
 
 
Waste Management 
 
In 2009-10 Council completed the construction of Waste Transfer Stations at 
Coonalpyn and Tintinara. The upgrade of the Resource Recovery Facilities at 
Tintinara and Coonalpyn to construct Waste Transfer Stations will allow 
greater quantities of recyclable materials to be diverted from residual waste 
and to improve environmental standards at the site. 
 
Council has also commenced investigating its options for the future of the 
Tailem Bend Landfill site. The investigations regarding the Tailem Bend 
Landfill site will be completed in 2010-11. 
 
Rural Property Addressing Project 
 
The Council has spent considerable time and effort in undertaking the Rural 
Property Addressing Project during 2009-10. The Rural Property Addressing 
Project aims to implement Rural Property Addressing in accordance with the 
national standard (AS/NZ 4819:2003). Implementation of the standard will 
ensure consistency across all other Australian States and Territories and New 
Zealand. The standard will improve rural safety, delivery of services and 
infrastructure planning by providing certainty of location that can be 
communicated nationally. 
 
Since September 2009,  all roads throughout the Council district have been 
systematically researched and any anomalies identified as requiring a change 
have been presented to Council for recommendations using the main 
following categories:- 
 

• Roads across other Council boundaries 

• Double Destination Road Names ( e.g. Tintinara-Geranium Rd) 

• Plural Road Names (e.g. Richardson Rd vs Richardsons Rd) 

• Confirmation of spelling (e.g. Kulkawurra vs Kalkawarra) 

• Roads with the same name (e.g. Jones Rd Peake & Jones Rd 
Narrung) 

• Road incorrectly named either with DTEI or Tourist Maps or on 
Council’s internal mapping system 

• Roads incorrectly named 

• Roads not yet gazetted 

• Roads gazetted but named differently 

• Proposed road changes to provide continuity 

• Roads with the same names  

• Any other categories arising from the research 
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The process required negotiation with adjoining Council’s for roads crossing 
other Council boundaries, and the Department of Transport Energy & 
Infrastructure (DTEI) for negotiation on state roads, and finally all other roads 
within the Council district area.  
 
Any road identified as requiring a change was advertised under Council’s 
Public Consultation processes, seeking public submissions on those changes 
of which any public submissions have been presented to Council for review. 
 
This main process of satisfying road names within the district is now nearing 
completion, with all changes having been sent to DTEI for updating. It is 
expected that the project will be completed in 2010-11. 
 
 
 
Tim Tol 
ACTING MANAGER ASSET SERVICES  
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DEVELOPMENT AND ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES 
 

The Development and Environmental Services Department is responsible for 
providing a diverse array of Council Services on behalf of the community such 
as; Environmental and Community Health Services, Development Services, 
General Inspectorial Services, Community Services and Landcare.  
 

Environmental & Community Health 
 
The Environmental & Community Health services provided by the Coorong 
District Council include; Food Safety Inspections, Waste Control System 
assessment and compliance, Mosquito and European Wasp Control and 
Immunisation programs. 
 
Food Safety  
 
Council undertakes an extensive and appropriate level of inspections to 
ensure food safety. Of the 104 registered food businesses under the Council’s 
jurisdiction, 96 routine inspections were conducted. These routine inspections 
resulted in 19 subsequent follow up inspections to confirm compliance with 
issues raised at the initial inspection. Of the 19 follow up inspections, nine 
businesses were sent letters advising them to undertake a particular course of 
action to resolve matters of importance that were discovered during the 
routine inspections. The other ten follow up inspections were for minor 
compliance issues, which were easily resolved. 
 
Council also conducted premise inspections for seven alleged food 
complaints, five of which were substantiated. There were two complaints of a 
non-serious nature and were able to be quickly resolved by the proprietors. Of 
the five substantiated food complaints three were of a serious nature, 
however, they were remedied promptly by the businesses in question. 
 
Council takes a proactive approach to food handler training and community 
education. The promotion of good food hygiene principles to food handlers is 
an ongoing service as many food businesses have a regular turnover of staff. 
To help keep this message current and in the minds of the businesses and the 
community,  Council organises regular training sessions.    
 
During 2009-10,  two Food Handling and Safety Training Courses were 
organised for the food businesses and community organisations located within 
the district. The two courses were organised by Council, and presented by Dr 
Jim Ralph from TAFE SA. The use of an accredited training organisation 
provides the attendees with a recognised certificate of achievement that 
assists business owners in providing relevant professional development to 
their staff. This also improves the employability of the attendee should they 
change organisations.  
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The two courses were held in different rural townships and attracted 84 
people in all, with 17 attending the first course in August 2009 at Tintinara and 
67 attending the second course in February 2010 at Tailem Bend,  with all 
attendees being awarded their certificates. 
 
The overwhelming number of community and business organisations 
encouraging their staff to attend the training courses supports the Coorong 
District Council’s strategy of promoting Food Safety and Hygiene, highlighting 
the need for the continuing education of food handlers within our community.  
 
The overall success of the Coorong District Council’s community education 
programs to promote all aspects of food safety is borne out by the number of 
people attending the structured training events and the small number of food 
complaints received by the Council.  
 
Council takes every opportunity available to promote its food hygiene and 
food safety programs including talks at the local schools during Pet Pep days 
and Field Days such as the Coonalpyn and Meningie Shows. Council also 
includes regular food safety and hygiene related articles in its periodic 
community newsletter sent to all households in the district. 
 
In summary, Council is providing an extensive and appropriate level of 
inspections as well as community education initiatives to ensure adequate 
food safety within the Council district. 
 
Waste Control Systems 
 
Council has continued the systematic pumping out of residential properties 
with septic tanks that are connected to Councils Community Wastewater 
Management Schemes (CWMS). The pump out program is undertaken over a 
four year cycle with the first cycle completed in 2009. The systematic pumping 
of septic tanks assists Council to maintain the CWMS infrastructure to a 
manageable level and extend the longevity of each of the schemes, as well as 
comply with the Public Environmental Health Act Waste Control Regulations.  
Council has four towns that have CWMS schemes; Tailem Bend, Meningie, 
Tintinara and Wellington East.  
 
Council approved 38 new Waste Control System applications in 2009-10. Of 
these applications 32 were for septic tanks including 13 alterations to an 
existing system and 19 new systems; 15 of the septic tanks were connected 
to a CWMS and 17 had on site soakage systems. There were 6 new aerobic 
waste control systems.   
 
Mosquito and European Wasp Control 
 
The Mosquito and Plant Research Laboratory at the University of South 
Australia (UniSA) has provided mosquito surveillance and spot control 
services for the Coorong District Council along with five other local Councils 
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along the River Murray in South Australia, from September 2009 to April 2010. 
This was the eleventh consecutive year of this valuable service.  
 
During this season a total of 7,415 adult mosquitoes were collected from 30 
regular monitoring sites, across the six Councils providing information about 
the diversity and abundance of mosquitoes along the River. This catch size 
represents an increase of just over 10% of the total catch on the previous year 
resulting in this being the fourth lowest seasonal catch of the eleven years of 
surveillance. This pattern was not uniform amongst the river councils with four 
councils recording an increase, the Coorong being one of them, and the 
remaining two a decrease in the total season catch.  
 
The increase in the overall number of mosquitoes caught along the River 
Murray between the 2008-09 and 2009-10 season, corresponded to an 
increase in the notification of arboviral disease in SA (375 cases of Ross River 
virus infection [RRV], 36 Barmah Forest virus [BFV]), compared with the 
previous year (206 RRV cases and 40 BFV cases in 2008-09).  
 
Although, the Coorong District Council area recorded a considerable increase 
in mosquito numbers, up from 399 in 2008/2009 to 1,016 this season from the 
five traps over eleven trips, there was no corresponding increase in Arbovirus 
reports as only one case of Ross River Virus was reported in our district.  
 
Immunisation 
 
The school based immunisation program was once again implemented 
successfully. Council conducted 9 school based clinics in 2009-10 as well as 
3 internal influenza workplace clinics. These clinics resulted in 213 school 
based vaccinations and 37 adults receiving the influenza vaccine. 
 

Development Services 
 
The Development Services Council staff are responsible for Development 
Assessment and Development Policy. 
 
Development Assessment 
 
The Council has continued to ensure its Development Assessment processes 
and procedures provide an efficient service and average assessment times 
and do not exceed the services standards set in Councils Customer Service 
Standards.  
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Summary of Development Statistics for 2009/2010 
   
   
DEVELOPMENT Number Value ($) 
New Dwellings 18 2,539,828.00 
Dwelling Additions & Alterations over $2,000 7 527,498.40 
Domestic Outbuildings & Minor 
Additions/Alterations 67 549,365.00 

Swimming Pools 2 10,500.00 
Commercial Development, including Farm 
Implement sheds, Olive Orchards, Piggeries,  16 1,940,700.00 
Commercial Additions/Alterations, incl 
Community Facilities Additions 32 2,459,803.36 
Tourist Facilities (Additions/Alterations/Signage) 3 17,850.00 
Dredging / Emergency Dredging (Lake Albert & 
Alexandrina & River Murray) 3 45,000.00 
Land Division 20   
TOTAL: 168 8,090,544.76 

 

A comparison of the 2009-10 development statistics and the 2008-09 
development statistics identify that the total number of development 
applications decreased from 192 to 168 however the development value 
increased by 22% or $1.467 million. 
 
Building Fire Safety Committee (BFSC) 
 
The BFSC met every three months during 2009-10 in order to resolve over 
two dozen matters that had been outstanding for some time. Councils Senior 
Building Officer, Dave Vandborg, has spent considerable time facilitating the 
finalisation of the majority of items on behalf of the BFSC.  

 
The focus of the BFSC is to ensure that buildings are adequately protected 
against fire and where buildings have been identified as high risk, the 
buildings will be high on the priority for fire safety inspections.  
 
 
Development Policy  
 
The Council completed a Better Development Plan Conversion Development 
Plan Amendment (BDP DPA) of its Development Plan. The BDP DPA was 
submitted with the Minister for approval in June 2010. The BDP approach is 
designed to help ensure Development Plans: 

• align with the State Planning Strategy, 

• have statewide consistency in structure, presentation and use of clear, 
plain English wording, with the elimination of repetition, 

• are generally consistent in policy content across the state, but can 
readily cater for significant local circumstances 
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• promote desired character statements to guide development and 
provide clearer context to the policy directions presented in 
Development Plans 

• deal only with development matters that require approval under the 
Development Act 1993, and 

• describe what forms of development are appropriate using clearly 
expressed objectives and principles. 

 
The BDP Conversion will ensure greater certainty, consistency and ease of 
use for the community and industry, and ultimately provide substantial time 
and resource savings for the Council. 
 

General Inspectorial Section 
 
Fire Prevention 
Council’s Fire Prevention Officer, Michael Vivian, was extremely busy during 
the fire danger season. During the period: 
 

• 183 Section 105F notices were issued to reduce fuel loads on 
properties prior to the onset of the fire danger season 
(October/November each year) 

• 74 Schedule 9 permits were issued by Council to burn during the fire 
danger season (between 15 February and 15 April). 

 
Fuel reduction projects were also carried out at Culburra, Tintinara and 
Meningie. The Coorong District Council has increased its budget expenditure 
for fire prevention projects by 400% in 2009-10 in order to support its Fire 
Prevention Officer to maintain a proactive approach to fire prevention across 
the district. Council Officers have commenced preparations to organise the 
2010-11 bushfire prevention projects. 
 
Animal Management 
 
A total of 2054 dogs were registered in the Council district in 2009-10 which is 
slightly less than the 2087 registered in 2008-09. Of the 124 wandering dog 
complaints received 50%,  were returned to the owner without expiation. Of 
the 62 dogs that were impounded 50% found a new home and 20 were 
returned to their owner. 
   
Council conducted its annual door knock across the district to identify any 
dogs that were not registered in the district. This is an extremely effective 
initiative to ensure all dogs in the district are registered. 
 
 
 
 
 



   
 

Development and Environmental Services  
6 

The Coorong District Council 
2009/10 Annual Report  

The Petpep program was conducted at several schools in the district to 
educate children on how to remain healthy and safe around pets, how to look 
after their pets and how to behave around strange dogs.  
 
    
Council is providing an extensive and appropriate level of dog management in 
the district.   
 
Local Government Act  
 
During 2009-10,  6 abandoned vehicles were towed in and 15 illegal dumping 
of litter instances were cleaned up by Council. 
 

Community Services 
 
In March 2010 Councils elected members and senior staff held a workshop to 
discuss Councils involvement in Community Services with the aim to identify 
where Council may be able to improve its involvement in supporting the 
community. As a result of this workshop,  the Council has resolved to conduct 
a ‘Community Needs Analysis’. The needs analysis aims to identify areas 
where Council may be able to improve its involvement in community services 
and development and will include considerable community consultation. The 
results of the needs analysis, and any initiatives or changes Council may 
make with regard to community service provision,  will be determined in the 
2010-11 financial year. 
  
Health Care and Community 
The Coorong Community Links Advisory Group meets quarterly to discuss 
health needs and issues in the community and brings together representatives 
from various health agencies and service providers within the district. Liz 
Crane, the Tailem Bend Community Centre Coordinator is the Chairperson of 
the advisory group. 
 
Home and Community Care (HACC) 
 
Council receives HACC funding for the services provided through the Tailem 
Bend Community Centre (TBCC) and for the Home Modification and 
Maintenance Program.  
 
Home Maintenance and Modifications Program 
 
Council administers HACC funding for the Home Maintenance and 
Modifications Program, for eligible clients under HACC. The aim of the 
program is to provide modifications and maintenance to the homes of people 
who are frail aged or have a disability so they can stay in their homes. During 
2009-10 the following number of modifications and maintenance projects were 
undertaken. 
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Location Maintenance Project Modification Project 
Tailem Bend, East 
Wellington 

103 29 

Meningie 36 9 
Coonalpyn, 
Coomandook, Ki Ki, 
Tintinara 

16 1 

TOTAL 155 39 
 
Tailem Bend Community Centre 
The Coorong District Council employs a Coordinator for the Tailem Bend 
Community Centre (TBCC). This position is funded by HACC. The 
Coordinator, along with the assistance of many dedicated volunteers, provides 
services to persons visiting the centre including the aged, disabled and the 
disadvantaged. The centre is supported by the Coorong District Council 
through HACC funding, administrative and human resources support and a 
Council rate subsidy.  
 
Some of the HACC funded programs provided at the TBCC include: 

• Luncheons for the Golden Oldies and Activities and Leisure groups 
once a month. 

• Weekly classes for Tai Chi, exercise, computing, relaxation and 
meditation 

• Social Craft Circle, and 

• Diabetes Support Group. 
 
Some highlights for the year included: 

• Hosting two very successful health information days. 45 attended the 
woman’s health day and 25 attended the men’s health day. 

• Hosting a Winter Hafla Tribal Belly Dance Party. Participants in the 
TBCC belly dancing classes which commenced in 2008-09 put on a 
performance in June 2010 which was enjoyed by over 40 woman and 
girls. 

• Fundraising market days were held every two to three months and are 
growing in their popularity and provide a great fundraising opportunity 
for the TBCC.    

• Kids cooking classes with a focus on healthy eating were held in the 
July and October school holidays.  

• Funding was secured to purchase a Wii program. This has been used 
by school children, hospital day care patients and the Golden Oldies. 

 
Youth Services 
Council once again was involved in the National Youth Week in April 2010 
and the YAC program. Some of the activities that Council was involved in for 
Youth Week included; encouraging young people to express their needs 
through youth forums and a web based youth survey, subsidised Food 
Hygiene & Safety at Events training.  
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Funding was also provided towards 4 blue light discos. The Cows Create 
Careers program also received funding as four schools from the region 
participated in the program; Coonalpyn Area School, Meningie Area School, 
Tailem Bend Primary School and the Tintinara Area School. 
 
Other youth related activities included undertaking the Petpep program in the 
local schools, participation in the Murraylands Career Expo and providing a 
series of 4 colouring and activity story books promoting environmental 
awareness that were distributed to local schools. 
 
 

Environmental Services 
 
The Coorong District Council is unique in that it has a Local Action Plan 
Committee and staff. The involvement of Council is a significant reason for the 
on going success of the LAP program. 
 
Local Action Plan 
 
The Coorong Local Action Plan (LAP) Committee has continued it’s on ground 
works program and LAP Officers have maintained their pro-active role in the 
delivery of innovative projects. The LAP Officers are employed by Council and 
are funded through external funding and a Council contribution.  
 
The Local Action Plan Officers assist landowners with a variety of initiatives 
and funding including; stabilising sandhills and blowouts, clay spreading, lake 
shore erosion control, fencing remnant vegetation and wetlands, revegetation 
and planting windbreaks, assisting with farm forestry of soft and hard woods 
as well as providing information to the community regarding the local action 
plan initiatives.  
 
A major highlight for the LAP team was its successful submission for 
Commonwealth Caring for our Country funding for the Implementation of the 
Coorong and Tatiara Local Action Plans joint on ground works project; the 
funding totals $2,159,200 over the next 4 years. In addition the LAP 
Committee will receive $429,500 from the South Australian Murray Darling 
Natural Resources Board over the next 2 years. 
 
The Caring for our Country project will be undertaken collaboratively between 
Coorong District Council, the Tatiara District Council, the Coorong District LAP 
Committee and the recently formed Tatiara District LAP Committee.  
 
This project will maintain the momentum for on ground change among 
landholders in the Coorong District achieved through the LAP on-ground 
works program. It will also expand the LAP program throughout the Tatiara 
District Council area and enhance partnerships between the community, 
government, statutory bodies, local government, industry, Indigenous groups 
and individuals. 
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On-ground works programs will address a range of land management issues 
including wind erosion, dryland salinity, native vegetation and wetland decline. 
 
Landholder incentives will be available for revegetation, protecting remnant 
native vegetation and wetlands, sandhill stabilisation, clay spreading, 
perennial pastures, saltland pastures, fodder shrubs and farm forestry. 
Landholder incentives for a total of about 55,000 hectares of works and 
800kms of fencing over 4 years will be available subject to funding guidelines. 
 
The Project has also had a significant awareness raising component involving 
working with groups, schools, volunteers and indigenous organisations. 
 
Following Councils successful Caring for our Country funding application,  two 
new LAP Staff members, Tracey Strugnell and Anna Reid, have been 
appointed to work with LAP Project Officer Graham Gates to deliver the new 
projects.  The three LAP Officers work from Council’s Tintinara Office. 
 
 
Tim Tol  
MANAGER DEVELOPMENT AND ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES 
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
STATEMENT  OF  COMPREHENSIVE  INCOME 

for the year ended 30 June 2010 
       
   2010  2009  
  Notes $'000  $'000  

 INCOME      
 Rates 2 4,742      4,571   

 Statutory charges 2 108   128   

 User charges 2 154   124   

 Grants, subsidies and contributions 2 4,220   4,997   

 Investment income 2 31   98   

 Reimbursements 2 323   237   

 Other income 2 234   101   

 Net gain -  joint ventures & associates 19 -   5   

 Total Income  9,812    10,261   

       

 EXPENSES      

 Employee costs 3 3,442   3,350   

 Materials, contracts & other expenses 3 3,392   2,976   

 Finance costs 3 36   24   

 Depreciation, amortisation & impairment 3 2,609   2,761   

 Net loss -  joint ventures & associates 19 3   -  

 Total Expenses     9,482   9,111   

       

 OPERATING SURPLUS / (DEFICIT)  330   1,150   

       

 Asset disposal & fair value adjustments 4 (198)  (225)  

 Amounts received specifically for new or 
upgraded assets 

2 574   -   

 Physical resources received free of charge 2 1,388   -   

 NET SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) transferred to Equity 
Statement 

2,094   925   

       

 Other Comprehensive Income      

 Changes in revaluation surplus - 
infrastructure, property, plant & equipment 

9 16,584   -   

 Share of other comprehensive income - joint 
ventures and associates 

19 -   22   

 Total Other Comprehensive Income           
 

 16,584   22   

 TOTAL  COMPREHENSIVE  INCOME   18,678   947   

       
 This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes.   
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

BALANCE  SHEET 

as at 30 June 2010 
       
   2010  2009  

 ASSETS Notes $'000  $'000  

 Current Assets      

 Cash and Cash Equivalents 5 48   1,685   

 Trade & Other Receivables 5 1,415   680   

 Inventories 5 22   27   

 Total Current Assets  1,485   2,392   

       

 Non-current Assets      

 
Equity Accounted Investments in Council 
Businesses 

6 24   27   

 Investment Property 7 935   1,172   

 Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment 7 84,591   63,554   

 Total Non-current Assets  85,550   64,753   

 Total Assets  87,035   67,145   

       

 LIABILITIES      

 Current Liabilities      

 Trade & Other Payables 8 1,127   623   

 Borrowings 8 53   83   

 Provisions 8 616   489   

   1,796   1,195   

 Total Current Liabilities  1,796   1,195   

       

 Non-current Liabilities      

 Trade & Other Payables 8 142   142   

 Borrowings 8 952   294   

 Provisions 8 86   133   

 Total Non-current Liabilities  1,180   569   

 Total Liabilities  2,976   1,764   

 NET ASSETS  84,059   65,381   

       

 EQUITY      

 Accumulated Surplus  28,796   26,909   

 Asset Revaluation Reserves 9 54,396   37,812   

 Other Reserves 9 867   660   

 TOTAL EQUITY  84,059   65,381   

       

 This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes.    
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
STATEMENT  OF  CHANGES  IN  EQUITY 

for the year ended 30 June 2010 

   

Accumulated 
Surplus 

Asset 
Revaluation 

Reserve 

Available 
for sale 

Financial 
Assets 

Other 
Reserves 

TOTAL 
EQUITY 

 2010 Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

        

 Balance at end of previous reporting period  26,909  37,812  -  660  65,381  

 Restated opening balance  26,909  37,812  -  660  65,381  

 Net Surplus / (Deficit) for Year  2,094  - - - 2,094  

 Other Comprehensive Income       

 
Gain on revaluation of infrastructure, property, plant & 
equipment 

 - 16,584  - - 16,584  

 Transfers between reserves  (207) - - 207  -  

 Balance at end of period  28,796  54,396  -  867  84,059  

 2009       
 Balance at end of previous reporting period  25,995  37,812   627  64,434  

 Restated opening balance  25,995  37,812  -  627  64,434  

 Net Surplus / (Deficit) for Year  925  -   925  

 Other Comprehensive Income       

 
Share of other comprehensive income - joint ventures and 
associates 

 22  - - - 22  

 Transfers between reserves  (33) - - 33  -  

 Balance at end of period  26,909  37,812  -  660  65,381  

        

 This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes 
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

CASH  FLOW  STATEMENT 
for the year ended 30 June 2010 

   2010  2009  

 CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES Notes $'000  $'000  

 Receipts      

 Operating receipts  9,281   10,080   

 Investment receipts  28  100   

 Payments      

 Operating payments to suppliers & employees  (6,278)  (6,461)  

 Finance payments  (40)  (24)  

 Net Cash provided by (or used in) Operating Activities  2,991   3,695   

       

 CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES      

 Receipts      

 Amounts specifically for new or upgraded assets        574   -  

 Sale of replaced assets      1,089       1,131   

 Repayments of loans by community groups       35  13   

 Payments      

 Expenditure on renewal/replacement of assets       (2,874)       (4,595)  

 Expenditure on new/upgraded assets       (4,087)   -  

 Purchase of investment property    237     (1,005)  

 Loans made to community groups              (230)          (12)  

 Net Cash provided by (or used in) Investing Activities      (5,256)       (4,468)  

       

 CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES      

 Receipts      

    Proceeds from Borrowings  2,430            50   

 Payments      

    Repayments of Borrowings   (1,802)     (78)  

 Net Cash provided by (or used in) Financing Activities        628       (28)  

 Net Increase (Decrease) in cash held    (1,637)       (801)  

       

 Cash & cash equivalents at beginning of period 11     1,685    2,486   

 Cash & cash equivalents at end of period 11          48       1,685   

       

 This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes  

 



 

Annual Financial Statements 2009-2010 
-6- 

 

COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2010 

 
 

Note 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out 
below.  These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 
otherwise stated. 

 
1 Basis of Preparation 
1.1 Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards 
This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards as they apply to not-for-profit entities, other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Interpretations and relevant 
South Australian legislation. 

 
The financial report was authorised for issue by certificate under clause 11 of the Local 
Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1999 dated ( 19  / 10  / 2010  ). 

 
1.2 Historical Cost Convention 
Except as stated below, these financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the historical cost convention. 

 
1.3 Critical Accounting Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards 
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates, and requires management to 
exercise its judgement in applying Council’s accounting policies.  The areas involving a higher 
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant 
to the financial statements are specifically referred to in the relevant sections of this Note. 

 
1.4 Rounding 
All amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars 
($’000). 
 
1.5 Change in Accounting Policy 
The Council has restated its 2009 values for  the equity accounted items that it has joint 
control over.   The reason for the restatement is due to an error in the reporting of the equity 
accounting for investments. The aggregated affect on the 2009 reporting year is as follows. 
 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 
                           Previous Stated   Adjustment       Re-Stated 
                     $ 000             $ 000                 $000  
Net Gain – Joint Ventures & Associates                        0                     5                       5 
Operating Surplus       1,145                    5                1,150 
Total Comprehensive Income                 942                    5               947 

 
Balance Sheet  - Statement Of Financial Position 
 
Equity Accounted investments in Council            0       27                     27 
Net Assets       65,354       27           65,381 
Total Equity       65,354       27              65,381 
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2 The Local Government Reporting Entity 
Coorong District Council is incorporated under the SA Local Government Act 1999 and has its 
principal place of business at 93A Willow Street, Tailem Bend.  These financial statements 
include the consolidated fund and all entities through which Council controls resources to 
carry on its functions.  In the process of reporting on the Council as a single unit, all 
transactions and balances between activity areas and controlled entities have been 
eliminated. 

 
Trust monies and property held by Council but subject to the control of other persons have 
been excluded from these reports.  A separate statement of moneys held in the Trust Fund is 
available for inspection at the Council Office by any person free of charge. 

 
3 Income recognition 
Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  Income is 
recognised when the Council obtains control over the assets comprising the income, or when 
the amount due constitutes an enforceable debt, whichever first occurs.  

 
Where grants, contributions and donations recognised as incomes during the reporting period 
were obtained on the condition that they be expended in a particular manner or used over a 
particular period, and those conditions were undischarged as at the reporting date, the 
amounts subject to those undischarged conditions are disclosed in these notes.  Also 
disclosed is the amount of grants, contributions and receivables recognised as incomes in a 
previous reporting period which were obtained in respect of the Council's operations for the 
current reporting period. 
 
4 Cash, Cash Equivalents and other Financial Instruments 
Cash Assets include all amounts readily convertible to cash on hand at Council’s option with 
an insignificant risk of changes in value with a maturity of three months or less from the date 
of acquisition. 
 
Receivables for rates and annual charges are secured over the subject land, and bear 
interest at rates determined in accordance with the Local Government Act 1999.  Other 
receivables are generally unsecured and do not bear interest. 
 
All receivables are reviewed as at the reporting date and adequate allowance made for 
amounts the receipt of which is considered doubtful. 
 
All financial instruments are recognised at fair value at the date of recognition.  A detailed 
statement of the accounting policies applied to financial instruments forms part of Note 13. 

 
5 Inventories 
Inventories held in respect of stores have been valued by using the weighted average cost on 
a continual basis, after adjustment for loss of service potential.  Inventories held in respect of 
business undertakings have been valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
 
6 Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment 
6.1 Initial Recognition 
All assets are initially recognised at cost.  
 
All non-current assets purchased or constructed are capitalised as the expenditure is incurred 
and depreciated as soon as the asset is held “ready for use”. Cost is determined as the fair 
value of the assets given as consideration plus costs incidental to the acquisition, including 
architects' fees and engineering design fees and all other costs incurred. The cost of non-
current assets constructed by the Council includes the cost of all materials used in 
construction, direct labour on the project and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed 
overhead. 
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Capital works still in progress at balance date are recognised as other non-current assets and 
transferred to infrastructure, property, plant & equipment when completed ready for use. 
 
For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, cost is determined as fair value at 
the date of acquisition. 
 
6.2 Materiality 
Assets with an economic life in excess of one year are only capitalised where the cost of 
acquisition exceeds materiality thresholds established by Council for each type of asset.  In 
determining (and in annually reviewing) such thresholds, regard is had to the nature of the 
asset and its estimated service life.  Examples of capitalisation thresholds applied during the 
year are as follows. No capitalisation threshold is applied to the acquisition of land or interests 
in land. 
 
Office Furniture & Equipment $500 
Other Plant & Equipment $500 
Buildings - new construction/extensions $1,000 
Park & Playground Furniture & Equipment $1,000 
Road construction & reconstruction $1,000 
Paving & footpaths, Kerb & Gutter $1,000 
Drains & Culverts $500 
Land  $1,000 
CWMS $1,000 
Water Scheme $1,000 
Other Assets $1,000 

 

6.3 Subsequent Recognition 
All material asset classes are revalued on a regular basis such that the carrying values are 
not materially different from fair value.  For infrastructure and other asset classes where no 
active market exists, fair value is determined to be the current replacement cost of an asset 
less, where applicable, accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis of such cost to 
reflect the already consumed or expired future economic benefits of the asset.  Further detail 
of existing valuations, methods and valuers are provided at Note 7.   
 
6.4 Depreciation of Non-Current Assets  
Other than land, all infrastructure, property, plant and equipment assets recognised are 
systematically depreciated over their useful lives in a manner which reflects the consumption 
of the service potential embodied in those assets. 
 
Depreciation is recognised on a straight-line basis.  Major depreciation periods for each class 
of asset are shown below.  Depreciation periods for infrastructure assets have been 
estimated based on the best information available to Council, but appropriate records 
covering the entire life cycle of these assets are not available, and extreme care should be 
used in interpreting financial information based on these estimates. 

Plant, Furniture & Equipment 
 Office Equipment                4 years 
 Office Furniture              10 years 
 Vehicles and Road-making Equip     5 to 30 years 
 Other Plant & Equipment      5 to 20 years 

Building & Other Structures 
 Buildings – masonry     50 to 80 years 
 Buildings – other construction    10 to 40 years  

Infrastructure 
 Sealed Roads – Surface             15 years 
 Sealed Roads – Structure             50 years 
 Unsealed Roads     30 to 50 years 
 Paving & Footpaths, Kerb & Gutter   20 to 30 years 
 Drains               30 years 
 CWMS - Pipes              60 years 
 CWMS - Mechanical & Electrical             25 years 
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 CWMS - Other Capital               50 years 
 Water Supply - Pipes              60 years 
 Water Supply – Pumps & Meters      7 to 30 years 
 Stormwater Pipes               60 years 
 Stormwater Other       7 to 80 years 

Other Assets 
 Library Books                7 years 
 Various Other Assets       5 to 50 years 

 
6.5 Impairment 
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to depreciation and are reviewed 
annually for impairment.  Assets that are subject to depreciation are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount (which is the higher of the present value of future 
cash outflows or value in use). 

 
For assets whose future economic benefits are not dependent on the ability to generate cash 
flows, and where the future economic benefits would be replaced if Council were deprived 
thereof, the value in use is the depreciated replacement cost.  In assessing impairment for 
these assets, a rebuttable assumption is made that the current replacement cost exceeds the 
original cost of acquisition. 
 
Where an asset that has been revalued is subsequently impaired, the impairment is first offset 
against such amount as stands to the credit of that class of assets in Asset Revaluation 
Reserve, any excess being recognised as an expense. 
 
7 Payables 
7.1 Goods & Services 
Creditors are amounts due to external parties for the supply of goods and services and are 
recognised as liabilities when the goods and services are received.  Creditors are normally 
paid 30 days after the month of invoice.  No interest is payable on these amounts. 

 
7.2 Payments Received in Advance & Deposits 
Amounts received from external parties in advance of service delivery, and security deposits 
held against possible damage to Council assets, are recognised as liabilities until the service 
is delivered or damage reinstated, or the amount is refunded as the case may be. 

 
8 Borrowings 
Loans are carried at their principal amounts which represent the present value of future cash 
flows associated with servicing the debt.  Interest is accrued over the period to which it 
relates, and is recorded as part of “Payables”.  Interest free loans are carried at their nominal 
amounts; interest revenues foregone by the lender effectively being a reduction of interest 
expense in the period to which it relates. 

 
9 Employee Benefits 
9.1 Salaries, Wages & Compensated Absences 
Liabilities for employees’ entitlements to salaries, wages and compensated absences 
expected to be paid or settled within 12 months of reporting date are accrued at nominal 
amounts (including payroll based oncosts) measured in accordance with AASB 119.  

 
Liabilities for employee benefits not expected to be paid or settled within 12 months are 
measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows (including payroll based 
oncosts) to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date.  
Present values are calculated using government guaranteed securities rates with similar 
maturity terms. 
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Weighted average discount rate 4.702% (2009, 4.657%) 
Weighted average settlement period 10 years (2009, 10 years) 

 
No accrual is made for sick leave as Council experience indicates that, on average, sick leave 
taken in each reporting period is less than the entitlement accruing in that period, and this 
experience is expected to recur in future reporting periods.  Council does not make payment 
for untaken sick leave. 

 
9.2 Superannuation 
The Council makes employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to the 
Local Government Superannuation Scheme.  The Scheme has two types of membership, 
each of which is funded differently.  No changes in accounting policy have occurred during 
either the current or previous reporting periods.  Details of the accounting policies applied and 
Council’s involvement with the schemes are reported in Note 18. 

 
10 Construction Contracts 
Construction works undertaken by Council for third parties are generally on an agency basis 
where the third party reimburses Council for actual costs incurred, and usually do not extend 
beyond the reporting period.  As there is no profit component, such works are treated as 
100% completed.  Reimbursements not received are recognised as receivables and 
reimbursements received in advance are recognised as “payments received in advance”. 

 
11 Joint Ventures and Associated Entities 
Council participates in cooperative arrangements with other Councils for the provision of 
services and facilities.  Council’s interests in cooperative arrangements, which are only 
recognised if material, are accounted for in accordance with AASB 128 and set out in detail in 
Note 19. 

 
12 GST Implications 
In accordance with UIG Abstract 1031 “Accounting for the Goods & Services Tax” 

� Receivables and Creditors include GST receivable and payable. 
� Except in relation to input taxed activities, revenues and operating 

expenditures exclude GST receivable and payable. 
� Non-current assets and capital expenditures include GST net of any 

recoupment. 
� Amounts included in the Statement of Cash Flows are disclosed on a gross 

basis. 
 
13 New Accounting Standards 
Certain new accounting standards and UIG interpretations have been published that are not 
mandatory for the 30 June 2010 reporting period. 

� AASB 1   First-time Adoption of Australian Accounting 
Standards 

� AASB 5   Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations 

� AASB 7   Financial Instruments: Disclosures 
� AASB 9   Financial Instruments 
� AASB 101   Presentation of Financial Statements 
� AASB 107   Statement of Cash Flows 
� AASB 108   Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 

Estimates and Errors 
� AASB 110   Events after the Reporting Period 
� AASB 117   Leases 
� AASB 118   Revenue 
� AASB 119   Employee Benefits 
� AASB 132   Financial Instruments: Presentation 
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� AASB 136   Impairment of Assets 
� AASB 137   Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 

Assets 
� AASB 139   Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement 
� AASB 1031   Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement 
� AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 

arising from AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 
118, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and 
Interpretations 10 & 12]  

� AASB 2009-12 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
[AASBs 5, 8, 108, 110, 112, 119, 133, 137, 139, 1023 & 1031 
and Interpretations 2, 4, 16, 1039 & 1052] 

� AASB 2009-13 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from Interpretation 19 [AASB 1]   

� AASB 2010-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Limited Exemption from Comparative AASB 7 Disclosures for 
First-time Adopters [AASB 1 & AASB 7]  

� Interpretation 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a 
Lease 

� Interpretation 14 AASB 119 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, 
Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction 

�  (Standards not affecting local government have been excluded from the 
above list.) 

 
Council is of the view that none of the above new standards or interpretations will affect any 
of the amounts recognised in the financial statements, but that they may impact certain 
information otherwise disclosed. 
 
The Australian Accounting Standards Board is currently reviewing AASB 1004 Contributions.  
It is anticipated that the changes resulting from this review may have a material effect on the 
timing of the recognition of grants and contributions, but the financial consequences cannot 
be estimated until a revised accounting standard is issued. 
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2010 

 

Note 2 – INCOME 
    2010  2009  
   Notes $'000  $'000  

 RATES  REVENUES      

 General Rates  4,375   4,260   

  Less: Discretionary rebates, remissions & write offs (44)  (64)  

    4,331   4,196   

 Other Rates (including service charges)      

  Natural Resource Management levy  75   67   

  Water supply  25   23   

  Community wastewater management 
systems 

 273   252   

    373   342   

 Other Charges      

  Penalties for late payment  28   33   

  Legal & other costs recovered  10   -   

    38   33   

        

  Total  4,742   4,571   

        

 STATUTORY  CHARGES      

  Development Act fees  57   72   

  Animal registration fees & fines  40   43   

  Other registration fees  11   12   

  Other fines, penalties & expiations                 -   1   

    108   128   

        

 USER  CHARGES      

  Cemetery/crematoria fees  13   13   

  Hall & equipment hire  5   5   

  Rent  45                  -   

  Dump Fees  41                  -   

  Sundry  50   106   

    154   124   

        

 INVESTMENT  INCOME      

  Interest on investments      

    - Local Government Finance Authority  30   97   

  Banks & other  1   1   

    31   98   
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 NOTE 2 - INCOME (continued)  2010  2009  

   Notes $'000  $'000  

 REIMBURSEMENTS      
   - for roadworks  212   156   
   - for private works  26   81   
   - other  85   -  

    323   237   

        
 OTHER INCOME      

  Sundry  234   101   

    234   101   

        

 GRANTS, SUBSIDIES, CONTRIBUTIONS      

 Amounts received specifically for new or upgraded assets 574   -  

 Other grants, subsidies and contributions 3,560   4,352   

 Individually significant item - additional Grants Commission 
payment (see below) 

660   645   

    4,794   4,997   

 The functions to which these grants relate are shown in Note 2.    

        

 - Sources of grants      

  Commonwealth government  900   5,035   

  State government  3,894   (38)  

    4,794   4,997   

       

 - Individually Significant Item      

 On 30 June 2010, Council received payment of the first quarter instalment 
of the 2010/11 Grant Commission (FAG) grant.  This represents a 
significant increase in income from this source for 2009/10, with an 
equivalent reduction in 2010/11 

660   645   

       

 - Conditions over grants & contributions      

 Grants and contributions which were obtained on the condition that they be expended for specified purposes 
or in a future period, but which are not yet expended in accordance with those conditions, are as follows: 

        
 Unexpended at the close of the previous reporting period 873   914   

 Less: expended during the current period from revenues  
         recognised in previous reporting periods  

 Other  (873)  (417)  

  Subtotal  (873)  (417)  

 Plus: amounts recognised as revenues in this reporting 
         period but not yet expended in accordance with the conditions 

 HACC  6   -  

 Landcare  341   -  

 Other  -  376   

  Subtotal  347   376   

 Unexpended at the close of this reporting period  347   873   

        

 Net increase (decrease) in assets subject to conditions in the 
current reporting period 

(526)  (41)  

        

 PHYSICAL  RESOURCES  RECEIVED  FREE  OF  CHARGE    

  Buildings & Structures  1,388   -  

       

 TOTAL PHYSICAL  RESOURCES  RECEIVED  1,388   -  
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 

       

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2010 

       

Note 3 – EXPENSES 

   2010  2009  

  Notes $'000  $'000  

 EMPLOYEE COSTS      

 Salaries and Wages              2,992               2,847   

 Employee leave expense                521                 541   

 Superannuation - defined contribution plan contributions 18               299                 278   

 Superannuation - defined benefit plan contributions 18     

 Workers' Compensation Insurance                  82                   64   

 Less: Capitalised and distributed costs               (452)              (380)  

 Total Operating Employee Costs              3,442               3,350   

       

 Total Number of Employees                  56                   57   

           (Full time equivalent at end of reporting period)      

       

 MATERIALS, CONTRACTS & OTHER 
EXPENSES 

     

 Prescribed Expenses      

 Auditor's Remuneration      

      -  Auditing the financial reports                  15                   14   

 Elected members' expenses                191                 136   

 Election expenses                    3                      -   

 Subtotal - Prescribed Expenses                209                 150   

       

 Other Materials, Contracts & Expenses      

 Contractors              1,366               1,205   

 Energy                608                 636   

 Maintenance                175                 140   

 Legal Expenses                  75                   22   

 Levies paid to government - NRM levy                  74                   67   

  -  Other Levies                  11                   13   

 Parts, accessories & consumables                486                 627   

 Professional services                442                 192   

 Sundry                337                 352   

 Less: Capitalised & Distributed Costs               (391)              (428)  

 Subtotal - Other Materials, Contracts & 
Expenses 

             3,183               2,826   

               3,392               2,976   
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 Note 3 - EXPENSES (cont)      

   2010  2009  

  Notes $'000  $'000  

 FINANCE  COSTS      

 Interest on Loans                  36                   24   

                   36                   24   

       

 DEPRECIATION, AMORTISATION & 
IMPAIRMENT 

     

 Depreciation      

 Building                204                 165   

 Roads Infrastructure      

  - Road Base                826               1,099   

  - Road Seal                479                 434   

  - Watertable                  51                   71   

  - Footpaths                  11                   29   

 Stormwater Drains                  49                   40   

 Water Supply                  16                   16   

 CWMS (Community Wastewater Management 
Schemes) 

               145                 135   

 Other Assets                211                 223   

 Plant & Machinery                326                 301   

 Cars                113                   79   

 Minor Plant and Equipment                  95                   78   

 Office Equipment                  83                   91   

               2,609               2,761   
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2010 

 
Note 4 - ASSET  DISPOSAL  &  FAIR  VALUE  ADJUSTMENTS 

       
       
   2010  2009  
  Notes $'000  $'000  
       
 INFRASTRUCTURE, PROPERTY,  PLANT & EQUIPMENT     
 Assets renewed or directly replaced      
 Proceeds from disposal              1,089               1,131   

 Less: Carrying amount of assets sold              1,287               1,356   

 Less: amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income 

    

 Gain (Loss) on disposal               (198)               (225)  

       

 NET GAIN (LOSS) ON DISPOSAL OR REVALUATION OF 
ASSETS 

             (198)               (225)  
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
       

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2010 
       

Note 5 - CURRENT ASSETS 
   2010  2009  

 CASH  &  EQUIVALENT  ASSETS Notes $'000  $'000  

 Cash on Hand and at Bank               42                58   

 Short Term Deposits & Bills, etc                 6            1,627   

                48            1,685   

       

 TRADE  &  OTHER  RECEIVABLES      

 Rates - General & Other             370              350   

 Accrued Revenues             505   -  

 Debtors - general             112              167   

 GST Recoupment             126                64   

 Prepayments               14                  2   

 Loans to community organisations             277                82   

 Sundry               11                15   

 Total           1,415              680   

       

 INVENTORIES      

 Stores & Materials               22                27   

                22                27   

 Aggregate write-downs and other losses recognised as an expense, and reversals of   

 these, were not material in amount in either year.  All such reversals occurred principally 

 as a result of clerical inaccuracies during stores operations.    

     

COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
       

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2010 
       

Note 6 - NON-CURRENT  ASSETS 
   2010  2009  

 FINANCIAL  ASSETS Notes $'000  $'000  

       

 

EQUITY  ACCOUNTED  INVESTMENTS  IN  
COUNCIL  BUSINESSES  

   
 

 Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme 19              24                27   

                24                27   
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
           

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2010 
           

Note 7 - INFRASTRUCTURE, PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT 

   2009 2010  

   $'000 $'000  

  ASSET CATEGORY 

AT  FAIR  
VALUE 

AT  COST 
ACCUM  
DEP'N 

CARRYING  
AMOUNT 

AT  FAIR  
VALUE 

AT  COST 
ACCUM  
DEP'N 

CARRYING  
AMOUNT  

 Land 4,978  -   -  4,978  10,148  -  -  10,148   

 Buildings & Structures 4,269  -   (1,003) 3,266  31,000  -  (14,576) 16,424   

 Road Infrastructure                  

   - Roads Base 40,680  -  (5,408) 35,272   42,245  -  (6,233) 36,012   

   - Road Seal 7,080  -  (2,166) 4,914   7,343  -  (2,645) 4,698   

   - Watertable  1,537  -  (239) 1,298  1,553  -  (290) 1,263   

   - Footpaths 571  -  (91) 480  610  -  (102) 508   

 Stormwater Drains 1,376  -  (164) 1,212  3,047  -  (1,056) 1,991   

 Water Supply 438  -  (64) 374  438  -  (80) 358   

 CWMS 4,841  -  (535) 4,306  6,536  -  (681) 5,855   

 Other Assets -  3,723  (1,152) 2,571  -  3,380  (1,138) 2,242   

 Plant & Equipment -  5,173  (1,386) 3,787  -  5,460  (1,542) 3,918   

 Cars -  553   (32) 521  -   596   (59)  537   

 Minor Plant & Equipment -   710  (367) 343  -  747   (430) 317   

 Office Equipment -  1,038   (806)  232  -  1,209   (889) 320   

 
TOTAL  PROPERTY, PLANT & 
EQUIPMENT 

          
65,770  

          
11,197  

        
(13,413) 

          
63,554  

        
102,920  

          
11,392  

        
(29,721) 

          
84,591  

 

 2009 Totals         65,770   11,197  (13,413)  63,554   

 This Note continues on the following pages.             
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Note 7 (Cont) - INVESTMENT  PROPERTY  

           

   2009 2010  

   $'000 $'000  

  ASSET CATEGORY 
AT  FAIR  
VALUE 

AT  COST 
ACCUM  
DEP'N 

CARRYING  
AMOUNT 

AT  FAIR  
VALUE 

AT  COST 
ACCUM  
DEP'N 

CARRYING  
AMOUNT  

 Land 1,172  -  -  1,172  935  -   -  935   

 
TOTAL  INVESTMENT  
PROPERTY 

1,172  -  -  1,172  935  -  -  935   

 2009 Totals         1,172   -   -   1,172    

 
This Note continues on the following pages. 
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Note 7 (Cont) - INFRASTRUCTURE, PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT  
   2009 CARRYING AMOUNT MOVEMENTS DURING YEAR 2010  

   $'000 $'000 $'000  

  Asset Category Additions  

   

CARRYING  
AMOUNT New/Upgrade Renewals 

Disposals Depreciation Impairment Transfers 
Net 

Revaluation 
CARRYING  
AMOUNT  

  Land 4,978  8   -  -  -  -  270  4,892  10,148   

  Buildings & Structures 3,266  1,768  169  -  (204)  -   558  10,867  16,424   

  Road Infrastructure           

    - Roads Base 35,272  866  700  -  (826) -  -  -  36,012   

    - Road Seal 4,914  74  189  -  (479) -  -  -  4,698   

    - Watertable  1,298  -  16  -  (51) -  -  -  1,263   

    - Footpaths 480  25  14  -  (11) -  -  -  508   

  Stormwater Drains 1,212  3  -  -  (49) -  -  825  1,991   

  Water Supply  374  -  -  -  (16) -  -  -  358   

  CWMS  4,306  761  933  -  (145) -  -  -  5,855   

  Other Assets  2,571  382  58  -  (211) -  (558) -  2,242   

  Plant & Equipment  3,787  68  898   (509) (326) -  -  -  3,918   

  Cars 521   -  891   (762) (113) -  -  -  537   

  Minor Plant & Equipment 343   -   84    (15)  (95) -   -  -  317   

  Office Equipment 232  99  72  -   (83) -  -  -  320   

  
TOTAL  INFRASTRUCTURE, 
PROPERTY, PLANT & 
EQUIPMENT 

63,554  4,054  4,024   (1,286)  (2,609) -  270  16,584  84,591  

 

  2009 Totals 63,076  -  4,640   (1,522)  (2,761)  - 121   - 63,554   

Note 7 (Cont) - INVESTMENT  PROPERTY 
 Land 1,172  33  -  -  -  -   (270) -  935   

 
TOTAL  INVESTMENT  
PROPERTY 

1,172  33  -  -  -  -   (270) -  935  
  

 2009 Totals 166  1,005  - - - -  - - 1,172   

 This Note continues on the following pages.  
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2010 
 

Note 7 (cont) – INFRASTRUCTURE, PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT 

Valuation of Assets 

At 1 July 2004 upon the transition to AIFRS, Council elected pursuant to AASB 1.19 to retain a previously established 
deemed cost under GAAP as its deemed cost.  With subsequent additions at cost, this remains as the basis of 
recognition of non-material asset classes. 

Land & Land Improvements 
Council being of the opinion that it is not possible to attribute a value sufficiently reliably to qualify for recognition; land 
under roads has not been recognised in these reports.  Land acquired for road purposes during the year is initially 
recognised at cost, but transferred to fair value at reporting date, effectively writing off the expenditure. 
Freehold land and or land over which Council has control but does not have title, is recognised on the cost basis. No 
capitalisation threshold is applied to the acquisition of land or interests in land.  
Land improvements, including bulk earthworks with an assessed unlimited useful life, are recognised on the cost 
basis, originally deriving from a valuation at 30

th
 June 2009 at current replacement cost.  Additions are recognised at 

cost. 
Estimated future costs of reinstatement of land, capitalised in accordance with AASB 116.16(c), are reviewed 
annually (see Note 1) and depreciated over the estimated remaining life of the relevant asset.    

 
Buildings & Other Structures 
Pursuant to Council’s Election the building and other structures assets were valued by Asset Valuation & Consulting 
Pty Ltd – Property Consultants and Valuers at written down current replacement cost during the reporting period 
ended 30

th
 June 2009 and pursuant to Council’s election are disclosed at deemed cost.  All acquisitions made after 

the respective dates of valuation are recorded at cost.   
 

Infrastructure 
Pursuant to Council’s Election the transportation assets were valued by Asset Valuation & Consulting Pty Ltd – 
Property Consultants and Valuers at written down current replacement cost during the reporting period ended 30

th
 

June 2005 and pursuant to Council’s election are disclosed at deemed cost.  All acquisitions made after the 
respective dates of valuation are recorded at cost.   

 
Pursuant to Councils Election the stormwater drainage assets were valued by Maloney’s Field Services, Property 
Consultants and Valuers at  written down current replacement cost during the reporting period ended 30

th
 June 2009 

and pursuant to Council’s election are disclosed at deemed cost.  All acquisitions made after the respective dates of 
valuation are recorded at cost.   

 
Pursuant to Councils Election the Community Wastewater Management Schemes were valued by Maloney’s Field 
Services, Property Consultants and Valuers at written down current replacement cost during the reporting period 
ended 30

th
 June 2005 and pursuant to Council’s election are disclosed at deemed cost.  All acquisitions made after 

the respective dates of valuation are recorded at cost.   
 

Pursuant to Councils Election the Water Schemes were valued by Maloney’s Field Services, Property Consultants 
and Valuers at written down current replacement cost during the reporting period ended 30

th
 June 2005 and pursuant 

to Council’s election are disclosed at deemed cost.  All acquisitions made after the respective dates of valuation are 
recorded at cost.  
 
Plant, Furniture & Equipment 
Pursuant to Council’s election, these assets are recognised on the cost basis.   
 
All other assets 
Pursuant to Council’s election, these assets are recognised on the cost basis.  Library books and other lending 
materials are capitalised in bulk, and written out when fully depreciated. 
 
Investment Property 
The basis of valuation of investment properties is fair value being the amounts for which the properties could be 
exchanged between willing but not anxious parties in an arm’s length transaction, based on current prices in an active 
market for similar parties in the same location and subject to similar leases. These Assets were valued by Maloney’s 
Field Services Pty Ltd – Property Consultants and Valuers.    
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
         

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2010 
         

Note 8 - LIABILITIES 
   2010  2009  

   $'000  $'000  

 TRADE  &  OTHER  PAYABLES Notes Current Non-current  Current Non-current  

 Goods & Services      896               -            481               -   

 Amounts Received in Advance         17               -                -               -   

 Murray Mallee Community 
Transport Scheme 

        53               -              45               -   

 Accrued Expenses - employee 
entitlements 

      120               -              87               -   

 Accrued Expenses - other           3               -                7               -   

 Aged Care Facility Deposits            -          142                -           142   

 Deposits, Retentions & Bonds         34               -                -               -   

 Other           4               -                3               -   

         1,127           142            623           142   

         

 BORROWINGS        

 Loans             53           952              83           294   

              53           952              83           294   

         

 All interest bearing liabilities are secured over the future revenues of the Council.  

         

 PROVISIONS        

 Employee entitlements (including on 
costs) 

          616             86            489           133   

            616             86            489           133   
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
        

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2010 

        

Note 9 - RESERVES 
        

 ASSET  REVALUATION  
RESERVE 

 1/7/2009 Net Increments 
(Decrements) 

Transfers, 
Impairments 

30/6/2010  

  Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000  

 Land  2,298  4,892  - 7,190   

 Buildings & Structures  887  10,867  - 11,754   

 Road Infrastructure  28,409  - - 28,409   

 Stormwater Drains  963  825  - 1,788   

 Water Supply  391  - - 391   

 CWMS  4,792  - - 4,792   

 Other Assets  72  - - 72   

 TOTAL  37,812  16,584  - 54,396   

 2009 Totals  37,812  - - 37,812   

        

 OTHER  RESERVES  1/7/2009 Transfers to 
Reserve 

Transfers 
from 

Reserve 

30/6/2010  

  Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000  

 Peake Special Purpose Reserve  17  - - 17   

 CWMS Reserve  357  - (145 ) 212   

 Tailem Bend Development 
Reserve 

 134  - - 134   

 Coonalpyn Desert Harmony  6  - (6 ) -   

 Water Schemes Reserve  56  17  - 73   

 Meals on Wheels Replacement  8  - - 8   

 Coonalpyn Downs Special 
Purpose 

 25  - - 25   

 Tintinara Airfield  6  - (6 ) -   

 Tintinara Health & Recreation 
Centre 

 1  - (1 ) -   

 CDIBA Trust Fund  2  - - 2   

 Open Space Trust Fund  35  1  - 36   

 Lake & Coorong Conservation  1  - (1 ) -  

 Ashville Hall Reserve  12  - - 12   

 Committed Funds Reserve   348  - 348   

 TOTAL  OTHER  
RESERVES 

 660  366  (159 ) 867   

 2009 Totals  627  33  - 660   
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 Note 9 (Cont) - RESERVES  

 PURPOSES OF RESERVES  

        

 Asset Revaluation Reserve       

 The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements arising from changes in fair value of 
non-current assets (less any subsequent impairment losses, where applicable).   

 Peake Special Purpose Reserve     

 Contains the surplus funds from the sale of Sherlock House and the reserve will be used for future works in the 
Peake area. 

 CWMS Reserves       

 Contains the surplus funds from the various CWMS schemes and the reserve funds will be used for future 
CWMS infrastructure works. 

 Tailem Bend Development Reserve      
 Contains the surplus funds from the sale of vacant land in Tailem Bend. The reserve is used for the purpose of 

the Tailem Bend foreshore development. 

 Coonalpyn Desert Harmony        
 Contains the surplus funds from the Desert Harmony Project. The reserve is to be used on development in 

Coonalpyn. 

 Water Schemes Reserve       
 Contains the surplus funds from the various water schemes and the reserve is to be used on future 

infrastructure works. 

 Meals on Wheels Replacement Reserve     
 Contains funds that are to be utilised for health related issues.     

 Coonalpyn Downs Special Purpose Reserve     
 Contains the surplus funds from the sale of a Council House the reserve funds that are to be utilised for projects 

in the Coonalpyn Downs area. 

 Tintinara Airfield Reserve       
 Contains the surplus funds from the sale of land at the airport. The reserve funds are to be utilised for future 

Airport Infrastructure works. 

 Tintinara Health & Recreation Centre Reserve     
 Contains the surplus funds to be utilised for future works at the Tintinara Health and Recreation centre. 

 CDIBA Trust Fund Reserve       
 Contains the surplus funds from the Coonalpyn Downs Basketball Association to be held in trust until the 

Basketball team is reformed.  

 Open Space Trust Fund Reserve    
 Contains the funds from the Open Space contributions from developers as per the development Act. The 

reserve is to be used for the establishment of a new open space reserve.  

 Lake & Coorong Conservation Reserve    
 Contains the balance of the foreshore fund, to be used on future works on the foreshore.   

 Ashville Hall Reserve       
 Contains the surplus funds from the sale of the property to be used on future projects in the area.   
 Committed Funds Reserve     
 Contains the unexpended funds from various projects that are to be spent in the following year.   
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2010 
       

Note 10 -  ASSETS  SUBJECT  TO  RESTRICTIONS 

       

 The uses of the following assets are restricted, wholly or partially, by legislation or other externally imposed requirements. The 
assets are required to be utilised for the purposes for which control was transferred to Council, or for which the revenues were 
originally obtained. 

     
   2010  2009  

 CASH  &  FINANCIAL  ASSETS Notes $'000  $'000  

 Unexpended amounts received from State 
Government 

 17  -  

 TOTAL ASSETS SUBJECT TO EXTERNALLY IMPOSED 
RESTRICTIONS 

17  -  

       

 The following liabilities, included in Note 8, may be discharged from restricted assets in the first instance.  

       

 Payables 8 17  -  

   17  -  

       

 The restriction relates to grants funds received that if not spent will be required to be repaid.    
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
       

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2010 
       

Note 11 - RECONCILIATION TO CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
       

 (a)      Reconciliation of Cash      

 Cash Assets comprise highly liquid investments with short periods to maturity subject to insignificant risk of changes of value. 
Cash at the end of the reporting period as shown in the Cash Flow Statement is reconciled to the related items in the Balance 
Sheet as follows: 

       

   2010  2009  

  Notes $'000  $'000  

 Total cash & equivalent assets 5              48            1,685   

 Balances per Cash Flow Statement               48            1,685   

       

 (b)  Reconciliation of Change in Net Assets to Cash from Operating Activities  

                   

 Net Surplus (Deficit)           2,094              947   
 Non-cash items in Income Statement      

 - Depreciation, amortisation & impairment              2,609               2,761   

 - Equity movements in equity accounted investments                            
(increase) decrease 

                    3                   (26)  

 - Net increase (decrease) in unpaid employee benefits                 113                        -   

 - Non-cash asset acquisitions             (1,388)                       -   

 - Grants for capital acquisitions treated as Investing Activity               (574)                       -   

 - Net (Gain) Loss on Disposals                  198                   225   

               3,055               3,907   

 Add (Less): Changes in Net Current Assets      

 - Net (increase) decrease in receivables                (540)                  (77)  

 - Net (increase) decrease in inventories                      5                      (2)  

 - Net increase (decrease) in trade & other payables                  454                 (133)  

 Net Cash provided by (or used in) operations             2,974               3,695   

       

 (c)      Non-Cash Financing and Investing 
Activities 

     

 Acquisition of assets by means of:      

 - Physical resources received free of charge 3          1,388                   -   

 Amounts recognised in Income Statement           1,388                   -   

       

 (d)      Financing Arrangements      

 Unrestricted access was available at balance date to the following lines of credit:  

 Bank Overdrafts               20                20   

 Corporate Credit Cards               35                35   

       

 The bank overdraft facilities may be drawn at any time and may be terminated by the bank without notice. Council also 
has immediate access to a short-term draw-down facility, and variable interest rate borrowings under a cash advance 
facility, both from the Local Government Finance Authority of SA. 

 

 



 

Annual Financial Statements 2009-2010 
-27- 

             

             

COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL  

             

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

for the year ended 30 June 2010  

             

Note 12 - FUNCTIONS 
             

  INCOMES, EXPENSES AND ASSETS HAVE BEEN DIRECTLY ATTRIBUTED TO THE FOLLOWING FUNCTIONS & ACTIVITIES  

 FUNCTION INCOME EXPENSES OPERATING 
SURPLUS (DEFICIT) 

GRANTS  INCLUDED 
IN INCOME 

TOTAL ASSETS HELD 
(CURRENT & NON-

CURRENT)  

 

  ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL  

  2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009  

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000  

 Governance    -  (30) 702 611  (702)  (641) -  (30)                    - 1,046  

 Corporate Services   6,742 7,107 1,570 1,329 5,172 5,778 1,874 2,414 1,829          3,033  

 Development Services  1,087 795 1,577 1,535  (490)  (740) 885 643  - 25  

 Asset Services 1,983 2,389 5,633 5,636  (3,650)  (3,247) 2,035 1,970          85,206        63,041  

                                             

 TOTALS        9,812   10,261        9,482     9,111          330       1,150     4,794     4,997        87,035     67,145  

             

 Excludes net gain (loss) on disposal or revaluation of assets, net gain (loss) from joint ventures & associated entities, amounts received specifically for new or upgraded assets and 
physical resources received free of charge. 
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2010 

 
Note 12 (cont) - COMPONENTS OF FUNCTIONS 
 
 
The activities relating to Council functions are as follows: 
Governance 

      Governance, Administration, Elected Members, Tourism, and Other Economic Development. 

 
Corporate Services 

Organisational, Support Services, Accounting/Finance, Payroll, Housing for Council Employees, Human 
Resources, Information Technology, Communication, Rates Administration, Records, Occupancy, Contract 
Management, Customer Service, Other Support Services, Revenues, LGGC – General Purpose, and 
Separate and Special Rates. 

 
Development Services 

Building Control, Town Planning, Health Inspection, Parking Control, Other Regulatory Services , 
Immunisation Community Support, Youth Services, Home Assistance Scheme, Other Library Services, 
Landcare, Natural Resource Management Levy, and Other Environment. 
 

Asset Services 
Caravan Parks Private Works, Property Portfolio, Sewerage/CWMS, Water Supply – Domestic, Jetties, 
Other Marine Facilities, Parks and Gardens, Other Fire Protection, Aerodrome, Bridges, Footpaths and 
Kerbing, Roads – sealed, Roads – formed, Roads – natural formed, Roads – unformed, Traffic 
Management, LGGC – roads (formula funded), Other Transport, Dog and Cat Control, Plant Hire & Depot, 
Public Conveniences, Car Parking – non-fee-paying, Cemeteries / Crematoria Waste Management, 
Domestic Waste, Green Waste, Recycling, Transfer Stations, Waste Disposal Facility, Other Waste 
Management Stormwater and Drainage, Street Cleaning, Street Lighting and Streetscaping. 
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
         

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2010 

         

Note 13 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
         
 Recognised Financial Instruments 

 Bank, Deposits at Call, Short 
Term Deposits 

Accounting Policy: Carried at lower of cost and net realisable value; Interest is 
recognised when earned. 

   Terms & conditions: Short term deposits have an average maturity of 1 day and average 
interest rates of 4.5% (2009: 1 day, 4%). 

   Carrying amount: approximates fair value due to the short term to maturity. 

 Receivables - Rates & 
Associated Charges (including 
legals & penalties for late 
payment) 

Accounting Policy: Carried at nominal values less any allowance for doubtful debts.  An 
allowance for doubtful debts is recognised (and re-assessed annually) when collection in 
full is no longer probable. 

   Terms & conditions:  Secured over the subject land, arrears attract interest of 2% (2009: 
2%)  Although Council is not materially exposed to any individual debtor, credit risk 
exposure is concentrated within the Council's boundaries in the State. 

   Carrying amount: approximates fair value (after deduction of any allowance). 

 Receivables - Fees & other 
charges 

Accounting Policy: Carried at nominal values less any allowance for doubtful debts.  An 
allowance for doubtful debts is recognised (and re-assessed annually) when collection in 
full is no longer probable. 

   Terms & conditions:  Unsecured, and do not bear interest.  Although Council is not 
materially exposed to any individual debtor, credit risk exposure is concentrated within the 
Council's boundaries. 

   Carrying amount: approximates fair value (after deduction of any allowance). 

 Receivables - other levels of 
government 

Accounting Policy: Carried at nominal value. 

   Terms & conditions: Amounts due have been calculated in accordance with the terms 
and conditions of the respective programs following advice of approvals, and do not bear 
interest.  All amounts are due by Departments and Agencies of the Governments of the 
Commonwealth & State. 

   Carrying amount: approximates fair value. 

 Receivables - Retirement Home 
Contributions 

Accounting Policy: Carried at nominal values less any allowance for doubtful debts.  An 
allowance for doubtful debts is recognised (and re-assessed annually) when collection in 
full is no longer probable. 

   Terms & conditions: Amounts due have been calculated in accordance with the terms 
and conditions of the respective legislation. 

   Carrying amount: approximates fair value (after deduction of any allowance). 

 Liabilities - Creditors and 
Accruals 

Accounting Policy: Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for 
goods and services received, whether or not billed to the Council. 

   Terms & conditions: Liabilities are normally settled on 30 day terms. 

   Carrying amount: approximates fair value. 

 Liabilities - Retirement Home 
Contributions 

Accounting Policy: To avoid inconvenience when complying with the separate audit 
requirements imposed by the relevant legislation, amounts are carried at nominal values. 

   Terms & conditions: Pursuant to Commonwealth legislation certain intending residents 
are required to contribute amounts on an interest free basis.  The amounts are subject to 
certain deductions as prescribed by the legislation, the balance being repaid on 
termination of tenancy. 

   Carrying amount: approximates fair value for short tenancies; may be non-materially 
over-stated for longer tenancies. 

 Liabilities - Interest Bearing 
Borrowings 

Accounting Policy: Carried at the principal amounts.  Interest is charged as an expense 
as it accrues. 

   Terms & conditions: secured over future revenues, borrowings are repayable (describe 
basis); interest is charged at fixed (or variable - describe) rates between l% and m% 
(2009: n% and p%) 

   Carrying amount: approximates fair value. 

 Liabilities - Finance Leases Accounting Policy: accounted for in accordance with AASB 117. 
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
         

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2010 

         
 Note 13 (cont) - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 Liquidity Analysis 

 2010 Due < 1 year Due > 1 
year; < 5 

years 

Due > 5 
years 

Total 
Contractual 
Cash Flows 

Carrying 
Values 

 

 Financial Liabilities $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000  
        
 Payables 1,004  - 142  1,146             1,146   

 Current Borrowings - - - -                     -   
 Non-Current Borrowings 102  263  1,053  1,418             1,005   

 Total 1,106  263  1,195  2,564             2,151   

           
 2009 Due < 1 year Due > 1 

year; < 5 
years 

Due > 5 
years 

Total 
Contractual 
Cash Flows 

Carrying 
Values 

 

 Financial Liabilities $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000  
        
 Payables 529  - 142  671                  671   

 Current Borrowings - - - -                       -   
 Non-Current Borrowings 154  178  156  488                  377   

 Total 683  178  298  1,159               1,048   

           
 The following interest rates were applicable to Council's borrowings at balance date:  
         

   30 June 2010   30 June 2009    

   Weighted 
Average 

Interest Rate  

 Carrying 
Value  

 Weighted 
Average 

Interest Rate  

 Carrying 
Value  

  

   %  $'000  %  $'000   

 Other Variable Rates 4.5         1,909  4   720    

 Fixed Interest Rates 6.36            242  6.33               328    

            2,151              1,048    

             

 Net Fair Value       
 All carrying values approximate fair value for all recognised financial instruments.  There is no recognised market for the 

financial assets of the Council. 

     
 Risk Exposures       
 Credit Risk represents the loss that would be recognised if counterparties fail to perform as contracted.  The maximum credit 

risk on financial assets of the Council is the carrying amount, net of any allowance for doubtful debts.  All Council investments 
are made with the SA Local Government Finance Authority and are guaranteed by the SA Government.  Except as detailed in 
Notes 5 & 6 in relation to individual classes of receivables, exposure is concentrated within the Council's boundaries, and there 
is no material exposure to any individual debtor. 

  

 Market Risk is the risk that fair values of financial assets will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices.  All of Council's 
financial assets are denominated in Australian dollars and are not traded on any market, and hence neither market risk nor 
currency risk apply. 

         
 Liquidity Risk is the risk that Council will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations with financial liabilities.  In accordance with 

the model Treasury Policy (LGA Information Paper 15), liabilities have a range of maturity dates based on cash inflows.  
Council also has available a range of bank overdraft and short-term draw down facilities that it can access. 

  
 Interest Rate Risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  Council has a 

balance of both fixed and variable interest rate borrowings and investments.  Cash flow fluctuations are managed holistically in 
seeking to minimise interest costs over the longer term in a risk adverse manner. 
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
       

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2010 

       

Note 14 - COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE 
       
   2010  2009  
  Notes $'000  $'000  
 Capital Commitments      
 Capital expenditure committed for at the reporting date but not recognised in the financial statements as liabilities: 

       
 CWMS           1,276   -  
 Plant & Equipment  -           177   

            1,276            177   

 These expenditures are payable:      
 Not later than one year  1,276   177   
 Later than one year and not later than 5 years  -  -  
 Later than 5 years  -  -  

            1,276            177   

       
 Other Expenditure Commitments      
 Other expenditure committed for (excluding inventories) at the reporting date but not recognised in the financial  

 statements as liabilities:      
       
 Waste Management Services             149   199   
 Employee Remuneration Contracts             808   -  
 Information Technology Services             330   -  

            1,287            199   

 These expenditures are payable:      
 Not later than one year             490              50   
 Later than one year and not later than 5 years             797            149   
 Later than 5 years  -  -  

            1,287            199   
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
         

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2010 
         

Note 15 - FINANCIAL  INDICATORS 

         

   2010  2009  2008  

 These Financial Indicators have been calculated in accordance with Information Paper 9 Local Government 
Financial Indicators prepared as part of the LGA Financial Sustainability Program for the Local Government 
Association of South Australia.  Detailed methods of calculation are set out in the SA Model Statements. 

 

         

 Operating Surplus  330   1,150   997   

 An Operating Surplus (Deficit) arises when operating revenue exceeds (is less than) operating expenses for the year 
before capital amounts. 

 

         
 Adjusted Operating Surplus  975   505   997   

 In June 2009 the Commonwealth Government made an advance payment approximately equal to one quarter of the 2009/10 
Financial Assistance Grant (see Note 3).  This income has materially distorted the amount of the Operating Result for both the 
2008/09 and 2009/10 reporting periods. The Adjusted Operating Surplus and Adjusted Operating Surplus Ratio adjust for this 
distortion. 

  

 Operating Surplus Ratio  7%  26%  23%  

 This ratio expresses the operating surplus as a percentage of general and other rates, net of NRM levy.   

         

 Adjusted Operating Surplus Ratio  21%   11%   23%   

 This ratio expresses the operating surplus as a percentage of general and other rates, net of NRM levy adjusted for advance 
payment of the Financial Assistance Grant (Note 3). 

         

 Net Financial Liabilities  1,513  (601)  (1,165)  

 Net Financial Liabilities are defined as total liabilities less financial assets (excluding equity accounted investments in Council 
businesses). 

         

 Net Financial Liabilities Ratio  16%  -6%  -12%  

 Net Financial Liabilities Ratio is expressed as total liabilities less financial assets (excluding equity accounted investments 
in Council businesses) divided by Total Operating Revenue less the NRM Levy. 

 

         

 Interest Cover Ratio  0.1%  (0.7%)  (1.3%)  

         

 Interest Cover Ratio is Net Interest Expense divided by Total Operating Revenue less NRM Levy and Investment Interest.  

         

 Asset Sustainability Ratio  68%  125%  127%  

 Net asset renewals expenditure is defined as net capital expenditure on the renewal and replacement of existing assets, and 
excludes new capital expenditure on the acquisition of additional assets divided by depreciation expense.. 

      

 Asset Consumption Ratio  71%  81%  84%  

 Total carrying value of depreciable assets divided by total reported value of depreciable assets before accumulated 
depreciation. 
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
        

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2010 
        

Note 16  - UNIFORM  PRESENTATION  OF  FINANCES 

        

 The following is a high level summary of both operating and capital investment activities of the Council prepared on a 
simplified Uniform Presentation Framework basis.  All Councils in South Australia have agreed to summarise annual budgets 
and long-term financial plans on the same basis. The arrangements ensure that all Councils provide a common 'core' of 
financial information, which enables meaningful comparisons of each Council's finances.  

        

  2010  2009  

  $'000  $'000  

        

 Income  9,812    10,261   

 less Expenses  9,482    9,111   

   330    1,150   

        

 less Net Outlays on Existing Assets       

 Capital Expenditure on renewal and replacement 
of Existing Assets 

2,874    4,595    

 less Depreciation, Amortisation and Impairment 2,609    2,761    

 less Proceeds from Sale of Replaced Assets 1,089    1,131    

   (824)   703   

        

 less Net Outlays on New and Upgraded Assets       

 Capital Expenditure on New and Upgraded Assets 
(including investment property & real estate developments) 

3,850    1,005    

 less Amounts received specifically for New and 
Upgraded Assets 

574    -    

 less Proceeds from Sale of Surplus Assets 
(including investment property and real estate developments) 

-    -    

   3,276    1,005   

        

 Net Lending / (Borrowing) for Financial Year  (2,122)   (558)  
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
      

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2010 
      

Note 17  -  OPERATING  LEASES 

      

 Lease payment commitments of Council     

      

 Council has entered into a non-cancellable operating lease for the rental of business premises 
at Willow Street, Tailem Bend. No contingent rentals were paid during the current or previous 
reporting periods. The lease does not impose any additional restrictions on Council in relation 
to additional debt or further leasing and there are also no escalation clauses. Council has a 
right of renewal of the lease for a further 3 plus 3 years and there is an option to purchase the 
building within the lease. 

 

      

      

 Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases that have not been recognised in the 
financial statements are as follows: 

 

  2010  2009  

  $'000  $'000  

 Not later than one year              46                   -   

 Later than one year and not later than 5 years              92                   -   

 Later than 5 years                 -                   -   

             138                   -   
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2010 

 
Note 18 – SUPERANNUATION 

 
The Council makes employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to the Local 
Government Superannuation Scheme. The Scheme has two types of membership, each of which is 
funded differently. Permanent and contract employees of the South Australian Local Government sector 
have the option to contribute to Marketlink and/or Salarylink. All other employees (including casuals) have 
all contributions allocated to Marketlink. 

Marketlink (Accumulation Fund) Members  

Marketlink receives both employer and employee contributions on a progressive basis. Employer 
contributions are based on a fixed percentage of employee earnings in accordance with superannuation 
guarantee legislation (9% in 2009/10 for Marketlink members and 3% for Salarylink members; 9% and 
3% respectively in 2008/09).  No further liability accrues to the employer as the superannuation benefits 
accruing to employees are represented by their share of the net assets of the Fund. 

Salarylink (Defined Benefit) Members 

Salarylink is a defined benefit scheme where the benefit payable is based on a formula determined by the 
member’s contribution rate, number of years of contribution and final average salary. Council makes 
employer contributions to Salarylink as determined by the Scheme's Trustee based on advice from the 
Scheme's Actuary. The rate is currently 6% (6% in 2008/2009) of “superannuation” salary. Given that 
Employer contributions are based on a fixed percentage of employee earnings in accordance with 
superannuation guarantee legislation, the remaining 3% for Salarylink members is allocated to their 
Marketlink account. Employees also make member contributions to the Fund. As such, assets 
accumulate in the Fund to meet the member's benefits, as defined in the Trust Deed, as they accrue. 

The Salarylink Plan is a multi-employer sponsored plan. As the Fund's assets and liabilities are pooled 
and are not allocated by employer, the Actuary is unable to allocate benefit liabilities, assets and costs 
between employers. As provided by AASB 119.32(b), Council does not use defined benefit accounting for 
these contributions. 

The most recent full actuarial investigation conducted by the Scheme's actuary, L C Brett, BSc., FIA, 
FIAA, of Brett and Watson Pty Ltd as at 30 June 2009, the Trustee has determined that the current 
funding arrangements are adequate for the expected Defined Benefit Plan liabilities.  However, future 
financial and economic circumstances may require changes to Council’s contribution rates at some future 
time.  
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
      

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2010 
      

Note 19 - JOINT  VENTURES & ASSOCIATED  ENTITIES 
      

 All joint ventures and associated entities are required to prepare Annual Financial Statements 
that comply with the SA Local Government Model Financial Statements. 

 

      

 Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme (MMCTS)    

 The MMCTS is a section 43 Regional Subsidiary of the following local government Councils: 
Coorong District Council, District Council of Karoonda East Murray, and the Southern Mallee 
District Council. The purpose of the regional subsidiary is to provide community transport to 
residents in the three district areas. 

 

      

  2010  2009  

 Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme 
(MMCTS) 

    

 Council's respective interests are:     

     - interest in outputs of the joint operation 33%  33%  

     - ownership interest in the joint operation 33%  33%  

     - the proportion of voting power in the joint operation 10%  10%  

      

 Movements in Investment in Joint Operation $'000  $'000  

      Opening Balance 27   22   

      Share in Operating Result (3)  5   

      Share in Equity of Joint Operation 24   27   
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2010 

 
Note 20  -  CONTINGENCIES  &  ASSETS  &  LIABILITIES  NOT  

RECOGNISED  IN  THE  STATEMENT  OF  FINANCIAL  POSITION 
 
The following assets and liabilities do not qualify for recognition in the Statement of Financial Position but 
knowledge of those items is considered relevant to user of the financial report in making and evaluating 
decisions about the allocation of scarce resources. 

 
1. LAND UNDER ROADS  

As reported elsewhere in these Statements, Council is of the opinion that it is not possible to 
attribute a value sufficiently reliably for these assets to qualify for recognition, and accordingly land 
under roads has not been recognised in these reports.  Land acquired for road purposes during the 
year is initially recognised at cost, but transferred to fair value at reporting date, effectively writing 
off the expenditure. 
 
At reporting date, Council controlled 1,884 km of road reserves of average width 20 metres. 
 

2. POTENTIAL INSURANCE LOSSES 
Council is a multi-purpose organisation providing a large range of building, parks infrastructure, 
playgrounds and other facilities accessible to the public.  At any time, it is likely that claims will have 
been made against Council that remain unsettled. 
 
Council insures against all known insurable risks using a range of insurance policies, each of which 
is subject to a deductible "insurance excess", the amount of which varies according to the class of 
insurance. 
 
Council has recognised the potential losses arising from claims known at reporting date based on 
average historical net cost (including insurance excess) of similar types of claims.  Other potential 
claims not reported to Council may have existed at reporting date. 
 

3. BANK GUARANTEES 
Council has guaranteed certain loans and other banking facilities advanced to community 
organisations and sporting bodies, amounting to $0 (2009: $0) at reporting date. 
 
Council does not expect to incur any loss arising from these guarantees. 

4. LEGAL EXPENSES 
Council is the planning consent authority for its area under the Development Act 1993 (as 
amended).  Pursuant to that Act, certain persons aggrieved by a planning decision of the Council 
may appeal.  It is normal practice that parties bear their own legal costs.  At the date of these 
reports, Council had notice of nil appeals against planning decisions made prior to reporting date.  
All known costs have been recognised, but the amount of further costs cannot be known until the 
appeals are determined. 
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 June 2010 
 
 

STATEMENT BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
 
 

 
I, Michael Boyd the person for the time being occupying the position of 
Chief Executive Officer of Coorong District Council, do herby state that the 
Financial Statements of the Council for the year ended 30 June 2010 are to 
the best of my knowledge presented fairly, and in accordance with 
accounting procedures which have been maintained in accordance with the 
Local Government Act 1999 and the Local Government (Financial 
Management) Regulations 1999 made under that Act. 
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL  
 
 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 June 2010 

 
 

CERTIFICATION OF AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE 
 
 

 
To the best of our knowledge and belief, we confirm that, for the purpose 
of the audit of the Coorong District Council for the year ended 30 June 
2010, the Council’s Auditor, HLB Mann Judd, has maintained its 
independence in accordance with the requirements of the Local 
Government Act 1999 and the Local Government (Financial 
Management) Regulations 1999 made under that Act. 
   
This statement is prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
Regulation 16A(2) Local Government (Financial Management) 
Regulations 1999. 
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THE MURRAY AND MALLEE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION 

        ANNUAL REPORT 2009-2010 
 
 
 
 
 
 

      Comprising: 

 Berri Barmera Council: (BBC) 
 
 Coorong District Council: (CDC) 
 
 District Council of Karoonda East Murray: (DCKEM) 
 
 District Council of Loxton Waikerie: (DCLW) 
 
 Mid Murray Council: (MMC) 
 
 The Rural City of Murray Bridge: (RCMB) 
 
 Renmark Paringa Council: (RPC), and the 
 
 Southern Mallee District Council: (SMDC) 



 

 

 
PRESIDENT’S ANNUAL REPORT 

 

 
President, Cr. Leon Stasinowsky. 

 

Now in my third term as President of the Association, I have the greatest of pleasure in providing the 
following President’s Annual Report for the period 2009 to 2010. 

The year’s activities have not only concentrated on the core activities of the Association as detailed in 
the Annual Business Plan, but also contended with an increasing number of new issues imposed on 
Local Government by external conditions and increased governmental regulations, provisions and 
initiatives. 

However, concentration on these matters has always been underpinned by the Association’s desire to 
ensure any activities are to result in ultimate benefits to the Community. 

Once again, I take this opportunity to sincerely thank Vice President, Mayor Ian Mann, OAM, Member 
Council Mayors, Delegates, both past and present and Member Council CEO’s, many of whom have 
provided local government representation on internal and external committees and working parties.  

Under increasing local Council workloads, I am grateful for their involvement and urge them to 
continue into the future. 

The main matters and issues addressed over the past year are summarized as follows: 

Projects and activities completed: 

Expansion of Member Council representation on the Association’s Regional Transport Strategy 
Committee. 

Review of the Association’s Strategic Plan 2008-2011. 

Completion of the NRM/Local Government Protocol – Memorandum of Understanding. 

2010-2011 Special Local Roads Funding Submissions. 

Successful applications for Special Local Roads funding totaling $1.5m for the 2009-2010 funding 
round. 



 

 

District Council of Loxton Waikerie, Southern Mallee District Council and Association supplementary 
funding with $310k Broadband Development Fund funding for regional Broadband Project stage 6. 

Submissions made to the LGA for changes to the Native Vegetation Act. 

Completion of arrangements with Member Councils allowing the SA MDB NRM Board to erect 
signage on land accessed for NRM works. 

Further expansion of the Association’s website. 

 

Projects and activities forwarded: 

Consideration by Councils on suitability of the REMPLAN Program to assist with forward planning of 
Council activities. 

Further facilitation of the potential review of the River Murray 1956 Flood Line. 

Continued provision of Local Government representation on external Boards and Committees 
including the SA MDB NRM Board, the LGA State Executive Committee, the South Australian 
Regional Organisation of Councils (SAROC), the Regional Development Australia Intergovernmental 
Working Group, the Regional Fire Prevention Committee, the River Murray and Lower Lakes Risk 
Assessment Committee, the SAMRIC Management Committee, the South Australian Fruit Fly 
Standing Committee, the Murray and Mallee Country Arts Board, the LGA Native Vegetation Working 
Party, the Riverland Drought Taskforce and the LGA’s Land Access Working Party. 
 

Further facilitation of Regional Waste Management strategies. 

Ongoing support and lobbying of the State Government to expand governmental assets availability for 
Community Transport needs. 

Forwarding of the Rural Property Addressing Standard program. 

Facilitation of aggregation of Storm-water Harvesting Project funding submissions. 

Continuation of efforts to ensure completion of the review of the Impounding Act. 

Lobbying of State Government for continuation of funding support for both the Riverland and 
Murraylands Drought Offices. 

Further consideration and input provided for the revised Heavy Vehicle Access Framework (HVAF) 
project. 

Support provided for the Federal Government’s Adelaide Rail Freight Study Project and the Common 
Purpose Group to forward rail freight integration and the formation of an intermodal transport hub at 
Monarto. 

 

New Projects and activities: 

Facilitation of incorporation of the Federal Government’s Area Consultative Committees, the 
Murraylands Regional Development Board and the Riverland Development Corporation into the new 



 

 

Regional Development Australia framework, including Local Government representation 
determination. 

Facilitation of the formation of the new Zone Emergency Management Committee, including Local 
Government representations as Chair and Committee Members. 

Support and facilitation provided for the Strengthening Basin Communities Program, Planning 
Element funding submissions, with subsequent approval of $1.6m funding availability from the Federal 
Government along with further contributions, taking the total project funding to $2.4m. 

Consideration of future Charter amendments. 

Submissions made to the Federal Government requesting changes to the proposed Independent 
Youth Allowance. 

Consideration of changes made and implications to Local Government on School/Community Pool 
Maintenance funding. 

Provision of input into the MDBA Sustainable Diversion Limits survey. 

Resolution to completely review the Association’s Regional Transport Strategy and awarding of the 
contract to undertake the project in the latter half of 2010. 

Facilitation of a Community Liaison appointment to assist with the changeover from analogue to digital 
TV reception. 

Submission forwarded to DTEI for increased maintenance and reconstruction of sections of the 
Karoonda Highway. 

Provision of Local Government representation on the Riverbank Collapse Hazard Advisory Group. 

Lobbying of the MDBA for the formation of a regional office within the Murray and Mallee region. 

Provision of forum facilities for Local Government input into the LGA State Election Platform. 

Representation of Local Government views on the Zero Waste SA Regional Implementation Program 
review.   

I will also take this opportunity to recognize the support and timely information provided to the 
Association over the past year from the Local Government Association of SA, specially mentioning the 
efforts of Wendy Campana, the LGA SA Executive Director, Barry Parsons, Manager - Member 
Services & Strategic Projects and more recently, Chris Russell, Director, Government Relations and 
Communications. 

I would once again thank our CEO, Peter Campbell for his commitment and support over the past 
year.  

2010 is the year of the periodical Local Government Elections and there is the potential that there may 
be a number of new Association Delegates in the future. In accordance with the Association’s Charter 
for a Regional Subsidiary, I will continue on in the term as President until the General Meeting to be 
held on the 2nd December, 2010. 



 

 

I have noted that the Association’s current Strategic Plan is scheduled for a complete and thorough 
review early 2011, which will provide new Delegates the opportunity to influence the future direction of 
the Association’s activities. 

Over the past three years, and now more specifically for the past twelve months, I look back with 
satisfaction on the achievements of the Association and thank all Delegates for the opportunity 
afforded to me being your President.  

 

Cr. Leon Stasinowsky.  

      President, 2009 – 2010. 

      Murray and Mallee Local Government Association. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

OVERVIEW  OF THE REGION. 

 

 

 

 

 

The Region is located in the Murraylands Statistical Region in eastern South Australia and is 
dissected by the River Murray. It covers a large area in excess of 50,000 km2 taking in the areas from 
the Riverland in the north, agriculture areas in the central, west, south and east along the Victorian 
border, and south westerly to the coast and lakes. Rural based communities throughout the area 
share a common interest in agriculture/horticulture, with towns primarily servicing the farming and 
horticultural communities and supporting a growing tourism sector. The Region has a population base 
of approximately 68,000 (approx. 4.6% of the State population). 

The Murray River, and its associated wetlands and wildlife, Lake Bonney and a number of 
National/Conservation Parks, support a range of rare and endangered plant and animal species, and 
are major tourist attractions throughout parts of the Riverland and Mallee. Towards the coast, the 
Coorong National Park, Lake Alexandrina and the shores of Lake Albert are all well known tourist 
attractions, particularly for recreational boating and fishing. 

Murray Bridge provides regional services to the lower parts of the Region and supports both an 
industrial and commercial base. 

The Murray River travels from the north, and passing through seven of the member Councils, flows 
into Lake Alexandrina in the south. It supports a number of tourist and recreation activities, with a 
number of tourism vessels operating from centres along the river. 

The Region is serviced by the South Eastern Freeway, Princes, Dukes, Sturt and Mallee Highways, 
with the Berri (Loxton) to Murray Bridge Road providing a direct link diagonally across the Region. 

The Association works closely with its major regional partners - the Murray and Mallee Regional 
Coordination Network, and the Regional Development Australia (RDA) Murraylands and Riverland 
Board. 

 



 

 

ASSOCIATION PRESIDENCY. 
 
 
Cr. Leon Stasinowsky, Deputy Mayor of the District Council of Loxton Waikerie was re-elected 
President at the Annual General Meeting held at Berri on the 5th June, 2009 and Mayor Ian Mann 
OAM, Mid Murray Council was re-elected Vice President. The term of these positions, as per the 
provisions of the Association’s Charter, was for the ensuing 12 months plus an extra period up to the 
first General Meeting following the Local Government periodical elections (ie: December, 2010). 

 

 

 REPRESENTATION:  LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION OF SOUTH AUSTRALIA (LGA 
 SA). 

 Cr. Leon Stasinowsky and Mayor Ian Mann OAM continued to serve on the State Executive of the 
 Local Government Association of South Australia, with Mayor Allan Arbon, Rural City of Murray  Bridge, 
 as proxy. 

 

 ASSOCIATION:  CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER SERVICES. 

 The Chief Executive Officer services for the Association for the year were again provided by Peter 
 Campbell. 

 In accordance with a resolution of Member Council Delegates, the Chief Executive Officer 
 underwent performance review process in February, 2010, coinciding with the production of  the  
 Association’s draft 2010-2011 Annual Business Plan and draft 2010-2011 Budget. This process is now to 
 be undertaken annually In the June of each year.  

 The Review Panel consists of the President and Vice-President of the Association and  Dean  Gollan, 
 CEO Mid Murray Council and Barry Hurst, CEO of the Renmark Paringa Council. The Association has 
 noted that satisfactory Chief Executive Officer service has been provided.  

 

 CONSTITUTIONAL STRUCTURE OF THE ASSOCIATION. 

 

 The Association operated as a Regional Subsidiary under the transitional provisions of the Local 
 Government Act 1999 until December, 2001 with a formal Charter, agreed to by  Member Councils, 
 becoming effective on the 13th December, 2001.  

 

 To ensure legal compliance with the Local Government Act 1999, a review of the Charter took place in 
 2008-2009, the outcome being that it was considered by Delegates that no changes were deemed 
 necessary at that point in time. It should be noted that the Charter is scheduled to be revised in this 
 current calendar year. 

 The current Charter can be viewed on the Association’s website at www.mmlga.sa.gov.au 

 



 

 

 THE PURPOSE OF THE ASSOCIATION. 

 

 As a Regional Subsidiary of the Member Councils, the Association has as its governing  document,the 
 Charter gazetted on the 8th February, 2007 (reviewed June 2009) as provided for  under the Local 
 Government Act 1999. The purpose for which the Association has been established is to: 

 

 Undertake coordinating, advocacy and representational roles for its constituent 
Councils at a regional level. 

 

 Facilitate and coordinate activities of local government at a regional level related to 
environment, economic and social development with the object of achieving continual 
improvement for the benefit of the communities of its constituent Councils. 

 

 Develop, encourage, promote, foster and maintain consultation and cooperation and to 
strengthen the representation and status of local government when dealing with other 
levels of government, private enterprise and the community. 

 

 Develop further cooperation between its constituent Councils for the benefit of the 
communities in the region. 

 

 Develop and manage policies which guide the conduct of programs and projects in the 
region with the objective of securing the best outcomes for the communities in the 
region. 

 

 Undertake projects that benefit the region and its communities. 
 

 

 ASSOCIATION MEETINGS. 

 

 During 2009 – 2010, the Association has met bi-monthly for General Meetings. 

 Meetings of the Association were convened on: 

8th August, 2009 - General Meeting - at the Peake Sporting Club, Mallee Highway, Peake - the 
Coorong District Council as host. 

2nd October, 2009 - General Meeting - at the District Council of Karoonda East Murray Council 
Chamber, Karoonda - the District Council of Karoonda East Murray as host with the LGA SA Mutual 
Liability Scheme as sponsor. 

4th December, 2009 - General Meeting - at the District Council of Loxton Waikerie Council Chamber, 
East Terrace, Loxton - the Disrtict Council of Loxton Waikerie as host. 



 

 

5th February, 2010 - General Meeting - at the Mid Murray Council Offices, 49 Adelaide Road, 
Mannum - the Mid Murray Council as host. 

1st April, 2010 - General Meeting - at the Renmark Community and Civic Centre, Eighteenth Street, 
Renmark - the Renmark Paringa Council as host. 

4th June, 2010 - Annual General Meeting - at the Rural City of Murray Bridge Council Chamber, 2 
Seventh Street, Murray Bridge - the Rural City of Murray Bridge as host. 

 All Association Meetings, including Committee Meetings’ Agendas and Minutes are available for 
 viewing and or downloading from the Association’s website at www.mmlga.sa.gov.au  

 A number of guest speakers have made presentations to the Association meetings throughout the year. 
 They include: 

 Hon. Adrian Pederick, MP, Member for Hammond.   

 Hon. Ivan Venning, MP, Member for Schubert. 

 Hon. John Dawkins, MLC. 

 Brenton Lewis, CEO, RDA (Murraylands and Riverland) Board, previously the Murraylands Regional 
 Development Board. 

 Ray Najar, Murray Darling Association. 

 Paul Muskett, Regional Broadband Project Officer. 

 Supt. Ian Parrott, OIC, Murray and Mallee Local Service Area, SAPOL. 

 Robyn Daly, LGA Mutual Liability Scheme. 

 David Ball, InTrinsic. 

 David Semler, Strategic Purchasing. 

 Justin Dixon, SAMRIC, and 

 Jan Whittle, Dept. Land, Water, Biodiversity and Conservation. 

 

 Representatives of both the LGA and the Office of Local Government attended each meeting and 
 took  the opportunity to brief the Association of the relevant matters being addressed by their 
 respective bodies.  

 We acknowledge the support of Wendy Campana, Executive Director, LGA SA who has  been  ready to 
 assist the Region and ensure that the LGA SA has had a presence at our meetings. The Association has 
 also enjoyed a close working relationship with its State and Federal Members of Parliament, a number of 
 whom have been regular attendees at our meetings. 

 The President has continued the practice of giving each of our guests the opportunity to  address our 
 meetings briefly about matters and issues before them that may be of interest to the Association and 
 Member Councils. The contribution from all of the speakers, presenters and guests has kept the 



 

 

 Association and the Delegates abreast of a wide ranging number of issues that impact on Local 
 Government and the communities in the Region. 

 

 MEMBER COUNCIL DELEGATES TO THE ASSOCIATION. 

 

 The following are the current Delegates representing Member Councils as at the AGM of the 4th June, 
 2010: 

Berri Barmera Council (BBC): Mayor Peter Hunt, Deputy Mayor Trevor Chapple and David Beaton, 
CEO (proxy). 

Coorong District Council (CDC): Mayor Roger Strother, Deputy Mayor Paul Simmons and Cr. 
Sharon Bland (proxy). 

District Council of Karoonda East Murray (DCKEM): Mayor Kevin Burdett, Peter Smithson, CEO 
and Deputy Mayor Margaret Size (proxy). 

District Council of Loxton Waikerie (DCLW): Mayor Dean Maywald, Deputy Mayor Leon 
Stasinowsky, (President) and Peter Sellar, Acting CEO (proxy). 

Mid Murray Council (MMC): Mayor Ian Mann, Deputy Mayor David Burgess, Cr. Inez Bormann 
(proxy) and Dean Gollan, CEO (proxy).  

 

The Rural City of Murray Bridge (RCMB): Mayor Allan Arbon, Cr. Barry Laubsch, Cr. Milton 
Weinert, (proxy) and Damien Moloney, CEO (proxy). 

District Council of Renmark Paringa (RPC): Mayor Neil Martinson, Barry Hurst, CEO, Deputy 
Mayor Louis Dimou (proxy) and Robert Wood, Director Corporate and Community Services (proxy). 

Southern Mallee District Council (SMDC): Mayor George Gum, Cr. Robert Sexton, Cr. John Ramke 
(proxy) and Rod Ralph, CEO (proxy). 

 

 ASSOCIATION COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIPS. 

 

 The following are the current Association Committee Members as at the AGM of the 4th   June,  2010. 

Murray and Mallee Local Government Association Regional Waste Management Strategy 
Committee: 

President M&MLGA as Chair, Cr. Leon Stasinowsky. 

Cr. Barry Laubsch, Rural City of Murray Bridge. 

Barry Hurst, CEO, Renmark Paringa Council. (by virtue of position held). 



 

 

A representative from Coorong District Council. 

Brenton Lewis, CEO Murraylands Regional Development Board. 

Mayor Roger Strother, Coorong District Council. 

Murray Bartsch, Renmark Paringa Council. (by virtue of position held). 

Mayor Ian Mann, Mid Murray Council. 

Jon Fry, Works Manager, Mid Murray Council. (by virtue of position held). 

Peter Sellar, Acting CEO, District Council of Loxton Waikerie. (by virtue of position held). 

Peter Broughill, Works Manager, Southern Mallee District Council. (by virtue of position held). 

Peter Smithson, CEO, District Council of Karoonda East Murray - proxy John Claydon. (by virtue of 
positions held). 

Tom King, Manager Infrastructure Services, Berri Barmera Council. (by virtue of position held). 

David Beaton, CEO, Berri Barmera Council. (by virtue of position held). 

Martin Waddington, Environmental Services Manager, Rural City of Murray Bridge. (by virtue of 
position held). 

Tom Avery, Infrastructure Director, District Council of Loxton Waikerie. (by virtue of position held). 

Mayor George Gum, Southern Mallee District Council. 

Cr. Trevor Kerley, District Council of Karoonda East Murray. 

Justin Lang, Zero Waste SA. (external appointment). 

Marina Wagner, EPA. (external appointment). 
 

Murray and Mallee Local Government Association Regional Transport Strategy Committee: 

Mayor Ian Mann, Mid Murray Council, Chair. 

Cr. Leon Stasinowsky, President (ex officio). 

Peter Campbell, CEO, M&MLGA. 

Murray Bartsch - Renmark Paringa Council. 

Cr. Barry Fletcher - Berri Barmera Council. 

Tom Avery - District Council of Loxton Waikerie. 

Peter Smithson - District Council of Karoonda East Murray (Ron Palm - proxy). 

Martin Waddington - Rural City of Murray Bridge (David Allen - proxy). 



 

 

Peter Broughill - Southern Mallee District Council. 

A representative of Coorong District Council. 

Kate Daniels - Regional Development Australia (Murraylands and Riverland) Board. 

DTEI (Transport SA) - 2 nominees (external appointment). 
 
 
Murray and Mallee Local Government Association Broadband Steering Committee: 

Anthony McCabe, Southern Mallee District Council (by virtue of position held). 

Craig Chadwick, Mid Murray Council  (by virtue of position held). 

Cr. Leon Stasinowsky, President (ex officio). 

Peter Smithson, District Council of Karoonda East Murray (by virtue of position held). 

Peter Sellar, District Council of Loxton Waikerie (by virtue of position held) with proxy Nathan Wishart 
(by virtue of position held). 

Mayor Roger Strother, Coorong District Council. 

Brenton Lewis, Murraylands Regional Development Board (external appointment). 

Peter Triantafilou, DFEEST (external appointment). 
 
 
M&MLGA Transport Reference Group. - Community Transport: 

Peter Smithson, CEO, District Council of Karoonda East Murray. (by virtue of position held). 

A nomination by Berri Barmera Council. 
 
 
M&MLGA "Ensuring Local Government Services Provision" Working Group: 

Anthony McCabe - Southern Mallee District Council. 

Damien Moloney, CEO - Rural City of Murray Bridge.   

David Beaton, CEO - Berri Barmera Council. 

John Claydon - District Council of Karoonda East Murray. 

Peter Sellar, Acting CEO - District Council of Loxton Waikerie.   

Robert Wood- Renmark Paringa Council.   

Robin Bourne - Mid Murray Council. 

Michael Boyd - Coorong District Council. 



 

 

David Hitchcock - LGA (external appointment). 

Jane Gascoigne - PIRSA - OS/LGR (external appointment). 

Trevor Bennett - DTED (external appointment). 

 

  ASSOCIATION REPRESENTATION – OTHER BODIES. 

 During the year the Association has made and or continued the following appointments to  other 
 bodies, as at the AGM of the 4th June, 2010. 

LGA State Executive Committee: 

President, Cr. Leon Stasinowsky (by virtue of position held). 

Vice President, Mayor Ian Mann, Mid Murray Council (by virtue of position held). 

Proxy for President or Vice President, Mayor Allan Arbon, Rural City of Murray Bridge. 

 

South Australian Regional Organisation of Councils (SAROC): 

President, Cr. Leon Stasinowsky, DC Loxton Waikerie. (by virtue of position held). 

Vice President Mayor Ian Mann, OAM, Mid Murray Council (by virtue of position held). 

Proxy for President and or Vice President, Mayor Allan Arbon. 

CEO – Peter Campbell (by virtue of position held). 

 

SA MDB NRM Board: 
 
Rodney Ralph, CEO, Southern Mallee District Council. 
 
 
Regional Development Australia (Murraylands and Riverland) Board: 

Mayor Allan Arbon - Rural City of Murray Bridge. 

Deputy Mayor Dave Burgess - Mid Murray Council. 

Mayor Neil Martinson - Renmark Paringa Council. 

David Beaton - CEO, Berri Barmera Council. 
 
 
Regional Fire Prevention Committee: 
 
Mayor Ian Mann Mid Murray Council and Cr. Jodi Flavell - District Council of Loxton Waikerie. 
 



 

 

 
 
 
River Murray and Lower Lakes Risk Assessment Committee: 
 
Mayor Roger Strother, Coorong District Council. 
 
 
SAMRIC Management Committee: 
 
Neil Martinson, District Council of Loxton Waikerie. 
 
 
South Australian Fruit Fly Standing Committee: 
 
Cr.Les Hill, Berri Barmera Council. 
 
 
Murray and Mallee Zone Emergency Management Committee: 

Mayor Ian Mann OAM, Mid Murray Council - Chair. 

Mayor Peter Hunt - Berri Barmera Council. 

Damian Moloney, CEO, Rural City of Murray Bridge. 

Tom Avery, Director, Infrastructure Services, District Council of Loxton Waikerie. 

Manager, Asset Services, Coorong District Council. 

Harc Wordsworth, Manager, Environment and Planning, Southern Mallee District Council. 

Peter Broughill, Works Manager, Southern Mallee District Council. 

 

 EXECUTIVE MEETINGS. 

 

 The Executive Committee comprises of one Delegate from each Member Council. A Special 
 Executive  Committee meeting was held on the 26th August, 2009. Both the Agenda and Minutes 
 can be accessed  on the Association’s website at www.mmlga.sa.gov.au  

 

 GENERAL ACTIVITIES. 

 The Association undertakes a coordinating role, in conjunction with Member Councils, on their issues 
 and those raised by the Local Government Association of South Australia, the community, and other 
 relevant parties’ concerns and interests.  

 State and Federal Members of Parliament representing our Region have been briefed and  support 
 has been sought for issues raised. 



 

 

 Submissions and briefings undertaken include: 

 Submission for Special Local Roads applications for 2010-2011 funding round. 
 Submissions to the SAROC Committee, including, 

• Gazettal of Annual NRM Levies. 
• Digital TV. 
• Illegal Fencing on Road reserves. 
• School/Community Pool Maintenance Funding. 
• Recreational Vehicles on Public Land 
• Ensuring Local Government Services Provision Project. 

 Submission to Zero Waste SA for Regional Waste Strategy Implementation Program 
review. 

 Submission to the State Government to provide greater geographical broadband coverage 
for the region including $310k funding for the Southern Mallee region. 

 Submission to the LGA for changes to the Native Vegetation Act. 
 Submission to the State Government for continuation of funding for the Murraylands and 

Riverland Drought Offices. 
 Supportive submission provided for funding of the Strengthening Basin Communities 

Program. 
 Submissions to the Federal Government requesting changes to the Independent Youth 

Allowance. 
 Input provided into the Murray Darling Basin Authority Sustainable Diversion Limits survey. 
 Submission to the State Government for increased maintenance and reconstruction of 

sections of the Karoonda Highway. 
 Submission to the SA MDB NRM Board on Planning matters. 
 Ministerial submission made in respect to the requirement for Audit Committees resulting 

from Amendment to clause 13(2) of Schedule 2 – Exemption of a regional subsidiary from 
the requirement to establish an audit committee. 

 

The CEO has also attended several Forums, Workshops and Briefings throughout the year regarding 
evolving issues and to make contribution on behalf of the Association. These have included: 

 

 Murraylands Regional Coordination Network Workshop Meetings. 
 Federal, State and Local Government RDA Briefing Meetings (6). 
 Regional Development Australia Forums (4). 
 LGA State Executive Planning Workshop. 
 LGA President’s Forum. 
 SA MDB NRM Board’s Mayoral and CEO Forum. 
 SA MDB NRM Board “Strengthening Basin Communities” Planning Workshop. 
 LGA State Election Platform Forum. 
 Murray Darling Basin Authority Consultation Forum. 
 Dept. Broadband, Communication and Digital Economy Clever Networks and ABG 

Briefings. 
 LGA General Meeting and associated forums. 

 

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN REGIONAL ORGANISATION OF COUNCILS (SAROC). 

 

The President, Cr. Leon Stasinowsky, Vice President Mayor Ian Mann, OAM,  (Mayor Allan Arbon as 
proxy on occasions) and the Chief Executive Officer have attended SAROC meetings during the year. 



 

 

The meetings are usually held bi-monthly on the day preceding the meeting of the LGA State Executive. 

SAROC has a Memorandum of Understanding between Regional Local Government Associations and 
the Local Government Association of South Australia, which was completed in August, 2003. 

The Association has provided our regional input into many topics that are relevant to all communities 
across the State, some of which include: 

 

 Community Passenger Network Transport. 
 Regional Broadband Coverage. 
 Regional Development Australia. 
 Regional Drought Programs. 
 Off Road Motor Bike and Vehicle Use on Road Reserves. 
 Native Vegetation issues. 
 Regional Fire Danger Dates. 
 SAFECOM MoU for use of Council Assets. 
 Rural Property Addressing Standard. 
 NRM/LG Relationships. 
 Ensuring Local Government Services Provision Project. 
 SA State Government Shared Services Reform. 
 Regional Water-proofing. 
 Gazettal of Annual NRM Levies. 
 Digital TV. 

 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS TO 30TH JUNE, 2010. 

The audited Financial Statements are included at the rear of this report. Surplus cash flow funds have 
been deposited with the Local Government Finance Authority and drawn on when and as required. 

 

REGIONAL ENHANCEMENT AND CAPACITY BUILDING. 

The Association acknowledges and thanks the Local Government Research and Development Fund 
Scheme for their annual 2009-2010 grant of $33,661 to the Association. 

This grant has ensured that the Association has been able to undertake regional enhancement and 
capacity building projects throughout the year. 

 

INFORMING COUNCILS AND OTHER PARTIES. 

The Association recognises the importance of providing both topical and detailed information on its 
activities to Member Councils, the LGA SA, the Dept. of Planning and Local Government, Politicians, 
other key stakeholders and the general public within and outside the Region. 

The Newsletter, the “Murray Mallee Briefs” has been prepared after each General Meeting and is 
electronically widely distributed. Numerous media interviews have been undertaken as a result of the 
Newsletter’s circulation. 



 

 

The Association’s website www.mmlga.sa.gov.au contains a wealth of information on the Association’s 
activities, including all Agendas, Appendices, Minutes for General and Committee Meetings and 
Newsletters. 

 

NATIVE TITLE AND INDIGENOUS LAND USE AGREEMENTS. 

The Association has had the availability to engage Rosemary Craddock LLB, to assist Member Councils 
in Native Title negotiations in and adjacent to the Region. 

The CEO continues to be available to provide executive support and a coordinating role when required, 
supporting Rosemary Craddock for the Member Councils and other adjacent Council(s) that are involved 
in the claims impacting on this Region. 

 

PARTNERSHIP/STRATEGIC ACTIVITIES 2009 – 2010. 

The Association has continued to pursue a number of strategic issues with the support of partners and 
other key stakeholders in the Region. Without these partners and stakeholders, the Association would 
not have been able to singularly progress these initiatives. 

Strategic Focus – Telecommunications. 

The project partners are: 

 The Regional Development Australia (RDA) Murraylands and Riverland Board, 

 Dept. of Further Education, Employment, Science and Technology (DFEEST),  

 Dept. of Broadband Communications and the Digital Economy (DBCDE),  

 Dept. Transport, Energy and Infrastructure (DTEI), and 

 Regional Broadband Project Officer – Mr. Paul Muskett,  

 Agile Communications. 

 

The Broadband Development Project, which commenced in January 2008 with funding secured 
through the Australian Government as part of the Department of Broadband, Communications and the 
Digital Economy’s (DBCDE) Clever Networks Broadband Development Network Program, is close to 
completion.  This project covers both the Murraylands and Riverland sub-regions, concentrating more 
on the western portions of the region. 

This year , the application to the South Australian Governments’ Broadband Development Fund (BDF) 
to provide $310,000 funding to further extend the current broadband project referred to above by 
providing additional coverage in the Mid Murray, Loxton Waikerie and Southern Mallee council 
districts, has been approved. The project is being further subsidized by contributions of $20,000 by 
the Association and $15,000 by the District Council of Loxton Waikerie and a further $15,000 from the 
Southern Mallee District Council of which $10,000 was underwritten by the former Murraylands 
Regional Development Board. 



 

 

Given the synergies between the two projects, project management has been assumed by the Dept. 
Transport Energy and Infrastructure and is due for completion by mid- 2011. 

Further to this project, the Commonwealth Government has announced, as part of the National 
Broadband Network, Regional Blackspots Program, that a new backbone fibre optic connection will be 
built between Gawler and Mildura through the Riverland.  Nextgen Networks will construct the fibre 
optic cable for the Commonwealth and NBN Company. 

 The Mildura connection route takes in Renmark, Berri, Waikerie, Kapunda, Nuriootpa, Tanunda, and 
Angaston terminating in Gawler. 

This undertaking is a backhaul project as distinct from the NBN which is the “last mile” venture. 

Competitive DSLAM's will be installed in exchanges in Waikerie, Barmera, Berri and Renmark 
providing users more choice and potential more competitive pricing. 

 Project construction has commenced with completion due mid 2011. There will be no partial release 
of infrastructure but end to end commissioning on completion. 

 There will be splice points in the fibre every 10km providing some options for other projects to spur 
off this backbone. VisionStream are contracted to NextGen to undertake on ground works.  

 

Strategic Focus – Transport Infrastructure. 

Our Project Partners are: 

 Transport SA,  

 The Local Government Transport Advisory Panel (LGTAP), 

 The Regional Development Australia (RDA) Murraylands and Riverland Board, and 

 Parsons Brinkerhoff Australia Pty. Ltd. 

For the period 2009-2010, Member Councils resolved not to review the Murray and Mallee Regional 
Transport Strategy Plan to support this year’s road funding submissions. It has been subsequently 
agreed that the matter of a review will be undertaken in the 2009-2010 year. 

The Plan provides the basis to enable the Association and its Member Councils, to determine and 
support applications for Special Local Roads and Auslink funding applications. 

Applications for funding in the 2008-2009 round were lodged with the Local Government Transport 
Advisory Panel at the end of April, 2009 resulting in $1.5m funding availability for identified road 
construction in the region. 

Applications for funding in 2009-2010 were lodged with the Local Government Transport Advisory Panel 
on the 30th April, 2009, and the Association awaits the results of the Panel’s recommendation for the 
Special Local Roads component to the Local Government Grants Commission. 

 

 



 

 

Strategic Focus – Community Transport. – Riverland Community Passenger Network and the 
Murray Mallee Community Passenger Network Schemes. 

Our partners are: 

 The South Australian Regional Organisation of Councils (SAROC), 

 The Local Government Association of SA,  

The Riverland and Murray Mallee Community Passenger Transport Networks and Advisory 
Committees, and 

The Murray and Mallee Regional Coordination Network, and  

Dept. of Transport, Energy and Infrastructure. 

As has been pursued over past years, The Association continues to forward the issue of the integration 
of Community Passenger Network (CPN) Schemes throughout the region. 

This proposed integration would allow for the use of agency managed government vehicles for the 
purposes of providing transport solutions to the disadvantaged. 

However, this process has been hindered by individual agency policies, and coupled with the lack of any 
increased State Government funding, has resulted in no increased service availability for demand 
indicated areas. 

It is clear that the general community highly value the transport services currently provided within these 
budgetary constraints. Despite being financially handicapped, the Transport Committees are constantly 
endeavouring to improve upon the current transport network.  

It is pleasing the report that the greatest majority of services provided are highly patronized. We make 
special mention of the medical bus services, available to provide regionally or city based medical 
assistance to those who are geographically and socially disadvantaged. 

The Association will continue to work towards equitable State Government funding for transport services 
for regional areas, on a similar parity to that enjoyed by metropolitan residents. 

 

Strategic Focus – Environment - Drought. 

Our partners are: 

 The Regional Development Australia (RDA) Murraylands and Riverland Board, 

 Primary Industries and Resources SA, 

Riverland Futures Project, 

Murray and Mallee Regional Coordination Network, 

Riverland Drought Taskforce, 

Lower Murray Drought Collaboration Group,   

Irrigation Authorities and Associations,  



 

 

The SAROC Committee, and 

The Local Government Research and Development Fund (LGR&DF), and 

The SA MDB NRM Board. 

The Drought and reduced irrigation water allocations has severely affected environmental and economic 
stability and planned growth throughout the region.  

In order to quantify and plan for these effects, the Association continues to pursue and utilize the 
$70,000 grant from the LGR&DF in an attempt to provide a “plug-in type tool” that will allow Councils to 
determine the effect on Council and the Community, given these economic impacts. 

Despite minimal outcomes from sustained effort to forward this project, the Association is pursuing 
negotiations to incorporate it into, and add value to, the Federal Government funded “Sustaining Basin 
Communities – Planning Element” Program. The Association is expecting a timely favourable response. 

On other environmental matters, the Association and Member Councils have: 

 

 Continued provision of an Association representative on the River Murray Water Quality 
Risk Assessment Committee. 

 Provided a Local Government non-voting Member to the SA MDB NRM Board. 
 Provided information to Member Councils regarding Adaptation Actions for Local 

Government on Climate Change issues and promotion of Climate Change Forums. 
 Provided Association representation on the LGA Native Vegetation Working Party and 

input into legislative review. 
 Facilitation of the Local Government/NRM Regional Delivery Relationships Project. 
 Submission provided to the MDB Consultative Committee regarding the Lower Lakes 

sulphate trigger levels. 
 Forwarding of Climate Change templates and workshops as it relates to Local 

Government activities. 
 Provision of M&MLGA regional representation on the LGA Water Project Working 

Party. 
 Comments provided on the Murray Darling Basin Authority Sustainable Diversion 

Limits survey. 
 Further facilitation of the potential review of the River Murray 1956 Flood Line and 

alignment of Council Development Plans. 
 Lobbied State Government for extensions of the Drought Program funding into the year 

2009-2010. 
 With the SA MDB NRM Board and Member Councils, provided support and assistance 

in the gaining of $1.5m funding for the Strengthening Basin Communities- Planning 
Element Program. 
 

 

BEYOND 2010. 

General Meetings of the Association will continue to be held during 2010-2011 on the first Friday in the 
months of August, December, February, April with the Annual General Meeting to be held in June. They 
will be held throughout the Region, hosted alphabetically by the Member Councils. 

At the General Meeting held on the 1st April, 2010, the Association endorsed their revised Strategic Plan, 
2008-2011. The Annual Business Plan 2010-2011, extracted from the Strategic Plan 2008-2011 (revised) 



 

 

and associated Annual Budget were adopted at the Association’s Annual General Meeting held on the 4th 
June, 2010. These documents are available to be viewed and downloaded from the Association’s 
website at www.mmlga.sa.gov.au  

The status of the objectives and actions in the Association’s Annual Business Plan 2010-2011 will be 
reviewed half yearly at the December General Meeting and the June Annual General Meeting as per the 
provisions of the Association’s Charter. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contact details: 

 

President:   Chief Executive Officer: 

Cr. Leon Stasinowsky  Peter Campbell 

PO Box 409,   55 Excelsior Pde, 

Loxton.  SA  5333  Hindmarsh Island. SA  5214. 

Tel: 8589 7028                        

                                               PO Box 1014, Goolwa.  SA  5214. 

 

                                               Tel: (08) 8555 3929  Mob: 0429 862 669 

                                                Fax: (08) 8555 0451 

                                    Email: ceo@mmlga.com.au 
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 Note
2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 

 
   

Regional Enhancement Fund Grant 2  33,661  32,904 
Interest received 2  6,693  6,177 
MBM LGA contributions 2  76,240  76,095 

 
 

 116,594  115,176 
Other operating expenses 3  (109,309)  (102,772) 

Profit attributable to members 
 

 7,285  12,404 
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 Note
2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 

ASSETS 
   

Current assets 
   

Cash and cash equivalents 4  136,932   127,442 
Trade and other receivables 5  4,272   3,718 
Money held in Trust   -   2,962 

Total current assets 
 

 141,204   134,122 

TOTAL ASSETS 
 

 141,204   134,122 

LIABILITIES 
   

Current liabilities 
   

Trade and other payables 6  1,530   1,733 
Unexpended Project Funds 7  97,946   93,234 
Native Title Claim Moneys unexpended   -   2,962 

Total current liabilities 
 

 99,476   97,929 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 
 

 99,476   97,929 

NET ASSETS 
 

 41,728   36,193 
 

EQUITY 
   

Retained earnings   41,728   36,193 

TOTAL EQUITY 
 

 41,728   36,193 
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2010 
  

 Note
 

Retained 
Earnings 

$ 
Total 

$ 

Balance at 1 July 2009   
 

 36,193   36,193 

Profit attributable to members  
 

 7,285   7,285 

Transfer from retained earnings 7 
 

 (1,750)   (1,750) 

Sub-total 
  

 5,535   5,535 

Balance at 30 June 2010 
  

 41,728   41,728 
 

2009 
  

 Note
 

Retained 
Earnings 

$ 
Total 

$ 

Balance at 1 July 2008   
 

 29,832   29,832 

Profit attributable to members  
 

 12,404   12,404 

Transfer from retained earnings 7 
 

 (6,043)   (6,043) 

Sub-total 
  

 6,361   6,361 

Balance at 30 June 2009 
  

 36,193   36,193 
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 Note
2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 

Cash from operating activities: 
   

Receipts from members   76,240   76,095 
Receipts from Grants   33,661   32,904 
Interest received   6,693   6,177 
Payments to suppliers   (107,104)   (102,369) 
Project receipts   -   70,000 
Project payments   -   (2,539) 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 8  9,490   80,268 
 
 
 

Net increase (decreases) in cash held 
 

 9,490   80,268 
Cash at beginning of financial year  

 127,442   47,174 

Cash at end of financial year 4  136,932   127,442 
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1 Accounting policies 

(a) General information 

The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance with 
Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations, other authoritative pronouncements of 
the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the requirements of the Associations Incorporation 
Act of South Australia. 

The financial report covers Murray & Mallee Local Government Association Incorporated as an 
individual entity.  Murray & Mallee Local Government Association Incorporated is an association 
incorporated in South Australia under the Associations Incorporations Act 1985. 

The financial report of Murray & Mallee Local Government Association Incorporated as an individual 
entity complies with all Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS) 
in their entirety. 

The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the association in the 
preparation of the financial report.  The accounting policies have been consistently applied, unless 
otherwise stated. 

(b) Basis of preparation 

 Reporting Basis and Conventions 

The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical costs 
modified by the revaluation of selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities for 
which the fair value basis of accounting has been applied. 

(c) Comparatives 

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to 
changes in presentation for the current financial year. 

(d) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits held at call with banks. 

(e) Income taxes 

The activities of the Association are exempt from taxation under the Income Tax Assessment Act. 

(f) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount 
of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office.  In these circumstances the 
GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.  
Receivables and payables in the balance sheet are shown inclusive of GST. 
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(g) Financial Instruments 

 Recognition and Initial Measurement 

Financial instruments are initially measured at cost on trade date, which includes transaction costs, 
when the related contractual rights or obligations exist. Subsequent to initial recognition these 
instruments are measured as set out below. 

 Financial liabilities 

Non-derivative financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost, comprising original debt less 
principal payments and amortisation. 

 Impairment 

At each reporting date, the association assess whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
instrument has been impaired.  In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a prolonged 
decline in the value of the instrument is considered to determine whether an impairment has arisen.  
Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement. 

(h) Impairment of assets 

At each reporting date, the association reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible 
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired.  If such an 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset's fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the asset's carrying value.  Any excess of the asset's 
carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the income statement. 

 Critical accounting estimates and judgments 

 Key estimates - Impairment 

The association assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the 
association that may lead to impairment of assets.  Where an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is determined.  Value-in-use calculations performed in assessing recoverable amounts 
incorporate a number of key estimates. 
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2 Revenue 

 
 2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
Interest received   6,693   6,177 

MBM LGA contributions 
   

- Berri Barmera Council   11,741   11,719 
- Coorong District Council   7,776   7,762 
- DC of Karoonda East Murray   4,117   4,109 
- DC of Loxton Waikerie   12,427   12,403 
- Mid Murray Council   9,301   9,283 
- The Rural City of Murray Bridge   15,553   15,523 
- DC of Renmark Paringa   10,445   10,425 
- Southern Mallee DC   4,880   4,871 

Total MBM LGA contributions 
 

 76,240   76,095 
Regional Enhancement Fund Grant   33,661   32,904 

Total Revenue 
 

 116,594   115,176 

3 Profit from Ordinary Activities 

 Expenses 

 
2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
Audit fees  1,395   1,383 
Bank charges  136   120 
Executive Officer Contract Services  94,410   90,702 
Insurance  3,566   2,038 
Meeting Expenses  1,851   1,619 
Postage  53   37 
President's Travelling Allowance  2,500   2,500 
Printing and stationery  807   433 
Record sentencing/Arhiving  30   - 
SAROC Regional Meeting costs  1,064   459 
Sundry expenses  191   326 
Telephone and fax  3,200   3,050 
Website maintenance  106   105 

Total expenses  109,309   102,772 
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4 Cash and cash equivalents 

 
2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
Cash on hand  100   100 
Cash at bank  1,204   1,644 
LGFA Investment  135,628   125,698 

  136,932   127,442 

5 Trade and other receivables 

 
  2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 

CURRENT 
    

Accrued Interest  
 

 1,747   997 
GST Refund  

 
 2,525   2,721 

 
  

 4,272   3,718 

6 Trade and other payables 

 
2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 

CURRENT 
  

Trade payables  1,530   1,733 

 

7 Other Liabilities 

Grant Funds Unexpended may be refundable and are reflected as liabilities at balance date. It is anticipated 
that the balance of funds unexpended will be fully utilised on the nominated project. 

 

 
2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 

Water Management Project 
  

Income 
  

Balance brought forward  4,373   4,373 

Total Income  4,373   4,373 
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Project Funds not expended at 30 June 2010  4,373   4,373
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2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 

Regional Broadband Project 
  

Income 
  

Balance brought forward  1,361   1,400 
Transfer from Retained Earnings  1,750   - 

Total Income  3,111   1,400 

 
  

Travel expense      -   (39) 
Transfer to Discretionary Projects      (3,111)   - 

Total Expenses  (3,111)   (39) 

Project Funds not expended at 30 June 2010  -   1,361 

 
  

Discretionary Projects 
  

Income 
  

Balance brought forward  15,000   13,957 
Transfer from Regional Braodband Project  3,111   - 
Transfer from Native Title Claim monies  2,962   - 
Transfer from Retained Earnings    -   1,043 

Total Income   21,073   15,000 

Less Expenses 
  

Project funds not expended at 30 June 2010  21,073   15,000 

 
  

 
  

Provision LG Services Project 
  

Income 
  

Balance brought forward  72,500   - 
Local Government Research and Development Scheme   -   70,000 
Transfer from Retained Earnings   -   5,000 

Total Income  72,500   75,000 

Less Expenses 
  

Consultancy  -   (2,500) 

Total Expenses  -   (2,500) 

Project funds not expended at 30 June 2010  72,500   72,500 
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Total  97,946   93,234 
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8 Cash Flow Information 

(a) Reconciliation of Cash Flow from Operations with Profit after Income Tax 

 
2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
Net income/loss for the period  7,285   12,404 

Cash flows excluded from profit attributable to operating activities 
  

Non-cash flows in profit 
  

changes in assets and liabilities, net of the effects of purchase and 
disposal of subsidiaries 

  

(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables  2,407   (43) 
Increase/(decrease) in creditors  1,548   73,950 
Increase/(decrease) in Retained earnings from transfers  (1,750)   (6,043) 

 
 9,490   80,268 

9 Financial instruments 

Credit risk 

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at 
balance date to recognised financial assets, is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for 
impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements. 

The association does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of 
receivables under financial instruments entered into by the association. 

(i)  Financial instrument composition and maturity analysis 

The association's exposure to interest rate risk, which is the risk that a financial instruments value will 
fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates and the effective weighted average interest 
rates on classes of financial assets and financial liabilities, is as follows: 
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Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate Floating Interest Rate Non-interest Bearing Total 

 
2010 

% 
2009

% 
2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 

Financial Assets: 
        

LGFA Investment  4.50   2.75  135,628  125,698  -  -   135,628   125,698 
Cash at bank  0.01   1.60  1,204  1,644  -  -   1,204   1,644 
Cash  -   -  -  -  100  100   100   100 
Trade and other 

receivables  -   -  -  -  4,272  3,718   4,272   3,718 
Money held in trust  -   -  -  -  -  2,962   -   2,962 

Total Financial 
Assets 

  
 136,832  127,342  4,372  6,780   141,204   134,122 

Financial 
Liabilities: 

        

Trade and other 
payables  -   -  -  -  1,530  1,733   1,530   1,733 

Unexpended project 
funds  -   -  -  -  97,946  93,234   97,946   93,234 

Native title claims  -   -  -  -  -  2,962   -   2,962 

Total Financial 
Liabilities 

  
 -  -  99,476  97,929   99,476   97,929 

All financial assets and liabilities disclosed mature within 12 months, with the exception of money
held in trust and native title claims which have a maturity of greater than 12 months and less than 5
years. 

(ii)  Net fair values 

The net fair values for other assets and other liabilities approximates their carrying values.  No 
financial assets or financial liabilities are readily traded on organised markets in standardised form 
other than listed investments.  Financial assets where the carrying amount exceeds net fair values 
have not been written down as the association intends to hold these assets to maturity. 

The aggregate net fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities are 
disclosed in the balance sheet and in the notes to the financial statements. 

Interest Rate Risk Sensitivity Analysis 

At 30 June 2010, the committee considers that the only material risk arises in relation to interest 
rates.  Should interest rates have increased / decreased by 2%, the associations profit would have 
increased / decreased by approximately $2,738 (2009: $2,546). 



Murray & Mallee Local Government Association 
Incorporated 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2010 

 

14 

10 Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 

At 30 June 2010, the Committee is unaware of any liability, contingent or otherwise, which has not already 
been recorded elsewhere in this financial report. 

11 Capital Commitments 

At 30 June 2010, the Committee is unaware of any capital or leasing commitments which have not already 
been recorded elsewhere in this financial report. 

12 Events after the end of the reporting period 

Since the reporting date, there have been no events that would materially impact on the contents of this 
report. 

13 Key Management Personnel Compensation 

(a) Key Management Personnel Compensation 

         Short term  Total 

         Benefits 

 2010 

 Total compensation      94,410   94,410 

 2009 

 Total compensation      90,702   90,702 
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Murray & Mallee Local Government Association 
Incorporated 
 

Statement by the Committee 

 
 
In the opinion of the members of the committee: 
 
1. (a) the accompanying Income Statement is drawn up so as to present fairly the profit of Murray    
 (b) the accompanying Balance Sheet is drawn up so as to present fairly the state of affairs of Murray 
  and Mallee Local Government Association as at the end of the financial year; 
 (c)  the accounts of the association have been made out in accordance with Accounting Standards   
 
2. The committee has reasonable grounds to believe that the association will be able to pay its debts as  
 and when they fall due. 
 
3. No officer of the association, or a firm of which the officer is a member, or corporate in which the officer 
 has a substantial financial interest, has received or become entitled to receive a benefit as a result of a  
 contract between the officer, firm of which the officer is a member or a corporate in which the officer has 
 a substantial financial interest and the association. 
 
4. No officer of the association has received directly or indirectly from the association any payment or other  
 benefit of a pecuniary value, except for chairman allowances paid. 
 
This statement is made in accordance with the resolution of the Committee and is signed for and on behalf of 
the Committee by:  
 
 

 
           President 
 

 
              CEO 
 
 
Dated: 6th August, 2010.  
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE- 

AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE 

 

I, David Beaton, the person for the time being occupying the position of chief executive of the 
Berri Barmera Council, being a constituent council of the Murray and Mallee Local 
Government Association subsidiary do hereby certify (for the purposes of Regulation 16A(2) 
of the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1999) that the Auditor, WHK 
Thomsons, of the subsidiary has not been engaged by the subsidiary to provide services to 
the subsidiary outside the scope of the audit functions under the Local Government Act 1999. 

 

 
 
.......................................................       ...........6th August 2010............ 
      David Beaton, CEO                  Date 
 
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE- 

AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE 

 

I,. Michael Boyd,  the person for the time being occupying the position of chief executive of 
the Coorong District Council, being a constituent council of the Murray and Mallee Local 
Government Association subsidiary do hereby certify (for the purposes of Regulation 16A(2) 
of the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1999) that the Auditor, WHK 
Thomsons, of the subsidiary has not been engaged by the subsidiary to provide services to 
the subsidiary outside the scope of the audit functions under the Local Government Act 1999. 
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE- 

AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE 

 

I,DAMIEN MOLONEY...., the person for the time being occupying the position of chief 
executive of the .RURAL CITY OF MURRAY BRIDGE..Council, being a constituent council 
of the Murray and Mallee Local Government Association subsidiary do hereby certify (for the 
purposes of Regulation 16A(2) of the Local Government (Financial Management) 
Regulations 1999) that the Auditor, WHK Thomsons, of the subsidiary has not been engaged 
by the subsidiary to provide services to the subsidiary outside the scope of the audit functions 
under the Local Government Act 1999. 

   5 August 2010 

(Signed)       (Dated) 
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE- 

AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE 

 

I, Barry Charles Hurst, the person for the time being occupying the position of chief executive 
of the Renmark Paringa Council, being a constituent council of the Murray and Mallee Local 
Government Association subsidiary do hereby certify (for the purposes of Regulation 16A(2) 
of the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1999) that the Auditor, WHK 
Thomsons, of the subsidiary has not been engaged by the subsidiary to provide services to 
the subsidiary outside the scope of the audit functions under the Local Government Act 1999. 

 
 
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE- 

AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE 

 

I, Rodney Layton Ralph, the person for the time being occupying the position of chief 
executive of the Southern Mallee District Council, being a constituent council of the Murray 
and Mallee Local Government Association subsidiary do hereby certify (for the purposes of 
Regulation 16A(2) of the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1999) that 
the Auditor, WHK Thomsons, of the subsidiary has not been engaged by the subsidiary to 
provide services to the subsidiary outside the scope of the audit functions under the Local 
Government Act 1999. 
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Report on the Financial Report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Murray & Mallee Local Government Association 
Incorporated, which comprises the balance sheet as at 30 June 2010, and the income statement, statement of 
recognised income and expenditure and cash flow statement for the year ended that date a summary of 
significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the statement by the committee.. 

Committee Responsibility for the Financial Report 

The committee of the association are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and 
the Associations Incorporations Act (SA) 1985. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and 
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting 
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant 
ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the association's preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 
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Independence 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of Australian professional ethical 
pronouncements. 

Auditor's Opinion 

In our opinion the financial report of Murray & Mallee Local Government Association Incorporated is in accordance 
with the Associations Incorporations Act(SA) 1985, including:  

(a) giving a true and fair view of the association’s financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of its performance for 
the year ended on that date; and  

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the 
Associations Incorporations Act(SA) 1985. 

 

WHK AUDIT SERVICES 

 

Grant Martinella  CA RCA 
 

 

Signed at Berri SA 
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 
       

STATEMENT  OF  COMPREHENSIVE  INCOME 
for the year ended 30 June 2010 

       

   2010  2009  

  Notes $  $  

 INCOME      

 User charges 2      4,808        6,200   

 Grants, subsidies and contributions 2   108,196       91,954   

 Reimbursements 2      1,058               -   

 Total Income    114,062       98,154   

       

 EXPENSES      

 Employee costs 3     94,321       48,724   

 Materials, contracts & other expenses 3     19,351       21,833   

 Depreciation, amortisation & impairment 3      9,803       10,550   

 Total Expenses    123,475       81,107   

       

 OPERATING SURPLUS / (DEFICIT)      (9,413)      17,047   

       

 Asset disposal & fair value adjustments 4             -       (1,556)  

 NET SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) 
          transferred to Equity Statement 

    (9,413)      15,492   

       

 TOTAL  COMPREHENSIVE  INCOME      (9,413)      15,492   

       

 This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes.   
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME  
       

BALANCE  SHEET 
as at 30 June 2010 

       
   2010  2009  

 ASSETS Notes $  $  

 Current Assets      

 Cash and cash equivalents 5 52,728   45,170   

 Total Current Assets  52,728   45,170   

       

 Non-current Assets      

 Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment 6 32,839   42,642   

 Total Non-current Assets  32,839   42,642   

 Total Assets  85,567   87,812   

       

 LIABILITIES      

 Current Liabilities      

 Trade & Other Payables 7 2,627   2,005   

 Provisions 7 7,963   4,009   

 Total Current Liabilities  10,590   6,014   

       

 Non-current Liabilities      

 Provisions 7 2,592   -   

 Total Non-current Liabilities  2,592   -   

 Total Liabilities  13,182   6,014   

 NET ASSETS  72,385   81,798   

       

 EQUITY      

 Accumulated Surplus  72,385   81,798   

 TOTAL EQUITY  72,385   81,798   

       

 This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes.    
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 
         

STATEMENT  OF  CHANGES  IN  EQUITY 
 

for the year ended 30 June 2010 
         
         
   Accumulated 

Surplus 
Asset 

Revaluation 
Reserve 

Available for 
sale Financial 

Assets 

Other Reserves TOTAL EQUITY  

 2010 Notes $ $ $ $ $  
 Balance at end of previous reporting 

period 

 81,798  -  -  -  81,798   

 Net Surplus / (Deficit) for Year  (9,413) -  -  -  (9,413)  

 Balance at end of period  72,385  -  -  -  72,385   

         

         

 2009        

 Balance at end of previous reporting 
period 

 66,306  -  -  -  66,306   

 Net Surplus / (Deficit) for Year  15,492  -  -   15,492   

 Balance at end of period  81,798  -  -  -  81,798   

         

 This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes      
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 
       

CASH  FLOW  STATEMENT 
for the year ended 30 June 2010 

       

   2010  2009  

 CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES Notes $  $  

 Receipts      

    Operating receipts    114,062       98,154   

 Payments      

    Operating payments to suppliers & employees   (106,504)     (68,957)  

 Net Cash provided by (or used in) Operating 
Activities 

       7,558       29,197   

       

 CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES      

 Receipts      

 Sale of replaced assets               -       16,045   

 Payments      

 Expenditure on renewal/replacement of assets               -      (24,325)  

 Net Cash provided by (or used in) Investing 
Activities 

              -        (8,280)  

       

 CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES      

 Net Cash provided by (or used in) Financing 
Activities 

              -                -   

 Net Increase (Decrease) in cash held        7,558       20,917   

       

 Cash & cash equivalents at beginning of period 8     45,170       24,253   

 Cash & cash equivalents at end of period 8     52,728       45,170   

       

 This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes  
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT 
SCHEME 

 
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 30 June 2010 
 
 

Note 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out 
below.  These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 
otherwise stated. 

 
Basis of Preparation 
1.1 Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards 
This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards as they apply to not-for-profit entities, other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Interpretations and relevant 
South Australian legislation. 

 
The financial report was authorised for issue by certificate under clause 11 of the Local 
Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1999. 

 
1.2 Historical Cost Convention 
Except as stated below, these financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the historical cost convention. 

 
1.3 Critical Accounting Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards 
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates, and requires management to 
exercise its judgement in applying MMCTS’s accounting policies.  The areas involving a 
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the financial statements are specifically referred to in the relevant sections of this 
Note. 

 
1.4 Rounding 
All amounts in the financial statements are rounded to the nearest dollar. 

 
The Local Government Reporting Entity 
The Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme (MMCTS) is a Regional Subsidiary under 
Section 43 and schedule 2 of the Local Government Act 1999. The constituent Councils of the 
MMCTS are the Coorong District Council, Southern Mallee District Council and the District 
Council of Karoonda / East Mallee. The principal place of business is at 73 Railway Terrace, 
Tailem Bend.  All the funds which the MMCTS controls to carry on its functions have been 
included in this financial report. 

 
Income recognition 
Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  Income is 
recognised when the MMCTS obtains control over the assets comprising the income, or when 
the amount due constitutes an enforceable debt, whichever first occurs.  
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Where grants, contributions and donations recognised as incomes during the reporting period 
were obtained on the condition that they be expended in a particular manner or used over a 
particular period, and those conditions were undischarged as at the reporting date, the 
amounts subject to those undischarged conditions are disclosed in these notes.  Also 
disclosed is the amount of grants, contributions and receivables recognised as incomes in a 
previous reporting period which were obtained in respect of the MMCTS’s operations for the 
current reporting period. 
 
Cash, Cash Equivalents and other Financial Instruments 
Cash Assets include all amounts readily convertible to cash on hand at MMCTS option with 
an insignificant risk of changes in value with a maturity of three months or less from the date 
of acquisition. 
 
All receivables are reviewed as at the reporting date and adequate allowance made for 
amounts the receipt of which is considered doubtful. 
 
Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment 
1.5 Initial Recognition 
All assets are initially recognised at cost.  
 
All non-current assets purchased or constructed are capitalised as the expenditure is incurred 
and depreciated as soon as the asset is held “ready for use”. Cost is determined as the fair 
value of the assets given as consideration plus costs incidental to the acquisition, including 
architects' fees and engineering design fees and all other costs incurred. Capital works still in 
progress at balance date are recognised as other non-current assets and transferred to 
infrastructure, property, plant & equipment when completed ready for use. 
 
For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, cost is determined as fair value at 
the date of acquisition. 
 
1.6 Materiality 
No capitalisation thresholds exist for assets with an economic life in excess of one year. 
  

1.7 Depreciation of Non-Current Assets  
Other than land, all infrastructure, property, plant and equipment assets recognised are 
systematically depreciated over their useful lives in a manner which reflects the consumption 
of the service potential embodied in those assets. 
 
Depreciation is recognised on a straight-line basis.  Major depreciation periods for each class 
of asset are shown below.  Depreciation periods for infrastructure assets have been 
estimated based on the best information available to MMCTS, but appropriate records 
covering the entire life cycle of these assets are not available, and extreme care should be 
used in interpreting financial information based on these estimates. 

 
Plant, Furniture & Equipment 

 Office Equipment       5 to 10 years 
 Vehicles        5 to 8 years 
 
Payables 
1.8 Goods & Services 
Creditors are amounts due to external parties for the supply of goods and services and are 
recognised as liabilities when the goods and services are received.  Creditors are normally 
paid 30 days after the month of invoice.  No interest is payable on these amounts. 

 
Employee Benefits 
1.9 Salaries, Wages & Compensated Absences 
Liabilities for employees’ entitlements to salaries, wages and compensated absences 
expected to be paid or settled within 12 months of reporting date are accrued at nominal 
amounts (including payroll based oncosts) measured in accordance with AASB 119.  
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Liabilities for employee benefits not expected to be paid or settled within 12 months are 
measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows (including payroll based 
oncosts) to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date.  
Present values are calculated using government guaranteed securities rates with similar 
maturity terms. 

 
1.10 Superannuation 
The Council makes employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to the 
Local Government Superannuation Scheme.  The Scheme has two types of membership, 
each of which is funded differently.  No changes in accounting policy have occurred during 
either the current or previous reporting periods.   

 
GST Implications 
In accordance with UIG Abstract 1031 “Accounting for the Goods & Services Tax” 

� Receivables and Creditors include GST receivable and payable. 
� Except in relation to input taxed activities, revenues and operating 

expenditures exclude GST receivable and payable. 
� Non-current assets and capital expenditures include GST net of any 

recoupment. 
� Amounts included in the Statement of Cash Flows are disclosed on a gross 

basis. 
 
New Accounting Standards 
Certain new accounting standards and UIG interpretations have been published that are not 
mandatory for the 30 June 2010 reporting period. 

� AASB 1  First-time Adoption of Australian Accounting Standards 
� AASB 5  Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 

Operations 
� AASB 7  Financial Instruments: Disclosures 
� AASB 9  Financial Instruments 
� AASB 101  Presentation of Financial Statements 
� AASB 107  Statement of Cash Flows 
� AASB 108  Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 

Errors 
� AASB 110  Events after the Reporting Period 
� AASB 117  Leases 
� AASB 118  Revenue 
� AASB 119  Employee Benefits 
� AASB 132  Financial Instruments: Presentation 
� AASB 136  Impairment of Assets 
� AASB 137  Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
� AASB 139  Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 
� AASB 1031  Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 
� AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 

from AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 
121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and 
Interpretations 10 & 12]  

� AASB 2009-12 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASBs 
5, 8, 108, 110, 112, 119, 133, 137, 139, 1023 & 1031 and 
Interpretations 2, 4, 16, 1039 & 1052] 

� AASB 2009-13 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from Interpretation 19 [AASB 1]   

� AASB 2010-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Limited 
Exemption from Comparative AASB 7 Disclosures for First-
time Adopters [AASB 1 & AASB 7]  

� Interpretation 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease 
� Interpretation 14 AASB 119 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, 

Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction 
 (Standards not affecting local government have been excluded from the above 
list.) 
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MMCTS is of the view that none of the above new standards or interpretations will affect any 
of the amounts recognised in the financial statements, but that they may impact certain 
information otherwise disclosed. 
 
The Australian Accounting Standards Board is currently reviewing AASB 1004 Contributions.  
It is anticipated that the changes resulting from this review may have a material effect on the 
timing of the recognition of grants and contributions, but the financial consequences cannot 
be estimated until a revised accounting standard is issued. 
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 
        

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2010 

        

Note 2 - INCOME 
        
    2010  2009  
   Notes $  $  

 USER  CHARGES      

  Client Contributions  4,808   6,200   

    4,808   6,200   

 REIMBURSEMENTS      
  Other  1,058                -    
    1,058                -    

 GRANTS, SUBSIDIES, CONTRIBUTIONS     

  Other grants, subsidies and 
contributions 

108,196   91,954   

    108,196   91,954   

        

 Sources of grants      

  Commonwealth government               -                 -    

  State government  95,502   84,587   

  Other  12,694   7,367   

    108,196   91,954   
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 
        

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2010 

        

Note 3 - EXPENSES 
        
   2010  2009   
  Notes $  $   
 EMPLOYEE COSTS       
 Salaries and Wages            86,173             46,794    
 Employee leave expense              6,408                 989    
 Workers' Compensation Insurance              1,740                 941    
 Total Operating Employee Costs            94,321             48,724    

        
 Total Number of Employees                   2                    1    
           (Full time equivalent at end of reporting period)     
        
 MATERIALS, CONTRACTS & OTHER EXPENSES     
 Prescribed Expenses       
 Auditor's Remuneration       
      -  Auditing the financial reports              1,150               1,000    
 Subtotal - Prescribed Expenses              1,150               1,000    

        
 Other Materials, Contracts & Expenses       
 Contractors              2,195               1,200    
 Energy                614                 594    
 Other Materials              2,456               3,079    
 Fuel              3,544               5,403    

 Vehicle Other Costs              3,333               3,604    

 Telephone              2,875               3,625    

 Volunteer Reimbursement                331                 562    
 Insurance              1,908               1,903    
 Other Costs                944                 862    
 Subtotal - Other Materials, Contracts & Expenses           18,201             20,833    
 Total Materials, Contracts & Other Expenses           19,351             21,833    

        
 DEPRECIATION, AMORTISATION & IMPAIRMENT     
 Depreciation       
 Office Equipment                161                 495    
 Motor Vehicles              9,643             10,056    
 Total Depreciation              9,803             10,550    
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 
       

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2010 
       

Note 4 - ASSET  DISPOSAL  &  FAIR  VALUE  ADJUSTMENTS 
       
       
   2010  2009  
  Notes $  $  
       
 INFRASTRUCTURE, PROPERTY,  PLANT & EQUIPMENT    
 Assets surplus to requirements      

 Proceeds from disposal                     -             16,045   

 Less: Carrying amount of assets sold                     -             17,601   

 Gain (Loss) on disposal                     -              (1,556)  

 NET GAIN (LOSS) ON DISPOSAL OR 
REVALUATION OF ASSETS 

                   -              (1,556)  

       
       

 

 

Note 5 - CURRENT ASSETS 
   2010  2009  

 CASH  &  EQUIVALENT  ASSETS Notes $  $  

 Cash on Hand             200              200   

 Cash at Bank         52,528          44,970   

          52,728          45,170   
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 

           

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2010 
 Note 6 - INFRASTRUCTURE, PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT  

  2009 2010  

  $    $     

  AT  FAIR  
VALUE 

AT  COST ACCUM  
DEP'N 

CARRYING  
AMOUNT 

AT  FAIR  
VALUE 

AT  COST ACCUM  DEP'N CARRYING  
AMOUNT 

 

 Office Equipment -            2,275          (1,851)              423                    -            2,275             (2,012)                 262   

 Motor Vehicles                   -          48,213          (5,994)         42,219                    -          48,213          (15,636)           32,577   

 TOTAL  PROPERTY, PLANT 
& EQUIPMENT 

                  -          50,487          (7,845)         42,642                   -          50,487          (17,648)           32,839   

 2009 Totals                       -          50,487            (7,845)          42,642   

 

   2009 CARRYING AMOUNT MOVEMENTS DURING YEAR 2010  

   $ $ $  

   Additions  

   

CARRYING  
AMOUNT New/Upgrade Renewals 

Disposals Depreciation Impairment Transfers 
Net 

Revaluation 
CARRYING  
AMOUNT  

 Office Equipment 423  
                     

-  
                     

-  
           

-  
              

(161)  -  
                     

-  
                     

-  
                

262   

 Motor Vehicles 
          

42,219  
                     

-  
                     

-  
                     

-  
           

(9,643) 
                     

-  
                     

-  
                     

-  
          

32,577   

 
TOTAL  INFRASTRUCTURE, 
PROPERTY, PLANT & 
EQUIPMENT 

          
42,642  

                     
-  

                     
-  

                     
-  

           
(9,803) 

                     
-  

                     
-  

                     
-  

          
32,839  

 

 2009 Totals 
                     

-  
              

         
42,642   

 This Note continues on the following pages.          
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT 
SCHEME 

 
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2010 
 

Note 7 (cont) – INFRASTRUCTURE, PROPERTY, PLANT &  EQUIPMENT 

Valuation of Assets 

At 1 July 2004 upon the transition to AIFRS, Council elected pursuant to AASB 1.19 to retain 
a previously established deemed cost under GAAP as its deemed cost.  With subsequent 
additions at cost, this remains as the basis of recognition of non-material asset classes. 

 
Plant, Furniture & Equipment 

These assets are recognised on the cost basis.   
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2010 

 
Note 7 - LIABILITIES 

 
   2010  2009 

   $  $ 
 TRADE  &  OTHER  

PAYABLES 

Notes Current Non-current  Current Non-current 

 Goods & Services           378             142   

 Accrued expenses - employee 
entitlements 

       2,249               -         1,863               -  

         2,627               -         2,005               -  

 PROVISIONS       
 Employee entitlements (including 

oncosts) 

       7,963        2,592         4,009               -  

         7,963        2,592         4,009               -  
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2010 

 
Note 8 - RECONCILIATION TO CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

      

 (a)      Reconciliation of Cash     

      

Cash Assets comprise highly liquid investments with short periods to maturity subject to insignificant risk of changes of value.   
Cash at the end of the reporting period as shown in the Cash Flow Statement is reconciled to the related items in the Balance 
Sheet as follows: 

   2010  2009 

  Notes $  $ 

Total cash & equivalent assets 5        52,728          45,170  

Balances per Cash Flow Statement         52,728          45,170  

      
(b)  Reconciliation of Change in Net Assets 
to Cash  

    

            from Operating Activities     

Net Surplus (Deficit)          (9,413)         15,492  

Non-cash items in Income Statement     

Depreciation, amortisation & impairment              9,803             10,550  

Net increase (decrease) in unpaid  employee benefits              6,546                   781  

Net (Gain) Loss on Disposals                       -               1,556  

              6,936             28,379  

Add (Less): Changes in Net Current Assets     

Net increase (decrease) in trade & other payables                  622                   818  

Net Cash provided by (or used in) operations              7,558             29,197  
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 

            

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2010 
            

Note 9 - FUNCTIONS 
            

  INCOMES, EXPENSES AND ASSETS HAVE BEEN DIRECTLY ATTRIBUTED TO THE FOLLOWING FUNCTIONS & ACTIVITIES 

FUNCTION CATEGORY INCOME EXPENSES OPERATING 
SURPLUS 
(DEFICIT) 

GRANTS  
INCLUDED IN 

INCOME 

TOTAL ASSETS 
HELD (CURRENT & 

NON-CURRENT) 

 ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL 

 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Community Services    114,062      98,154     123,475      81,107       (9,413)      17,047      95,502      84,587       85,567       87,812  

           

TOTALS   114,062   98,154    123,475   81,107     (9,413)     17,047   95,502   84,587      85,567      87,812  

Excludes net gain (loss) on disposal or revaluation of assets, net gain (loss) from joint ventures & associated entities, amounts received specifically for 
new or upgraded assets and physical resources received free of charge. 

The activities relating to MMCTS functions are as follows: Community Services - Community Transport. 
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 

         

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2010 
         

Note 10 - FINANCIAL  INDICATORS 

         

   2010  2009  2008  
         
 These Financial Indicators have been calculated in accordance with Information Paper 9 - Local 

Government Financial Indicators prepared as part of the LGA Financial Sustainability Program for 
the Local Government Association of South Australia.  Detailed methods of calculation are set out 
in the SA Model Statements. 

         
 Operating Surplus  (9,413)  17,047   6,148   
 Being the operating surplus (deficit) before capital amounts.      
         
 Operating Surplus Ratio        

 Operating Surplus  N/A  N/A  N/A  

 Operating Surplus / (Deficit) as a percentage of rates income.  
         

 Net Financial Liabilities  (39,546)  (39,156)  (19,611)  

 Net Financial Liabilities are defined as total liabilities less financial assets (excluding equity 
accounted investments in MMCTS businesses). This ratio assesses the amount owed to others 
net of money owed to you.  

         

 Net Financial Liabilities Ratio        

 Net Financial Liabilities  -35%  -40%  -20%  

 Net Financial Liabilities as a percentage of total operating revenue. This ratio assesses the level of 
debt compared to income. 

         

 Interest Cover Ratio        

 Net Interest Expense  0.0%   0.0%   0.0%   

 Interest Expense less Investment Interest divided by total operating revenue. This ratio assesses 
how much income is used in paying interest on loans if applicable. 

         

 Asset Sustainability Ratio        

 Net Asset Renewals  0%  43%  41%  

 Depreciation Expense        

 Net asset renewals expenditure is defined as net capital expenditure on the renewal and 
replacement of existing assets, and excludes new capital expenditure on the acquisition of 
additional assets. This ratio assesses whether assets are being replaced at the rate they are 
wearing out. 

         

 Asset Consumption Ratio        
 Carrying value of depreciable assets  65%  84%  89%  
 Gross value of depreciable assets        
 Total carrying value of depreciable assets divided by total reported value of depreciable assets 

before accumulated depreciation. This ratio assesses the "as new" portion left of the assets. 
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 
     

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2010 
    

Note 11  - UNIFORM  PRESENTATION  OF  FINANCES 

  

 The following is a high level summary of both operating and capital investment activities of the MMCTS prepared on a 
simplified Uniform Presentation Framework basis.  All Councils in South Australia have agreed to summarise annual 
budgets and long-term financial plans on the same basis. The arrangements ensure that all Councils provide a common 
'core' of financial information, which enables meaningful comparisons of each Council's finances, by way of association 
all regional subsidiaries also are required to present the same format.    

       

  2010   2009  

  $   $  

       

 Income  114,062    98,154  

 less Expenses  123,475    81,107  

   (9,413)   17,047  

       
 less Net Outlays on Existing 

Assets 
     

 Capital Expenditure on renewal and 
replacement of Existing Assets 

-    24,325   

 less Depreciation, Amortisation and 
Impairment 

9,803    10,550   

 less Proceeds from Sale of Replaced 
Assets 

-    16,045   

   (9,803)   (2,270) 

       

 less Net Outlays on New and 
Upgraded Assets 

     

 Capital Expenditure on New and 
Upgraded Assets 
(including investment property & real estate 
developments) 

-    -   

 less Amounts received specifically for 
New and Upgraded Assets 

-    -   

 less Proceeds from Sale of Surplus 
Assets 
(including investment property and real estate 
developments) 

-    -   

   -    -  

       

 Net Lending / (Borrowing) for 
Financial Year 

 390    19,318  
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 
 

REGIONAL SUBSIDIARY 
 

STATEMENT BY MEMBERS OF THE BOARD 
 
 
 

The Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme (MMCTS) Board have determined that this 
general purpose financial report should be prepared in accordance with the accounting 
policies outlined in Note 1 to the financial statements. 
 
 
In the opinion of the Members of the Board: 
 
1. The financial statements and notes 
 

(a) comply with Accounting Standards and the Local Government Act 1999 and the 
Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations made under the Act; 
and 

 
(b) give a true and fair view of Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme’s 

financial position as at 30 June 2010 and its performance for the year then 
ended. 

 
 
2. There are reasonable grounds to believe that Murray Mallee Community Transport 

Scheme will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable. 
 
 
 
 
This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board and is signed for and on 
behalf of the Members of the Board by: 
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT 
SCHEME 

 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June  
 

 

CERTIFICATION OF AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE 
 
 
 

 
To the best of our knowledge and belief, we confirm that, for the purpose 
of the audit of the Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme 
(MMCTS) for the year ended 30 June 2010, the MMCTS’s Auditor, HLB 
Mann Judd, has maintained its independence in accordance with the 
requirements of the Local Government Act 1999 and the Local 
Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1999 made under that 
Act. 
   
This statement is prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
Regulation 16A(2) Local Government (Financial Management) 
Regulations 1999. 
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Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme 

 
2009-2010 Chairman’s Report 

 
 
 

Board Members, volunteers and visitors 
 
I have pleasure in presenting my Chairman’s report. 
 
On behalf of the Board Members I would like to thank all the volunteer drivers who 
keep the Scheme cars on the road, transporting the disadvantaged residents of the 
three Council areas to their appointments etc. The drivers have driven 39 041 km 
between 1 July 2009 and 30 June 2010. 510 client trips have taken place over this 
time and there are currently 799 clients on the Scheme database.  
 
I would to thank Coorong Council for their support by supplying us with their 
Finance Officer to do our financial details. Coorong, Karoonda-East Murray and 
Southern Mallee District Councils are to be commended for their continuing financial 
support which is much appreciated as the Scheme only receives donations from the 
clients. The majority of funding comes from the Passenger Transport Department 
(PTD) for which the Board is thankful because without this funding the Murray 
Mallee Community Transport Scheme could not continue. 
 
The sudden death of Ted Freak, the Coorong Council representative was a great loss 
to our board. It was sad to lose a valuable Board Member and friend. 
 
Janette and Geoff Dahlitz opened their home to the Board Members and volunteer 
drivers for a Volunteers Christmas Dinner. It was a great fun afternoon meeting the 
volunteer drivers. I would like to thank Janette and John for supplying us with the 
venue for this dinner. 
 
Lastly I would like to thank Helen and Anna for tremendous job they do. It is very 
pleasing to have such dedicated competent and helpful employees. The 
Management Board Members’ job is made so much easier when everything runs 
smoothly. It has been a pleasure having them contributing so much to the successful 
running of the Transport Scheme. 
 
 
Neville Pfeiffer 
Chairman 
Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme 
 



 



REGIONAL COORDINATORS REPORT 
MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 

Annual General Meeting, 9th September 2010 
 
It is with pleasure that I present my annual report for the Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme (MMCTS). There 
have been several changes during the past 12 months and it has been really pleasing to note that there has been little 
or no disruption to service delivery in that time.  
 
MMCTS data base of 804 clients has had a complete update, a process which happens every 12 months. We presently 
have two vehicles and access to vehicles in two locations in the Southern Mallee Council area. 

 
Volunteer Drivers 
MMCTS Accredited Volunteer Driver pool is now 19 with drivers located in the following areas - 

Tailem Bend 7 Pinnaroo 7 

Karoonda 1 Lameroo 2 

Wynarka 1 Geranium 1 

Even though some of our drivers migrate north during the cold months we have still managed to fulfil most of the client 
transport requests. Volunteers are getting harder to source and to retain which can at times have an impact on service 
provision in some areas. I was aiming to recruit in the Meningie area this year but have not been able to source a 
vehicle in this area which along with funding is another barrier that we constantly face. 
I would like to take this opportunity to sincerely thank our volunteers for their professionalism and dedication in which 
they undertake their role. The transport scheme would not be able to operate with the same level of efficiency as it does 
today without our volunteers and nor would the community be able to access the services that they do now.  
The following table is an overview of the driver hours and client trips for 1 July 2009 – 30 June 2010. 
The figures below are reflective of CPN vehicle usage only and do not include clients that have travelled on the medical 
bus during that time. 
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The figures are slightly lower than last year and we have concluded this may be due to the fact that a more  
Coordinated approach has been given to changing appointments on the client’s behalf to link them into the same trip 
and better utilization of other services within the regions that we cover. 
The figures in the first chart on page 2 reflect the distance per month that the vehicles have travelled from 1 July 2009 – 30  
June 2010. 
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Medical Bus Service 
In April 2010 Jim & Gayle Davis from Coonalpyn sold Coorong Coaches to Peter & Margaret Stone at Keith. Stone’s are 
commercial operators in the Tatiara District Council area. This also meant that the Medical Service contract transferred 
to Stone’s. Community members thought that they were going to loose the service as it was now under a different 
operator in another Council area. Clients have been assured that this is not the case and the service is still operating at 
the same level it always has been. 
Bookings for the medical service which are coordinated through MMCTS office have been reasonably steady with the 
main drop in transport being around and during the school holiday times and 4 weeks closure for the medical service 
and MMCTS 2 week closure in December & January (see chart below) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MMCTS staff and Management Board would like to sincerely thank Jim & Gayle Davis and their staff for the 
professional and friendly manner in which they operated Coorong Coaches which was very much client focused. 
The contract for the Medical Service is due for Tender later this year. 
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 

Annual General Meeting, 9th September 2010 
 

MMCTS achievements and involvement 
A small grant was received from Foundation for Rural & Regional Renewal. This money will be  
used to purchase equipment for client usage while travelling in the vehicle and to improve service provision. 
MMCTS staff have been involved in several activities and training during the past year some of which include -  

� CPN Coordinator State Conference held at Melrose on the 17th  & 18th  November  
� Health & Community Services Network event – White Ribbon Day – (awareness for violence against men) 

breakfast at Lameroo 23rd November  
� MMCTS Volunteer Driver Appreciation Luncheon held at Tailem Bend on 22nd  November  
� Responsible Officer training on 27th  January  
� Karoonda Farm Fair on 26th  & 27th  March  
� HACC Regional Forum held in Murray Bridge on 4th  May  
� LGWCS Injury Management training on 17th May 
� Coorong District Council Volunteer Dinner at Tintinara on 10th  May  
� Veteran Affairs information day held at Tailem Bend RSL on 4th  June  
� Murray Mallee Consumer Advisory Group – Mental Health Awareness day held at Tailem Bend on 25th  

June 
� CPN Coordinator State Conference held at Victor Harbor on 9th  & 10th  August 
� Health & Community Services Network event – ‘open your mind, services you find’ held at Pinnaroo on 2nd 

September (awareness of mental health and services available in the Mallee) 
  
 Sincere thanks to the following organisations for your support, encouragement, friendship and advice – 
  - MMCTS Chairperson, Neville Pfeiffer and MMCTS Management Board members 
  - Coorong District Council staff 
  - Southern Mallee District Council staff 
  - District Council of Karoonda East Murray 
  - Mallee Health Service staff and Outreach services 
  - Carers 
  - Tailem Bend Community House 
  - Clients of the Transport Scheme 
  - MMCTS volunteer drivers 
  - Aged Care services 
  - Information Centre volunteers 
  - Coorong Coaches 
  - Link SA 
  - DTEI - PTD 

 
     At the volunteer appreciation dinner held in November Helen Kozikowski       
     received a certificate of appreciation from Chairperson Neville Pfeiffer for her  
     involvement and contribution as a representative on the MMCTS   
     Management Board. 
   
    MMCTS will continue to strive for continuation and improvement of transport   
    services within the region. 
 
               Helen Luke 
             CPN Regional Coordinator 

                                                            Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme 
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